Isolation and Characterization of Novel Planctomycetes from Svarthammarhola Ice Cave with Potential for Production of Bioactive Molecules

Eirik Færøy Sæbø



Master's Thesis in Microbiology

Department of Biological Sciences

University of Bergen

June 1<sup>st</sup>, 2018

# Acknowledgements

This master's thesis was carried out in the period from January 2017 to June 2018 under the supervision of Professor Lise Øvreås, in the research group Marine Microbiology, a part of the Department of Biological Sciences at the University of Bergen.

First of all, I would like to thank you Lise for an amazing and exciting thesis, and the opportunity to work with these peculiar organisms. I very much appreciate all those times you have neglected the mountain on your desk, called your "to do list", just to help me with my struggles. I would also like to thank you for giving me the opportunity to present my work at the PVC conference in Porto, Portugal, and to accompany you at the research group meeting in Romania.

A big thank you to all the people at the lab that have helped me with all my strange inquiries and experiments. Especially Hilde Rief Armo and Julia Endresen Storesund, who have always been available for questions, tips and assistant during my lab work and the writing of this thesis.

Also, I would like to thank Professor Lars Herfindal and the rest of his research group for hosting me at your lab at the Center for Pharmacy, Department of Clinical Sciences at University of Bergen. You welcomed me into your group and assisted with my work. Especially in the beginning, when I did not know what an adherent cell was.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends, family and girlfriend for always supporting me and showing interest in my experiments and endeavours while writing this master's thesis. I could not have done this without you.

# Abstract

Planctomycetes represent a phylum of bacteria that possess peculiar characteristics. These include reproduction by budding, crateriform structures, rosette formation and an intricate cellular plan. They are considered important contributors in the global carbon and nitrogen cycle and have in recent years been proposed to have potential for various biotechnological applications. The Planctomycetes are ubiquitous bacteria, and has been reported in diverse and extreme environments, both terrestrial and aquatic. These extreme environments include cave ecosystems, as well as ice and glacier ecosystems. However, these reports have been based solely on molecular studies, and no Planctomycetes have been described in axenic culture from either cave or frozen environments. In this study the presence of Planctomycetes in perennial ice from the Svarthammarhola ice cave is elucidated. Drilled ice cores from the distinct layered ice mass were collected. Thawed ice was used as inoculum in enrichments for isolation of Planctomycetes strains. Isolated strains were then subjects for characterization, utilizing molecular and cultivation-based techniques. Four Planctomycetes strains were obtained in axenic culture, and all strains showed both morphological and physiological differences. Phylogenetic analyses of the strains' 16S rRNA gene revealed that 3 of the strains shared phylogenetic similarities of 99 and 98%, and their closest described species was 90% similar. The fourth strain was 88 and 87% similar towards the other strains, and displayed 90% similarity towards its closest described relative, thus the isolated strains represent two novel genera, within the phylum Planctomycetes.

To elucidate the strains' ability to produce bioactive molecules, two of the strains were screened against the two cancerous cell lines Molm13 and PC3, as well as the normal healthy rat kidney cell line, NRK. Aqueous and organic compounds were extracted from cell cultures and used to treat the cell lines for 72 hours. The cell lines were then investigated for apoptosis induced by the extracts. The screening revealed that the strains were able to produce compounds with intermediate cytotoxicity towards the human AML cell line Molm13. Thus, displaying that the strains might be able to produce bioactive molecules that provide advantages towards other organisms competing for resources in their indigenous environment.

# Table of Contents

1.	ntroduction	1
	1.1 Cave Systems	1
	1.1.1 Cave Formation	1
	1.1.2 Ice Caves	2
	1.1.3 Cave Glaciation	2
	1.1.4 Svarthammarhola Ice Cave	3
	1.2 Cave Microbiology	6
	1.2.1 History of Cave Microbiology	6
	1.2.2 Conditions for Microbial Life in Caves	6
	1.2.3 Microorganisms from Cold Environments	7
	1.2.4 Ice Cave Microbiology	9
	1.2.5 The Importance of Studying Ice Caves	9
	1.3 Planctomycetes	. 12
	1.3.1 Phylogeny	. 12
	1.3.2 Distribution in the Environment	. 14
	1.3.3 Physiology	. 14
	1.3.4 Cell Morphology	. 15
	1.3.5 Cell Division and Life Cycle	. 16
	1.3.6 Cell Plan	. 17
	1.3.7 Cell Wall	. 19
	1.4 The importance of Planctomycetal Studies	. 20
	1.4.1 Potential Producers of New Antibiotics	. 20
	1.4.2 Role in Ecosystems Exploited for Biotechnological Purposes	. 20
	1.4.3 Potential for Anticancer Activity	. 21
	1.4.4 An Understudied Division of Bacteria	. 21
2. /	Aims	. 23
3. 9	Sample Material	. 24
	3.1.1 Sample Collection	. 26
	3.1.2 Sample Processing	. 27
	3.1.3 Planctomycetes Presence in the Ice Mass	. 28
4.	Methods	. 30
4	4.1 Enrichment Media	. 30
4	4.2 Enrichment and Isolation	. 31
4	4.3 Characterization of Isolated Strains	. 32

4.3.2 Temperature Range and Optimum	32
4.3.3 Salinity Range and Optimum	
4.3.4 pH Range and Optimum	33
4.3.5 Utilization of Carbon Sources	34
4.3.6 Enzymatic Activity	35
4.3.7 Antibiotic Resistance and Sensitivity	35
4.4 Molecular Based Methods	
4.4.1 Polymerase Chain Reaction	
4.4.2 Purification of PCR Product and Preparation for Sequencing	
4.4.3 Phylogenetic Analysis	
4.4.4 Phylogenetic Tree	
4.5 Screening for Bioactive Molecules	39
4.5.1 Preparation of Planctomycetes Cultures	39
4.5.2 Preparation of Extracts for Cell Line Experiments	39
4.5.3 Preparation of Cell Lines for Screening	40
4.5.4 Cytotoxic Assays Using Planctomycetes Extracts	41
5. Results	43
5.1 Isolation of Strains	43
5.1.1 Enrichment Culture P2S	43
5.1.2 Enrichment Culture P6	44
5.1.3 Enrichment Culture P1a	45
5.1.4 Other Enrichment Cultures	45
5.2 Cell Morphology	46
5.2.1 Strain P1a	46
5.2.2 Strain P2S	
5.2.3 Strain P6.1	51
5.2.4 Strain P6.2	53
5.3 Physiological Characterization	55
5.3.1 Temperature Range and Optimum	55
5.3.2 Salinity Range and Optimum	57
5.3.3 pH Range and Optimum	58
5.4 Physiological Attributes	59
5.4.1 Utilization of Carbon Sources	59
5.4.2 Enzymatic Activity	60
5.4.3 Antibiotic Resistance and Sensitivity	62

	5.5 Phylogeny	. 64
	5.5.1 Alignment of the 4 Strains	. 64
	5.5.2 Closest Relatives	. 65
	5.5.3 Phylogenetic Tree	. 68
	5.6 Summary of Traits and Comparison to <i>R. obstinata</i>	. 70
	5.7 Screening for Bioactive Molecules	. 73
	5.6.1 Determination of Induced Apoptosis	. 73
	5.6.2 Cytotoxic Assays	. 74
6.	Discussion	. 76
	6.1 Isolation	. 77
	6.2 Morphology	. 78
	6.2.1 Strain P1a	. 78
	6.2.2 Strain P2S	. 79
	6.2.3 Strain P6.1	. 79
	6.2.4 Strain P6.2	. 80
	6.3 Physiological Characterization	. 80
	6.4 Physiological Attributes	. 82
	6.4.1 Utilization of Carbon sources	. 82
	6.4.2 Enzymatic Activity	. 82
	6.4.3 Antibiotic Resistance and Sensitivity	. 83
	6.5 Phylogeny	. 85
	6.6 Screening for Bioactive Molecules	. 86
6.	Conclusion	. 87
7.	Suggestions for Future Work	. 88
Su	pplementary Figures	. 89
Re	ferences	. 90
Aŗ	pendix I: Hutner's Basal Salts	106
Aŗ	pendix II: Vitamin Solution No. 6 – 10x Solution	107
Ap	pendix III: 16S rRNA Gene Sequences	108
Ap	pendix VII: Anticancer Activity in Planctomycetes	112

# 1. Introduction

# 1.1 Cave Systems

Caves can be defined as "any natural space below the surface that extends beyond the twilight zone, and that is accessible to humans" (Northup and Lavoie, 2001). Several different types of caves exist, and they are classified according to bedrock type and formation methods (Palmer, 1991). Caves formed in limestone and other calcareous rocks, and lava tubes in basaltic rocks are the most common type of caves (Northup and Lavoie, 2001). Other cave types such as gypsum, granite and ice also exist, but their distribution is more limited. There are many caves spread across the face of our planet, however only a few of these have been studied. In Europe and North America alone, it is estimated that only 50% of all caves have been explored. Considering the entire globe, only about 10% of all caves have been discovered (Lee et al. 2012), where only 350 have been described in detail (Onac and Forti, 2011). Caves represent a type of natural, rocky subsurface habitat that host some of the most exotic landscapes, minerals and mineral formations (White, 1988; Ford and Williams, 2007; Palmer, 2007), as well as microorganisms (Culver and Pipan, 2009).

# 1.1.1 Cave Formation

There are several types of caves, and their formation is usually caused by the dissolution of sedimentary rocks (Palmer, 2007; White and Culver, 2000). One type of cave is Karst caves, which are formed by the presence of soluble rocks, where systems of cracks and fissures are developed by aggressive water flow that dissolves the soluble rocks (Ford and Williams, 1989; Kruber, 1915; Sokolov, 1962; Thornbury, 1954). Another type is tectonic caves, these caves form as the bedrock shifts along cracks and faults in the Earth's crust, creating openings and fractures as the bedrock moves. There are also thermokarst caves, which forms in rocks containing ice (Kotlyakov, 1984). The cavity formation is caused by small amounts of ice that are frozen inside rocks and creates cracks and fissures. The shape of this ice is determining the shape of the cavity. There are also glacial caves, which can be formed inside the ice, firn, and the snow of glaciers or snowfields (Ezhov, 1990; Mavlyudov, 1992, 2006, 2018). Causes for the cave

formation are the same as for karst caves, except for the chemical dissolution of rocks, which in glacial cavities are caused by ice thermoerosion (Mavlyudov, 2018)

## 1.1.2 Ice Caves

Ice caves are caves hosting perennial ice accumulations and are considered the most enigmatic and least well-known part of the global cryosphere (Persoiu and Lauritzen, 2018). They occur in places were the combination of cave morphology and climate conditions make favourable habitats for the formation of ice and allows it to persist. Ice caves have proven to be sensitive to today's increasing global temperatures and climatic changes. In fact, many of present-day ice caves are threatened by these factors, which are jeopardizing their existence in the future (Kern and Persoiu, 2013). This is very unfortunate considering that they hold valuable information regarding historical climate variations, as well as possibly hosting valuable biodiversity (Persoiu and Lauritzen, 2018; Purcarea, 2018).

## 1.1.3 Cave Glaciation

For development of perennial ice inside a cave certain conditions from the outside climate and the cave climate must be fulfilled. It is necessary that the temperature outside the cave is below 0°C at least some part of the year. Inside the cave, the air and rocks must also have temperatures below 0°C. Ice can also form if there is a difference in temperature between the rock and the outside air, as well as when bedrock temperatures are above 0°C. Flow of external air can still cool the cave walls to freezing temperatures during winter months and force the formation of ice (Mavlyudov, 1989, 2008). The nature of the cavity determines the air circulation in the cave, as well as which zones of the cave remains cooled (Mavlyudov, 1994). It is in such cooling zones that the mean annual air temperature (MAAT) and the rock temperature are below 0°C, and lower than other areas of the cave. These zones are favourable areas for ice development. For the formation of ice to happen it is also necessary for the frozen cavity to be penetrated by water. Ice formation occurs when the heat brought in by the water is less than the cold reserve in the cave (Mavlyudov, 2018). The morphology, distribution, ice reserve and ice mass balance are defined by the amount of water entering the cave.

Most perennial ice hosting caves have a MAAT higher than 0°C, therefore certain requirements regarding climate must be met to either maintain ice, or for the formation of new or more ice in the cave. One requirement is that there is undercooling during winter months, the other, a mechanism for the preservation of negative temperatures during summer months. Undercooling can be achieved by conductive heat transfer, driven by temperature differences between the cave and the outside environment. The cooling of a cave can also be achieved by pressure fluctuations, gravitational settling, and by diphasic flow due to water circulation (Persiou, 2018).

#### 1.1.4 Svarthammarhola Ice Cave

Svarthammarhola (N67.13'E15.31' at 295 m a.s.l.) is an ice cave located near Fauske, north of the Arctic circle, in Norway. It is the largest ice cave in Fennoscandia and contains the largest cave chamber (300x90x40 m/lwh) in this region, possibly also in Northern Europe (Lauritzen et al., 2018). The cave has two major entrances (Figure 1.1), one situated at 245 m a.s.l and the other at 295 m a.s.l. It is described as a simple dynamic cave, with congelation ice accumulation and ablation near the lower entrance, driven by Balch-ventilation, with the availability of intruding water (Luetscher and Jeannin, 2004; Lauritzen et al., 2018). Near the lower entrance is a horizontal tunnel where the ice mass is situated (Figure 1.1). The ice mass has a horizontal surface which is 160 m long and 25 m wide, with an exposed flat surface of 3350 m<sup>2</sup>. Near the downstream end there is an 18 m high ablation wall into a lower gallery where the ice, penetrating the ablation wall (Lauritzen et al., 2018). From the lowest lobe in the western ablation wall to the top surface of the present ice the total maximum stratigraphic thickness of the ice mass is 27 m.



**Figure 1.1:** Svarthammarhola, plan. E: Major entrances. Red *dots*, data logger stations; ice block extents: *blue*, 2016 (Sampling site), 1970; *green*: oldest extent (of unknown age) as traved by cryogenic precipitates. Source: Lauritzen et al., 2018.

Over the past decades since the cave first was discovered in 1969, there has been some significant changes to the cave. The first cave survey lead by Heap (1970), reported on a much more extensive ice surface than present today (5450 m<sup>2</sup>) (Lauritzen et al., 2018). The large ice surface at the upstream end is the part that have been impacted the most. Especially during the 1980s when it disintegrated and transformed into an ice dammed lake, which disappeared completely (Lauritzen et al., 2018). In 1976, photographs were taken of the ice, these were used to compare the ice in 2016. It was revealed that the downstream ice was reduced with about 5 m and the upstream end close to 2 m (Lauritzen et al., 2018). Measurements from 2005 to 2011, combined with historical data, reveals that the ice surface has declined with an average rate of 0,11-0,15 m/year since 1975 (Lauritzen et al., 2018). In the oblation wall, organic matter like plant remains and sediments occurs at various levels in the ice mass. By using <sup>14</sup>C dating of plant fragments it has been revealed that the base of the ice mass can be dated back to AD 1365 ± 75, making the base of the ice mass <650 years old (Lauritzen et al., 2018). As previously mentioned Svarthammarhola is significantly affected by Balch-ventilation, with winds of up to 8 m/s (Baastad, 2006; Lauritzen et al., 2018). The wind direction depends on the difference in temperature between the cave and the surface. When the cave is warmer than the surface the wind moves in the cave's upward direction (chimney effect), when the cave is colder than the surface, the wind moves downwards. Between these two conditions, a significant oscillation is displayed by the wind (Baastad, 2006; Lauritzen et al., 2018). Based on ventilation the energy flux of the cave was calculated to be -421 GJ between 2005 and 2006 (Baastad, 2006), meaning that the cave consumed energy and that the ice mass was ablating (Lauritzen et al., 2018). Lauritzen and collaborates (2018) states that: "From the historical data, the ice mass appears to have ablated monotonically, and possibly at an increasing rate since the cave was discovered in 1969".

## 1.2 Cave Microbiology

#### 1.2.1 History of Cave Microbiology

There has been an increased interest in microbial communities from dark and frozen environments over the past decade. However, prior to 1997, only a few publications described the microbiology of caves, were most of these studies were based on microscopic descriptions of cultured bacteria (Faust, 1949; Caumartin, 1963; Brigmon et al., 1994; Rusterholtz and Mallory, 1994; Mikell et al., 1996). Between the 1900s to the 1940s there was an emphasis to whether saltpetre and carbonate speleothems was a microbial component to cave formation or of microbial origin as secondary nitrate deposits (Faust, 1949; Hess, 1900; Dudich, 1932; Høeg, 1949). From 1960s to early 1990s the focus of cave microbiology turned into the cultivation and linking microbial processes to mineralogical phenomena (Caumartin, 1963; Thrailkill, 1964; Smyk and Drzal, 1964; Went, 1969; Caumartin, 1968; Hubbard et al., 1986). Besides these main focuses microbial cave research has made efforts in describing metabolism related to food web structure and development of cave ecosystems. These earlier studies lead to the conclusion that microorganisms could not have an important role in most caves, and that they would typically be inactive or in low biomass due to nutrient limitations. It has also been emphasized that microorganisms in caves have identical or similar functions, to those in soil communities (Caumartin, 1963; Northup and Lavoie, 2001; Barton and Northup, 2007).

#### 1.2.2 Conditions for Microbial Life in Caves

Living in the subsurface differs in many ways from life on the surface. There are both advantages and disadvantages connected to subsurface microbial life. The organisms are living in the dark and cannot benefit from the sunlight energy. On the other hand, they are protected from the damaging effects caused by ultraviolet radiation, extreme weather conditions, desiccation and temperature fluctuations. The cave environment is relatively stable and represents a unique subset of the deep subsurface environment on Earth (Boston et al., 2001). All caves are different when it comes to biological, chemical and physical characteristics (Onac and Forti, 2011). Rock type and its physical and chemical properties, including the geological and hydrologic characteristics, are influencing the diversity of organisms found in cave systems (Engel, 2015). The trophic

structure is often less complex in caves than in other surface environments due to absence of light, stable temperatures and humidity, as well as low variations in nutrient sources (Ghosh et al. 2017). Although nutrients are limited in caves, diverse microorganisms have been reported (Cheeptham, 2013; Culver and Pipan, 2009).

Carbon and other nutrients are obtained by cave microorganisms primarily by two mechanisms. One being the conversion of inorganic carbon to organic carbon by photosynthesis or chemosynthesis performed by autotrophs. The other being heterotrophic assimilation of already existing organic carbon (Engel, 2015). Near the entrance there will be a possibility for photosynthesis, however, deeper and darker into the cave, the presence of photosynthetic autotrophs will diminish (Ghosh et al., 2017; Barton, 2015; Cheeptham, 2013). Microorganisms can be brought deep inside the cave by wind and water, as reported by Ogórek and collaborators, were fungal spores from the same species were found both deep inside and outside an ice cave in Slovakia (Ogórek et al., 2017). When brought deep into the cave by wind or water the microorganisms may not survive the conditions but can still be preserved and retain their genetic information (Engel, 2015). Some shallow cave systems can also provide allochthonous energy and nutrients by the penetration of the subsurface by plant roots. In this way, dissolved or particulate organic matter can be provided to the subsurface (Engel, 2015). Alterations in the method and the amount of surface materials supplied to the cave ecosystems can result in energy and nutrient limitations and can further lead to oligotrophic conditions in some caves (Poulson and Lavoie, 2000). Microorganisms are known to be at the energetic and nutritional base of the cave ecosystems. However, microbial diversity and the microorganisms' role in cave ecosystems have not been fully understood. Many types of caves have been discovered and studied worldwide, yet our knowledge about colonization, diversity and metabolic function is very limited (Lee et al., 2012).

#### 1.2.3 Microorganisms from Cold Environments

The Earth can be regarded a cold planet. Ocean covers 70% of the Earth and deep water with temperatures below 5°C makes up the majority of the ocean. In addition to this, large parts of the biosphere are periodically permanently frozen and as much as 24% of the exposed land surface of the Northern Hemisphere are permanently frozen

(Zhang et al., 2003). The microorganisms that live in these permanently cold environments are referred to as psychrophiles and their habitats vary from the deep ocean, the polar regions, glaciers, caves and to the upper atmosphere (Feller and Gerday, 2003; Feller, 2013)

Microorganisms found in these areas are cold adapted and considered psychrophilic, which means that they grow optimally in temperatures less than 15°C. Psychrotolerant organisms are organisms that survive at temperatures below 0°C but grow optimally at 20-25°C (Morita, 1975). Over the course of time these microorganisms have evolved several adaptive strategies to maintain their vital metabolic functions under such extreme conditions (D'amico et al., 2006). Life in cold and icy environments depends on several adapted traits to counter stress factors like low temperatures, pH fluctuation, high osmotic pressure and limited nutrient availability (D'amico et al., 2006; Margesin and Miteva, 2011; De Maayer et al., 2014). These factors will place physiochemical constraint on cellular functions by negatively influencing cell integrity, as well as water viscosity, solute diffusion rates, membrane fluidity, enzyme kinetics and macromolecular interactions (Rodrigues and Tiedje, 2008; Piette et al., 2011). This have led to the evolution of several adaptations on the cellular level, including production of cryoprotectants and antifreeze proteins such as glycine and betaine which lowers the cytoplasmic freezing point, protecting against ice crystal formation in the cytoplasm (Casanueva et al., 2010; Cowan, 2009). Some psychrophiles also produce antifreeze or ice binding proteins that bind to ice crystals accumulated in the cell and lowers their freezing point (Celik et al., 2013).

In the recent years, the main emphasis of microorganisms in cold environments has been on their mechanisms of adaptation, as well as their structural and functional diversity in these environments (Price, 2007; Priscu et al., 2007; Margesin and Miteva, 2011; Gunde-Cimerman et al., 2012). These frozen environments include polar ice sheets and glaciers (Miteva et al., 2004; Lanoil et al., 2009; Rehakova et al., 2010; Anesio and Laybourn-Parry, 2012), permafrost (Rivkina et al., 2004), mountain glacier forefields (Lapanje et al., 2012; Zumsteg et al., 2012), frozen lakes (Felip et al., 1995), sea ice (Deming, 2002), Arctic (Varin et al., 2010; Adams et al., 2014) and Antarctic permanent lake ice (Priscu et al., 1998; Dieser et al., 2010; Murray et al., 2012).

Antarctic volcanic ice caves on Mount Erebus has recently been studied, focusing on the microbial communities. The study revealed low bacterial diversity as well as low fungal diversity (Tebo et al., 2015).

#### 1.2.4 Ice Cave Microbiology

Ice caves are represented by unique and secluded icy habitats with light-deprived ecosystems of low nutrient content and constant low temperatures, that contrast to other parts of the Earth's cryosphere (Purcarea, 2018). The first report of microorganisms in an ice cave can be dated back to 1949, when Pop (1949) detected the presence of nitrifying bacterial communities in sediments in the Scărișoara ice cave in Romania. In 2003, Margesin and collaborates isolated the first bacterial strain from an ice cave in the Austrian alps (Margesin et al., 2003, 2004). Microbial research involving ice caves have since then been very limited, however, recently, the Scărișoara ice cave has been host of several recent studies on microbial communities. In 2013 Hillebrand-Voiculescu and co-workers did cultivation experiments on one-year old ice stalagmites in the cave, and reported cultured strains affiliating to the Pseudomonas, Bacillus and Paenibacillus genera. One year later the presence of bacterial and eukaryotic SSU rRNA were reported in samples collected from 1400 and 900-year-old ice block layers (Hillebrand-Voiculescu et al., 2014). Since then cultured characterization of cultured bacteria from sequential ice has been done using PCR-DGGE, finding bacterial amplicons belonging to Gammaproteobacteria, Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes and Actinobacteria, with varying distribution along the chronological ice layers (Itcuş et al., 2016).

#### 1.2.5 The Importance of Studying Ice Caves

The inaccessibility and the limited impact on human daily life and the environment, have led to a constrained interest in microbial cave research (Purcarea, 2018). However, this reduced interest has paradoxically lead to conserved microbial diversity in these caves. There is now a growing interest to revisit these habitats, much due to recent studies on potential drug discovery and antibiotic resistance of cave microorganisms (Pawlowski et al., 2016; Ghosh et al., 2017). Microorganisms found in caves have also displayed various enzymatic and antimicrobial activities, that contrast

to those observed in other extreme environments (Barton, 2006; Cheeptham, 2013; Lavoie, 2015; Man et al., 2015).

At the same time, frozen and cold environments have been proposed as habitats hosting microbial communities with potential for numerous biotechnological resources. Especially enzymes derived from cold-adapted prokaryotes is proving to be ideal tools for several biotechnological applications. This includes applications in many diverse industries like food and beverages, pharmaceuticals, detergents and biosurfactants, biofilm removal, personal care and cosmetics, molecular biology, diagnostics, therapeutics and is still spreading to new areas of the industry (Huston, 2008; Karan et al., 2012; Perfumo et al., 2018; Antranikian et al., 2004; Muller-Greven, et al., 2012; Awazu et al., 2011; Celik and Yetis, 2012; Fornbacke and Clarsund 2013; Barroca et al., 2017).

We are considered to live in a 'post antibiotic era' (Alanis, 2005) with an increasing number of reports of multi-resistant pathogenic bacteria, where few or no antibiotics are available (Wright, 2016). However, antibiotic resistance mechanisms predate our use of antibiotics, and is an ancient and naturally occurring phenomenon, widespread in the environment (D'Costa et al., 2011). Antibiotic resistance can occur through a variety of molecular mechanisms, including decreased drug permeability, active efflux, alteration or bypass of the drug target, antibiotic-modifying enzymes, and physiological states such as biofilm. These mechanisms are often classified as either mechanisms that have evolved specifically to detoxify specific antibiotics, or mechanisms that are intrinsic to specific bacteria that have the effect of resistance, but not targeted to an individual antibiotic (Wright, 2016). To minimize the development of antibiotic resistant pathogens, there is a need for both understanding the mechanisms behind the resistance and the discovery of new antibiotic compounds (Andersson, 2003). Today most antimicrobial compounds are derived from tropical and warm environments, therefore, compounds deriving from cold-adapted microorganisms are likely to be different from many of the classes of antimicrobials currently in use (Borchert et al., 2017). Hence, researchers turn to other environments, cold and dark environments. In the past decade several novel antimicrobials have been discovered in cold- adapted microorganisms, including synoxazolidinone A and B

(Tadesse et al., 2010), serraticin A (Sánchez et al., 2010), subtilomycin (Phelan et al., 2013) and lobophorin H and I (Pan et al., 2013).

Ice caves could host very interesting microbiomes from a biotechnological point of view, considering that ice caves represent dark, cold and preserved communities of microorganisms. Recently, ice caves were also recognized as a proxy for paleoclimate reconstruction (Persoiu and Onac, 2012), this means that studying the ice cave microbiome can lead to discovery of microbial biomarkers for climate variations (Purcarea, 2018). Very few microbiological studies have been performed on ice caves. Based on the biotechnological potential of microorganisms from cave ecosystems and cold environments, ice caves could be a good habitat for microorganisms possessing traits of biotechnological value.

#### 1.3 Planctomycetes

Planctomycetes are a division of peculiar bacteria within the PVC superphylum that also include Verrucomicrobia, Chlamydiae and Lentisphaerae, as well as the candidate phyla Poribacter (Wagner and Horn, 2006). Planctomycetes were at first described as eukaryotes (Gimesi, 1924), but was later acknowledged as bacteria (Hirsch, 1972), and were first isolated in pure culture by Staley (1973). Despite this, proposals have been made that Planctomycetes share some sort of evolutionary link with eukaryotes (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011; Forterre and Gribaldo, 2010; Devos and Reynaud, 2010). Much due to their intricate cellular plan and that their genomes encode proteins with high structural similarity to membrane coat proteins in eukaryotes, which no other bacteria or archaea do (Santarella-Mellwig et al., 2010).

#### 1.3.1 Phylogeny

Planctomycetes are known for having large genomes (Jeske et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2016), like *Roseimaritima ulvae* (8,130 MB) (Faria et al., 2017), *Singulisphaera acidiphila* (9,76 MB) (Kulichevskaya et al., 2008), and *Zavarzinella formosa* with a genome size of 9,86 MB (Kulichevskaya et al., 2009). The branching of the bacterial tree of life has been subject to much debate regarding Planctomycetes. Together with thermophiles, Planctomycetes has been proposed as some of the deepest branching bacteria (Stackebrandt et al., 1984; Brochier and Philippe, 2002). In recent years, Planctomycetes have been proposed to belong at the deepest branch among the phyla of the domain bacteria in the tree of life (Jun et al., 2010; Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011), as shown in Figure 1.2.



**Figure 1.2:** A tree of representatives of the domains Bacteria, Archaea and Eykarya, constructed by comparing feature frequency profiles of whole proteomes, and showing a deep-branching position for Planctomycetes relative to other bacterial phyla. The colouring of branches indicates 'supraclass' groups, which are defined by statistical support values of >82, except for in the Archaea, for which there are three clear clades according to this analysis. The numbers indicate the jack-knife monophyly index (%). Source: Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011.

Planctomycetes together with Verrucomicrobia and Chlamydiae (PVC) has consistently been recovered as a monophyletic group in trees, based on different phylogenetic estimation methods (Wagner and Horn, 2006; Pilhofer et al., 2008; Kamneva et al., 2010). The phylum of Planctomycetes branches into two different classes; Phycisphaerae and Planctomycetia. These further branches into 4 different orders, 6 families, 35 genera and 58 described species, where 18 of these have the status as *Candidatus* (NCBI Taxonomy Browser, retrieved 6.5.18).

#### 1.3.2 Distribution in the Environment

Since their first discovery, Planctomycetes have been observed in a wide range of terrestrial and aquatic habitats. These habitats include marine, hypersaline, hyperthermal, brackish and fresh water, as well as in many terrestrial environments including soils and acidic environments (Fuerst 1995; Neef et al., 1998; Schlesner, 1994; Lage and Bondoso, 2012). They have been found in biofilms on kelp and seaweed surface (Bengtsson and Øvreås, 2010; Fukanaga et al., 2009; Lage and Bondoso, 2011; Burke et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2016), and in association with several eukaryotic organisms like prawns, sponges and crabs (Fuerst et al., 1991, 1997; Pimentel-Elardo et al., 2003; Kohn et al., 2016). Planctomycetes have also been found in cave environments (Pašić et al., 2009; Borsodi et al., 2012; De Mandal et al., 2014), as well as in cold environments like glaciers, sea ice and on Mt. Erebus, Antarctica (Rysgaard and Glud, 2004; Zeng et al., 2013; Boetius et al., 2015; Tebo et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2016).

#### 1.3.3 Physiology

Most Planctomycetes are chemoheterotrophic aerobes, and are considered oligotrophs that grow slowly (Fuerst, 2017). There have also been reports of Planctomycetes isolated and cultured anaerobically with sulphur, that probably ferment carbohydrates (Elshahed et al., 2007). The majority of Planctomycetes described in axenic culture are mesophilic, however, thermophile species have also been reported (Giovannoni et al., 1987; Slobodkina et al., 2016). One of these species are *I. pallida*, isolated from a hot spring, and has a maximum growth temperature of 55°C (Giovannoni et al., 1987). Several acidophilic strains have been reported from acidic wetlands in Russia (Kulichevskaya et al., 2007, 2008; Dedysh and Kulichevskaya, 2013). Among these are *S. acidiphila* and *S. paludicola* which are capable of growth at pH as low as 4,2. There are several reports of Planctomycetes inhabiting marine microalgae, which have been used as both a source of inoculum for isolation, and as growth media (Bengtsson and Øvreås 2010; Lage and Bondoso, 2014). They are believed to have a central role in algal heteropolysaccharide degradation including exopolysaccharides produced by other bacteria (Fuerst, 2017).

Some Planctomycetes are anammox bacteria and possess the ability to oxidize ammonium anaerobically and autotrophically (Kartal et al., 2012; van Niftrik and Jetten, 2012). These Planctomycetes possess anammoxosomes, compartments where the ammonium oxidation takes place and has been called a 'bacterial mitochondrion' (Jogler, 2014; Neumann et al., 2014).

A much wider diversity of Planctomycetes have been recorded by molecular methods than recorded based on axenic cultures (Yilmaz et al., 2015). This suggests that a much wider physiological diversity may be explored and applied in the future (Fuerst, 2017).

#### 1.3.4 Cell Morphology

Members of the Planctomycetes division possess a number of morphological traits distinguishing them from other bacteria, such as non-prosthecate stalks, crateriform-like structures, budding reproduction and rosette formation (Fuerst, 1995). At the same time some species and strains display fimbria, fascicles and holdfast-structures (Fuerst, 1995).

Crateriform structures have been reported to be homogeneously distributed over the cell surface of Planctomycetes (Fuerst, 1995), and has an average opening of 35 nm, except around the neck where the budding happens (Santarella-Mellwig et al., 2013). Recently, nuclear pore-like structures have been found in *Gemmata obscuriglobus*. These pore-like structures were found to occur in internal membranes and are similar to the nuclear pores found in eukaryotes (Sagulenko et al., 2017).

Most Planctomycetes display a distinctive cell structure, where spherical, ovoid, ellipsoidal, tear-drop and pear-like shapes are the most common (Fuerst, 1995). Nonprosthecate stalks are observed in some species and are used as holdfast structures, either for the cells to adhere to a surface, or for cells to attach to one another and form rosette formations (Figure 1.3 a and b) (Fuerst, 1995). Some Planctomycetes also display flagella which are often sheathed and originating from a cellular pole (Fuerst, 1995).



**Figure 1.3:** Planctomycetes cell arrangement. A) Cells attach to one another *via* non-prosthecate stalks and form rosette formations. B) Rosette formation with cells attaching to the surface *via* their stalks. Figures have been made based on data from Fuerst, 1995.

## 1.3.5 Cell Division and Life Cycle

One of the hallmark traits of the Planctomycetes are that they reproduce by a budding process (Fuerst, 1995). Most Planctomycetes have budding reproduction from a reproductive pole, although there have been reports of budding occurring from the side of the cell (Christian Jogler, personal communication, May 10, 2017). Planctomycetes are thought to lack the FtsZ protein (Glöckner er al., 2003), which are considered an important protein for binary fission (Margolin, 2000). As opposed to division by binary fission, budding reproduction is a process where a small bud forms at one end of the mother cell. As the bud grows, the size of the mother cell remains the same, while the bud enlarges. When the bud reaches about the same size as the mother cell, the bud detaches (Tekniepe et al., 1981). A significant difference to reproduction by binary fission is that the mother cell often has different properties than the bud. This is represented in Figure 1.4, where the life cycle of a typical Planctomycetes cell is illustrated. A Pirellula-like, flagellated cell attaches to a surface before budding reproduction follows, producing a flagellated swarmer cell (Franzmann and Skerman, 1984; Tekniepe et al., 1981).



**Figure 1.4:** Generalized life-cycle for Planctomycetes. Mature swarmer cell fastens to surface by its holdfast-structure, followed by budding from a reproductive pole. The daughter cell matures and develops flagella, before budding is completed, and the daughter cell becomes swarmer cell. (Based on Fuerst, 1995; Franzmann and Skerman, 1984; Tekniepe et al. 1981).

In 2009, Lee and collaborates showed that the life cycle of Gemmata obscuriglobus is a complex process. The formation and development of the bud starts from a reproductive pole. As the bud grows, chromosomal nucleoid DNA is transported to the daughter cell. The transferred DNA is initially naked and not surrounded by a membrane. Eventually a complete nucleoid envelope is formed, consisting of two closely apposed membranes, deriving from the intracytoplasmic membranes of both the mother and daughter cell. Budding reproduction can be performed repeatedly by a single mother cell (Lee et al., 2009).

# 1.3.6 Cell Plan

Planctomycetes were thought to possess a compartmentalized cytosol, separated by an intracytoplasmic membrane that makes up the paryphoplasm and pirellulosome (Lindsay et al., 1997). However, this has been challenged by recent studies (Speth et al., 2012; Santarella-Mellwig et al., 2013; Boedeker et al., 2017). The planctomycetal cell plan is now thought to be of a more Gram-negative nature (Boedeker et al., 2017), than previously assumed (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011). Recent studies have shown that Planctomycetes possess a typically Gram-negative cell envelope with an outer membrane, a peptidoglycan layer and a cytoplasmic membrane (Jeske et al., 2015). Their cytoplasm is an enclosed compartment in its entirety that follows the outer shape of the cell with invaginations of enlarged periplasm (Figure 1.5), rather than being fully compartmentalized (Boedeker et al., 2017). The only exceptions are anammox Planctomycetes, which possess anammoxosomes (Jogler, 2014). The invaginations of the periplasm have shown to be interconnected, however, the occurrence of the invaginations vary from cell to cell, and species to species (Boedeker et al., 2017). In 2013, Santarella-Mellwig and collaborates showed that the Planctomycete *Gemmata obscuriglobus* are not compartmentalized as invaginations in the membrane are not closed, but rather interconnected on a three-dimensional basis (Santarella-Mellwig et al., 2013).



**Figure 1.5:** Overview of the planctomycetal cell plan. Showing tendency of massive invaginations. Crateriform structures, anammoxosome (only applicable for anammox Planctomycetes), enlarged peroplasm, outer membrane, peptidoglycan layer, cytoplasmic membrane, cytoplasm, ribosomes and fibrous structures. Source: Boedeker et al., 2017.

#### 1.3.7 Cell Wall

The planctomycetal cell wall have been of much debate over the past decades. Initially Planctomycetes was thought to have a proteinaceous cell wall (König et al., 1984; Liesack et al., 1986), as well as lacking peptidoglycan and the ability to synthesize the FtsZ protein essential for cell division (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011; Jogler et al., 2012; Pilhofer et al., 2008). Planctomycetes were also suggested to support endocytosis-like uptake of macromolecules into the paryphoplasma of the species Gemmata obscuriglobus (Santarella-Mellwig et al., 2010), which would be the first occurrence of a vesicle-based uptake system outside the eukaryotic domain (Lonhienne et al., 2010; Jermy, 2010). This supplemented to the link between Planctomycetes and eukaryotes. In 2006, Wagner and Horn described Planctomycetes as Gram-negative bacteria, although it has been pointed out that their cell plan differs from the classical Gramnegative cell plan (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011; Devos, 2014). In recent years, peptidoglycan has been found in several Planctomycetes even though the bacterial cell division protein FtsZ is absent (van Teeseling et al., 2015; Jeske et al., 2015), questioning the previous consensus. Other studies have shown that it is possible for bacterial cell division in the absence of the FtsZ protein (Leaver et al., 2009), and peptidoglycan has also been found in Chlamydiae, which also lacks the FtsZ protein (Pilhofer et al., 2013). Recent bioinformatic studies and chemical analysis has proposed a more Gram-negative cell plan (Speth et al., 2012; Mahat et al., 2015). In 2017 an extensive study by Boedeker and collaborates, utilizing both bioinformatic and microscopic techniques, supported a more typical Gram-negative cell plan for Planctomycetes than previously assumed (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011). Where they emphasize that a Gram-negative cell plan challenges the existence of an endocytosislike process (Boedeker et al., 2017). They point out that there still is a notable difference between the planctomycetal cell plan and a traditional Gram-negative one. Whereas most Gram-negative bacteria produce outer membrane vesicles (Schwechheimer and Kuehn, 2015), invaginations in their outer membrane and formation of periplasmic vesicles is stopped by its asymmetrical architecture and the peptidoglycan cell wall (van Teeseling et al., 2015; Jeske et al., 2015; Boedeker et al., 2017).

#### 1.4 The importance of Planctomycetal Studies

Planctomycetes have been proposed to possess several traits of biotechnological value (Fuerst, 2017). Much due to their large genome sizes, as well and their ecological role. From an evolutionary point of view, Planctomycetes are especially interesting because of their deep phylogenetic branching in the bacterial domain (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011).

#### 1.4.1 Potential Producers of New Antibiotics

We are entering an era were the need to find new 'natural' antibiotics to fight multidrug resistant pathogens is of the utmost importance. The discovery of new antibiotic compounds correlates to the phylogenetic distance between the microorganism under study and the known producers (Müller and Wink, 2014). This means that bacteria with a phylogenetically distinct lineage could be a good source for secondary metabolites and antibiotic compounds. The most potent antibiotic producers are also characterized by large genomes, often more than 8 MB, and complex life styles (Müller and Wink, 2014). Taking this into consideration, Planctomycetes could potentially be excellent producers of novel antibiotic compounds. Recent discoveries have proven that Planctomycetes are able to produce antibiotics and antifungal molecules and their potential in biotechnological applications have been shown through genome mining (Donadio et al., 2007; Jeske et al., 2013; Graça et al., 2016; Boedeker et al., 2017).

#### 1.4.2 Role in Ecosystems Exploited for Biotechnological Purposes

As previously mentioned, Planctomycetes are found in a wide range of environments, and are of clear environmental importance as they are known to play key roles in global carbon and nitrogen cycles (Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011; Kartal et al., 2013). This knowledge has led to exploitation of metabolic processes for biotechnological application. For example, the use of anammox Planctomycetes in wastewater treatment, where they anaerobically oxidize ammonium (Kartal et al., 2013). This has been utilized in large industrial scale bioreactors (van Niftrik and Jetten, 2012). Furthermore, the biotechnological application of planctomycetal enzymes such as sulfatases as biocatalysts has been demonstrated (Wallner et al., 2005). Also, Planctomycetes has been proposed as new models for cell complexity and activities,

and is considered a significant source for new lipids, enzymes, and for new types of waste remediation technology (Fuerst, 2017).

#### 1.4.3 Potential for Anticancer Activity

Cancer is expected to become the leading cause of death in near future (Heron and Anderson, 2016). With both an increasing and aging population, new challenges on society emerges, in respect to the need for novel therapeutics with less harmful sideeffects. The majority of new developed therapeutics are derived from natural compounds (Imhoff et al., 2011). Bacterial groups such as *Actinobacteria, Myxobacteria,* and *Cyanobacteria* are already well-known producers of bioactive secondary metabolites (Jeske et al., 2016). It is known that studying novel bacterial phyla can lead to the discovery of new bioactive compounds (Bredholt et al., 2008). Therefore, it seems reasonable that Planctomycetes could be a potential source of such compounds. In 2016, Jeske et al., showed that planctomycetal strains might be able to produce several secondary metabolites and postulated that Planctomycetes are an untapped source of novel bioactive molecules (Jeske et al., 2016). Planctomycetes have recently been proven to possess secondary metabolite genes and clusters that are related to pathways for production of various bioactive compounds, including antitumor compunds like epothilone (Graça et al., 2016).

#### 1.4.4 An Understudied Division of Bacteria

Despite their importance for environmental microbiology, biotechnology and cell biology, few planctomycetal strains has been obtained as axenic cultures. Thus, from a phylogenetic point of view the phylum is very undersampled, and only a few representatives are taxonomically characterized in detail (Ward, 2010; Fuerst and Sagulenko, 2011). As previously mentioned, Planctomycetes has been reported both in cave environments and in frozen environments (Pašić et al., 2009; Borsodi et al., 2012; De Mandal et al., 2014; Rysgaard and Glud, 2004; Zeng et al., 2013; Boetius et al., 2015; Tebo et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2016). However, these studies have been based on the structure of the microbial communities and not being designated Planctomycetes studies. No Planctomycetes has previously been obtained in culture from these environments and no planctomycetes have been reported from an ice cave. Cultured organisms can provide a substantial amount of information about their role in the

environment, as well as making it possible for *in vitro* studies addressing their potential as producers of bioactive molecules.

# 2. Aims

The aim for this thesis was elucidate the presence and success of Planctomycetes in glacier cave ecosystems at the Svarthammarhola Ice Cave in Norway. For this purpose, three hypotheses were evaluated in more detail:

- 1) Planctomycetes are indigenous members of the glacier cave microbiome
- 2) Planctomycetes are active and alive members of the glacier cave microbiome
- The production of secondary metabolites permits Planctomycetes to actively defend their habitats and resources towards other faster growing heterotrophic bacteria

# 3. Sample Material

The sample material used for this study was obtained from a glacier inside the cave Svarthammarhola (N67.13'E15.31' at 295 m a.s.l.) near Fauske, Norway (Figure 3.1). Samples were collected in October 2016 as a part of an expedition lead by Øvreås, Lauritzen and Purcarea affiliated to the Cavelce project (http://www.ibiol.ro/projecte/Cavice/trips.htm).

The cave has two entrances as indicated by arrows in Figure 3.1. Near the lower entrance (245 m a.s.l) in a horizontal tunnel, a large ice mass is found, represented by the blue area in Figure 3.1. The supposed flat surface of the ice is found to be 3350 m<sup>2</sup>, with a horizontal surface 160 m long and up to 25 m wide (Lauritzen et al., 2018). Samples for this study was gathered from this ice mass.



**Figure 3.1:** Svarthammarhola, plan. E: Major entrances. Red *dots*, data logger stations; ice block extents: *blue*, 2016 (Sampling site), 1970; *green*: oldest extent (of unknown age) as traved by cryogenic precipitates. Source: Lauritzen et al., 2018.

The ice mass was divided into 7 different layers and sample sites, based on prior knowledge about the stratification and dating of the ice (Lauritzen et al., 2018). In that

way the samples would represent a chrono sequence, ranging from oldest ice samples near the cave floor, and the youngest at the top of the ice mass (Figure 3.2).



**Figure 3.2:** Sampling site. Showing the foot of the ice mass and how the different layers in the ice was divided into sampling sites. Photo: Stein Erik Lauritzen.

Samples were named P1-7, whereas P1 was taken from the layer closest to the cave floor (Figure 3.2), thereby the oldest part of the ice. Sample P7 was taken from the layer closest to the top of the ice mass (youngest). An overview of the different elevations the samples were collected from, and the samples pH values are represented in Table 3.1

SAMPLE	ICE BLOCK ELEVATION (m)	ICE VOLUME (L)	рН
P1	0.45-0.63	5	8,92
P2	2.60 - 2.80	4	8,18
Р3	3.77 – 4.06	3	6,8
P4	6.40 - 6.70	3	6,78
P5	7.64 - 7.90	3	8,75
P6	9.03 - 9.30	3	6,57
P7	12	3	6,44

Table 3.1: Sampling details.

#### 3.1.1 Sample Collection

At the ice mass, samples were collected as ice cores. This was done by sterilizing the surface of the ice using a torch burner. Then, 10 cm of the surface ice was scraped off using an ice axe. The new surface was then sterilized by again using a torch burner. Ice cores were then drilled from the ice mass, using a modified power drill. The Power drill was modified with a hollow cylindrical drill bit, with an internal diameter of 17 mm and a length of 10 cm. In that way it was possible to retrieve the ice cores at the drill site. The equipment was sterilized using 100% ethanol and a flame between each sample being gathered. A flame sterilized spatula was used to remove the ice cores from the drill and directly into sterile plastic bottles. For each sample site 2 sterile plastic bottles were used (2 L and 1 L). The plastic bottles containing ice cores were kept in a cooling bag, were they would remain at temperatures below 0°C in the dark while they were transported to the lab at the University of Bergen. An average of 90 ice cores were collected from each sampling site.

At the lab, ice cores were thawed at 4°C in the dark. Upon thawing it was discovered that samples P2, P3 and P6 contained a lot of sediments and organic matter (Figure 3.3). Therefore, these samples were centrifuged, and the remaining pellets of sediments and soils was transferred to separate falcon tubes. Thus, dividing the samples into P2 and P2S, P3 and P3S, P6 and P6S whereas sample P2S, P3S and P6S contained the sediments. Also, sample P1 contained more sample material than the others, and was therefore split up into P1a and P1b.



**Figure 3.3:** Sample site P2. This sample site was at the right side of the glacier. The location of this sample site was decided as this covers the first dominant organic band located at position 2,71 m (indicated by arrow). Photo: Stein Erik Lauritzen.

Five mL of sample was set aside for enrichment and isolation experiments, whilst the rest of the samples were used for filtering with Millipore<sup>®</sup> Sterivex<sup>™</sup> filters (Sigma-Aldrich, Z359920), and then prepared for sequencing using Illumina 'MiSeq sequencing system'.

# 3.1.2 Sample Processing

Thawed samples were filtered through Millipore<sup>®</sup> Sterivex<sup>™</sup> filters with a pore size of 0,2 μm. This was done by attaching the filters to tubes connected to a MasterFlex pump (Cole-Parmer, Chicago, IL, USA), and pump the samples through the filters. When the filtration was complete, the filters were stored at -80°C until further DNA extraction.

DNA and RNA were extracted from the filters using the Allprep RNA/DNA extraction kit from Qiagen (catalogue no. 80204), following the manufacturer's instructions. For samples P2S, P3S and P6S, which contained soils and sediments, the Mo Bio Power Soil DNA isolation kit (catalogue no. 12888-100) was used, following the manufacturer's instructions.

Amplification of 16S rRNA gene for analysis of the microbial communities from the ice was done using the MiSeq v2 kit (Illumina Inc. CA, USA), with a two-PCR step approach. Finally, the samples were sent for sequencing analyses using the Illumina 'MiSeq sequencing system' (Illumina Inc. CA, USA) at the Norwegian High-throughput sequencing centre, Oslo (Norway).

## 3.1.3 Planctomycetes Presence in the Ice Mass

Sequencing of 16S rRNA obtained from thawed ice cores revealed that Planctomycetes was present in the ice (Figure 3.4). The highest abundance of Planctomycetes was found in samples P1a, P1b and P7, with approximately 10,5, 13 and 10,5% of the reads being of planctomycetal origin, respectively. The lowest abundances were found in samples P3 and P6, where approximately 2,1% of the reads was Planctomycetes. All samples were dominated by sequences belonging to the Planctomycetacia class, while Phycisphaerae was the second most represented class. The average of Planctomycetes reads in all samples were 6,4%. At the same time, the average for all the filtered samples (samples P1a-P7) was 6,6%, while the average for the samples containing soils (samples P2S, P3S and P6S) was 5,8%. This indicated a higher presence of Planctomycetes in the ice than in the organic layers.



**Figure 3.4:** Showing relative abundance (%) for Planctomycetes classes in the different samples from Svarthammarhola ice cave. The highest abundance was found in sample P1b, where ~13% of the total reads were Planctomycetes. The lowest abundance of Planctomycetes was found in samples P3 and P6 (~2,1%). The most abundant class of Planctomycetes in all samples were Planctomycetacia.
# 4. Methods

From the initial sample material from Svarthammarhola ice cave, enrichments were prepared in culture media. If Planctomycetes-like cells were to be observed in the enrichment cultures, efforts were made to obtain them in axenic cultures. For proper diphasic characterization of novel Planctomycetes strains a variety of molecular and experimental techniques were used. Also, isolated strains were subjects to be screened for bioactive molecules as a part of a project involving Planctomycetes' ability to produce bioactive molecules and induce apoptosis in cancerous cell lines.

#### 4.1 Enrichment Media

To stimulate growth of a broad range of Planctomycetes including terrestrial, marine and freshwater bacteria, M30 media containing 18% SW was prepared. M30 18% SW media is a modified version of M30 (Schlesner 1994), which is a common growth and isolation media used for Planctomycetes, where all the essential salts are provided. M30 18% SW media was prepared in two solutions, Solution 1 containing the liquid components, and Solution 2 containing the solid components. Solution 1 was prepared by adding the following (per litre) to a glass flask; 700 mL RO-water, 180 mL aged sea water, 20 mL Hutner's basal salts (Appendix I) (Cohen-Bazire et al. 1957), and 50 mL Tris buffer 0.1 M pH 7.5. The solution was then autoclaved. Solution 2 was prepared by dissolving 2 g/L N-acetyl-glucosamine, 200 mg/L ampicillin sodium salt, 10 mg/L Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> x 2H<sub>2</sub>O, and 1 mL/L Vitamine solution no. 6 10x sol. (Appendix II) (Staley 1968), in 50 mL RO-water. Solution 2 was filtered through a 0,2 µm filter and then added to the autoclaved Solution 1. M30 18% SW media was stored at 5°C in the dark

When preparing gelrite plates for cultivation the same procedure was followed as for the liquid media, only by adding 5 g/L Gelrite (Gellan Gum) to Solution 1 before autoclaving. Solution 2 was then added to the autoclaved solution 1 and mixed, before 20 mL was poured into petri dishes. M30 18% SW plates were made under sterile conditions. Plates were stored upside down in sealed plastic bags at 5°C in the dark.

### 4.2 Enrichment and Isolation

Liquid from the thawed ice cores were added to glass reagent tubes with caps, containing 5 mL of liquid M30 18% SW media. Samples were added in dilutions of 1:10 and 1:100, hence, 500 and 50  $\mu$ L of sample. Two parallels were prepared for each dilution, one kept at 10°C and one at room temperature in the dark. After inoculation the glass tubes were capped and wrapped with parafilm to prevent evaporation. The inoculations were carefully monitored by light microscopy (Leitz Wetzlar HM-LUX), looking for cells with Planctomycetes characteristics. When Planctomycetes-like cells were observed, 20, 30 and 50  $\mu$ L of the inoculum was plated onto M30 18% SW plates (gelrite) to obtain single colonies. The same incubation temperatures were used as previously. The plates were examined daily and colonies that appeared were studied by light microscopy. If colonies that showed Planctomycetes-like characteristics appeared, these were re-streaked on fresh plates to get pure single colonies of Planctomycetes. Isolated strains were obtained by repeated colony picking and streaking on new solid media.

#### 4.3 Characterization of Isolated Strains

To provide characterization of the strains' morphological and physiological attributes several experimental techniques were used.

#### 4.3.1 Morphological Analysis

The external morphology of the isolated strains was examined using a Leica DM750 (Leica microsystems) phase contrast light microscope and photographed with a Leica EC3 camera (Leica microsystems) mounted on the light microscope. Phase contrast 3 was used under a magnification of 100 x. Cell size was determined by measuring cells using the same light microscope with a Leica eyepiece HC PLAN 10x/20 BR.M (Leica microsystems).

Internal structures were investigated by examining ultrathin cross sections viewed in a Jeol JEM-1230 TEM microscope and photographed using a Gatan Multiscan camera. Sample preparation and transmission electron microscopy was carried out at the Molecular Imaging Center (Fuge, Norwegian Research Council), University of Bergen. All isolated strains were cultivated on M30 18% SW gelrite plates, incubated at room temperature for 12 days. Samples were prepared for ultrathin cross sectioning by chemical fixation using, 1,5 – 2% glutaraldehyde in 0,1 M Na-cacodylate buffer, then 1% osmium-tetroxide in 0,1 M Na-cacodulate buffer was added, before being embedded in Agar 100 Resin. Ultrathin cross sections were cut and collected on grids, before being stained with 1% uranyl-acetate and Reynolds lead-citrate. Samples were then loaded into the TEM (Jeol JEM-1230) and photographed (Gatan multiscan camera).

### 4.3.2 Temperature Range and Optimum

Temperature optimum and growth range were measured to get a better understanding of the different strains most preferred growth conditions. This was obtained by cultivating the isolated strains in M30 18% SW at 5°C, 10°C, 15°C, 20°C, 25°C, 30°C, 35°C and 40°C. Regular M30 18% SW was used as a blank. One hundred mL of cell culture were centrifuged in an Avanti<sup>®</sup> J-26 XP (Beckman Coulter, IN, USA) using JA-12 rotors, for 15min at 9500 x g. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet resuspended in 5 mL sterile dH<sub>2</sub>O. M30 18% SW was then added to washed and autoclaved glass reagent tubes in volumes of 4,4 mL. Three parallels were prepared for

each isolate at each temperature. Cell suspension were added to the reagent tubes so that the optical density (OD) of the inoculated tubes resembled that of 0,05 at 600nm, as proposed by Hall et al (2014), using a Spectronic 21 spectrophotometer (Milton Roy). The tubes were gently vortexed after the cell suspension was added. Uninoculated tubes with M30 18% SW were used as a blank and to calibrate the spectrophotometer. The tubes were kept in separate incubators at their respective temperatures with shaking at 120 rpm. The cultures' OD were measured once every day using the same spectrophotometer. The tubes were gently vortexed before measuring OD to ensure proper homogeneity. The length of incubation varied between the different temperatures, depending on the time before the OD started to decline and the cultures entering the death phase. Growth curves were plotted in Microsoft Excel. Growth rates were calculated using the formula described in Friedrich Widdel's Theory and Measurement of bacterial growth [Equation 1 (Widdel, 2007)].

$$\mu = \frac{\ln OD_2 - \ln OD_1}{t_2 - t_1} \quad (1)$$

Growth rate is represented in  $\mu$ , the last and the first point in the exponential phase is represented in OD<sub>1</sub> and OD<sub>2</sub> with their corresponding time points T<sub>1</sub> and T<sub>2</sub>. The data were then plotted in Microsoft Excell.

#### 4.3.3 Salinity Range and Optimum

Salinity range and optimum were tested to gain insights to which NaCl concentrations the strains found most favourable for growth. Isolated strains were cultivated in M30 media where aged seawater was substituted with NaCl concentrations of 0%, 0,1%, 0,5%, 1%, 1,5%, 2%, 2,5%, 3% and 3,5% (w/v), and incubated at 25°C, with shaking at 120 rpm. The same procedure was the used for preparation and measurements as in the procedure used when measuring temperature range. Measurements were done daily for 23 days. The data was plotted in Microsoft Excel and growth rates were calculated using Equation 1.

#### 4.3.4 pH Range and Optimum

pH range and optimum were tested to gain insights to which pH levels the strains found most favourable for growth. Isolated strains were cultivated in M30 18% SW modified using 1 M HCl and NaOH to adjust the pH. The pH of the media used ranged

from 5 to 9, with intervals of 0,5 measured by using a PHM210 Standard pH meter (Radiometer Analytical, CO, USA). The same procedure was then used for preparation and measurements as in the procedure used for measuring temperature range. Measurements were done daily for 23 days. The data was plotted in Microsoft Excel and growth rates were calculated using Equation 1.

#### 4.3.5 Utilization of Carbon Sources

The different strains were examined for which carbon sources they could utilize, this was done to elucidate the strains ecological role, as well as to characterize them in more detail. All strains were cultivated in M30 18% SW, were N-acetyl-glucosamine was substituted with different substrates. In the absence of N-acetyl-glucosamine, 0,1 g/L (NH<sub>4</sub>)SO<sub>4</sub> was added in order to supply nitrogen to the medium. The following substrates were added then (0,025% w/v): mannose, L-sorbose, D-raffinose, carboxymethyl cellulose, cellulose, D-arabinose, D-cellobiose, D-glucose, D-maltose, sucrose, D-fructose, D-galactose, L-rhamnose, chitin, D-mannitol and D-xylose. Media containing different carbon sources was pipetted into washed and autoclaved glass reagent tubes in volumes of 4,4 mL. One hundred mL of cell culture were centrifuged in an Avanti<sup>®</sup> J-26 XP (Beckman Coulter, IN, USA) using JA-12 rotors, for 15min at 9500 x g. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet resuspended in sterile 5 mL  $dH_2O$ . Cell suspension were added to the reagent tubes so that the OD of the inoculated tubes resembled that of 0,05 at 600nm as proposed by Hall et al., (2014) when performing growth experiments. The OD of the cultures were measured by using a Spectronic 21 spectrophotometer (Milton Roy). The tubes were then gently vortexed and incubated at 25°C with shaking at 120 r.p.m. Three parallels were prepared for each strain for all carbon sources. Uninoculated tubes with M30 18% SW with no carbon source were used as negative controls and to calibrate the spectrophotometer. When evaluating growth in the tubes a Spectronic 21 spectrophotometer (Milton Roy) was used to measure OD. Growth measurements were performed every second day until day 8, and then on day 11, 14, 16 and 18. Measurements were plotted in Microsoft Excel.

#### 4.3.6 Enzymatic Activity

The enzymatic activities of the isolated strains were analysed using API ZYM (bioMérieux, France) to gain insights to which enzymes the strains possess. API ZYM is a method developed for the study of enzymatic activities and are based on strips containing cupules with different substrates added. The different substrates allow for different enzymatic reactions to take place. Enzymatic activities are revealed in the strips by coloured reactions when reagents are added.

One hundred mL of cell culture grown in M30 18% SW was centrifuged at 9500 x g for 15min in an Avanti<sup>®</sup> J-26 XP (Beckman Coulter, IN, USA) using JA-12 rotors. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet resuspended in 5 mL dH<sub>2</sub>O to a turbidity of 5-6 McFarland (McFarland J, 1907) as described in the manufacturer's instructions. The wells in the incubation box were filled with MilliQ water to supply a humid atmosphere before the API ZYM strip were placed in the box. Further, 65 µL of cell suspension were pipetted into each cupule in 3 parallel strips and incubated at 25°C for 6 hours. After incubation, each cupule was added 1 drop of reagent ZYM A and ZYM B (bioMérieux, France). After 5 minutes the strips were placed under light and the strips were scored according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 4.3.7 Antibiotic Resistance and Sensitivity

All isolated strains were tested for antibiotic resistance and sensitivity. Colonies were picked from M30 18% SW plates and prepared in a suspension with dH<sub>2</sub>O to an inoculum density of 0,5 McFarland (McFarland J, 1907) as proposed in the manufacturer's instructions (Oxoid). Then, 50  $\mu$ L of the inoculum was plated onto 25 mL M30 18% SW gelrite plates using a sterile glass rod to disperse the inoculum. One antibiotics disc was placed in the middle of each plate. The different antibiotics discs used was: ampicillin (10  $\mu$ g), chloramphenicol (10  $\mu$ g), kanamycin (30  $\mu$ g), streptomycin (10  $\mu$ g), penicillin G (10  $\mu$ g), trimethoprim (2,5  $\mu$ g), ofloxacin (5  $\mu$ g), erythromycin (10  $\mu$ g), vancomycin (5  $\mu$ g), nalidixic acid (30  $\mu$ g) and tetracycline (10  $\mu$ g) (Oxoid Microbiology Products, Thermo Scientific). Plates were incubated at room temperature in the dark and inhibition zones were measured after 12 days of incubation.

# 4.4 Molecular Based Methods

The small subunit (SSU) ribosomal 16S rRNA gene is the most commonly used phylogenetic marker for microbial diversity studies (Rosello-Mora and Amann, 2001). The gene is highly conserved across the three domains and is the most commonly used evolutionary chronometer in microbial studies. The use of 16S rRNA gene allows for identification of the organism, which 16S rRNA gene is being studied, as well as evolutionary and phylogenetic comparison based on differences and changes in the 16S rRNA gene (Rosello-Mora and Amann, 2001).

# 4.4.1 Polymerase Chain Reaction

In order to gain insight to the phylogenetic relationships of the isolated strains, they were prepared for 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Colonies that showed Planctomyceteslike characteristics was transferred to PCR-tubes containing 10 µL PCR-water by using autoclaved toothpicks. The tubes were then kept on an 80°C heat block for 2 minutes and then on ice for 2 minutes. This was repeated two times in order to achieve proper cell lysis. The lysed cells were further used as template in the preparation of PCR product using Planctomycetes specific forward primers. One µL template were added to a mastermix containing the following reagents; 10 µL HotStarTaq DNA polymerase, 0,5µl BSA 100%, 6,5µl PCR water, 1 µL Pla46f 10µM primer (sequence 5' – 3', GGATTAGGCATGCAAGTC) (Neef et al., 1998) and 1 µL H1542r 10µM primer (sequence 5' – 3', AAGGAGGTGATCCAGCCGCA) (Pantos et al., 2003) per sample. PCR program for the samples were then run on a Veriti<sup>™</sup> 96 well thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA), and is described in Table 4.1.

Step	°C	Minutes
1.	95	15:00
2.*	95	00:45
3.*	60	00:45
4.*	72	01:00
5.	72	10:00
6.	4	∞

Table 4.1: PCR program for	<sup>-</sup> HotStarTaq DNA polymeras	se with Planctomycetes	s specific primers.
----------------------------	---------------------------------------	------------------------	---------------------

\*Steps 2 to 4 were repeated 30x.

The expected PCR product should be around 1500 bp long. PCR products were visualized on a 1.5% agarose gel in Tris-acetate-EDTA. For DNA staining, 2 µL GelRed<sup>™</sup> (10000x in H<sub>2</sub>O. Biotium) was added to the gel. One µL GeneRuler 1kb DNA ladder (Thermo Scientific) was used as ladder, and 3 µL PCR product mixed with 6x loading dye was loaded into the wells. The gel was run at 150 V for 40 minutes in gel electrophorese, allowing the bands to separate properly. DNA fragments in the gel were visualized by using Bio-Rad ChemiDoc<sup>™</sup> XRS+ (Bio-Rad, CA, USA) gel dock and compared to a GeneRuler 1kb ladder. If the samples showed clear amplicon they were selected for further purification of PCR product.

# 4.4.2 Purification of PCR Product and Preparation for Sequencing

PCR products were purified to ensure proper and clean DNA using Illustra<sup>™</sup> ExoProStar<sup>™</sup>. Five µL of PCR product was aliquoted into PCR tubes and added 2 µL ExoProStar. PCR program for purification of PCR products with Illustra ExoProStar were run on a Veriti<sup>™</sup> 96 well thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) for 15 minutes at 37°C, followed by 15 minutes at 80°C.

Purified PCR products were then prepared for sequencing with BigDye 3.1. For each sample, 1  $\mu$ L BigDye 3.1, 1  $\mu$ L sequencing buffer, 3,2  $\mu$ L primer (1  $\mu$ M), 5  $\mu$ L dH<sub>2</sub>O and 2  $\mu$ L purified PCR product was added. The PCR program used for sequencing preparation is described in Table 4.2.

Step	°C	Minutes
1.	96	05:00
2.*	96	00:10
3.*	50	00:05
4.*	60	04:00
5.	4	∞

Table 4.2: PCR program for sequence preparation for BigDye 3.1 sequencing

\*Steps 2 to 4 were repeated 25x.

The samples were then brought to the Sequencing Facility at the University of Bergen (<u>http://www.uib.no/en/seqlab</u>) for SANGER sequencing using a JANUS Automated Workstation, PerkinElmer & 3730xl DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems).

### 4.4.3 Phylogenetic Analysis

In order to investigate and compare the different strains similarities in the 16S rRNA gene, the sequences from the different strains were aligned and compared. Corresponding sequences (primers Pla46f and H1542r) were aligned and combined into a single contig using BioEdit v7.0.5.3 (Hall 1999) and MEGA v7.0.26 (Kumar et al., 2015). Alignment of the sequences were done using the ClustalW function in the BioEdit software (Hall, 1999; Hall 2007).

Merged sequences of 16S rDNA of isolated strains were analysed using the Nucleotide BLAST function available in BLAST (<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>), to find the closest matching 16S rDNA sequences. The Nucleotide BLAST function was also used to compare different strains' 16S rRNA gene sequences for identities.

# 4.4.4 Phylogenetic Tree

A phylogenetic tree was made to compare and visualize the phylogenetic relationships of the strains and other sequences of planctomycetal descendance. The tree was built using MEGA v7.0.26 (Kumar et al., 2015). Sequences for isolated strains were aligned with their 3 most identical hits from BlastN as well as selected Planctomycetes species using the BioEdit software (Hall, 1999; Hall, 2007). This was done by using the ClustalW function (Thompson et al., 1994). The alignment was then proceeded to MEGA v7.0.26 and a maximum-likelihood tree was built with Tamura-Nei model (Tamura and Nei, 1993). The robustness of the tree was weighed using 100 bootstrap replications.

### 4.5 Screening for Bioactive Molecules

Two of the isolated strains from Svarthammarhola ice cave was used in a screening for bioactive molecules. This was done as a part of a conjoined project between the University of Bergen and the University of Porto, where the experiments took place at the Centre for Pharmacy, Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen. In this project extracts from different strains of Planctomycetes from various habitats and environments, were examined for their ability to induce apoptosis in cancerous cell lines.

#### 4.5.1 Preparation of Planctomycetes Cultures

The two strains were cultured for 7 days in 250 mL M30 18% SW at 25°C in a shaking incubator at 120 rpm. The cultures were then centrifuged at 10 000 x g for 15 minutes at 10°C using an Avanti<sup>®</sup> J-26 XP (Beckman Coulter, IN, USA) fitted with a JA12 rotor. The supernatant was discarded before the pellets were resuspended in sterile dH<sub>2</sub>O, then centrifuged again. This was repeated twice. The pellets were freeze-dried in an Edwards Modulyo (IMA Life, Italy) for 18 h with a pressure of approximately 4 x 10<sup>-2</sup> atm and a temperature below -40°C. The freeze-dried pellets were weighed and stored at -20° until further processing.

#### 4.5.2 Preparation of Extracts for Cell Line Experiments

While being kept on ice, 6 mL of methanol: MiliQ water: chloroform (1:1:1) were added to each freeze-dried pellet in falcon tubes. First chloroform, then MiliQ and methanol mixed together. One falcon tube without any biomass was also added the mixture, to be used as an extraction control. The contents were then sonicated at 20 000 rpm in two cycles of 30 seconds to ensure homogenization, using a Tempest Virtishear I.Q sonicator (Virtis, Gardiner NY) fitted with a 10 mm rotor. The samples were cooled on ice in between each cycle. After proper homogenization, the samples were left to extract for 1 h at 4°C, including agitation after 30 minutes. The tubes were then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 30 minutes, in that way allowing the samples to separate into the organic and the aqueous phases. The bottom phase (Organic) and the top phase (Aqueous) was carefully removed by pipetting and transferred to different Eppendorf tubes. The remaining contents were then centrifuged again at 10 000 rpm for 15 minutes, for further separation of the phases, before being

transferred to the rest of the extracts. All the extracts were evaporated to dryness in a vacuumed centrifuge (Eppendorf concentrator plus, Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). The evaporated extracts were then added 25 μL DMO for each 10 mg of initial freeze-dried biomass. For the aqueous extracts 75 μL of MilliQ water was also added per 10 mg of initial biomass.

#### 4.5.3 Preparation of Cell Lines for Screening

The extracts were tested for their ability to induce apoptosis in 3 different cell lines. One being the normal epithelial rat kidney cell line NRK (ATCC no: CRL-6509), which would work as a control cell line for healthy normal cells as opposed to the two other cell lines. The two other cell lines were the human AML cell line Molm13 (Matsuo et al. 1997, Quentmeier et al. 2003) and the human prostate cancer cell line PC3 (ATCC no: CRL-1435). Molm13 cells were cultured in RPMI medium (Sigma R5886), added 10% (w/v) fetal calf serum (Sigma F7524) and 0,2 mM L-glutamine added 50 IU/mL penicillin and 0,1 mg/mL streptomycin. Culturing density was about  $8 - 80 \times 10^4$ cells/mL and adjusted by adding fresh medium. NRK and PC3 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM – Sigma D-6429), added 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum (Sigma F7524) and 0,2 mM L-glutamine added 50 IU/mL penicillin and 0,1 mg/mL streptomycin. NRK and PC3 cells are adherent cells, and at 90% confluence, the cells were detached by mild trypsin treatment. This was done by discarding of the existing medium, leaving only attached cells, before washing the cells two times with 5 mL PBS. The cells were then added 2 mL PBS and 6 mL trypsin. The cells were then left in the incubator at 37°C for 5 minutes. The detached cells were then resuspended carefully in 6 mL of fresh medium, before being transferred to a 15 mL Corning tube. The tube was then centrifuged at 150 x g and the supernatant discarded, before being reseeded in fresh medium with supplements at 40 – 50% confluence. All the cell lines were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. All media, serum, supplements and reagents were from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA.

#### 4.5.4 Cytotoxic Assays Using Planctomycetes Extracts

In 96-well plates, 100  $\mu$ L cell suspension containing 6000 cells of NRK or PC3 cell line were added to each well, 24 h prior to the addition of the extracts. In that way, the adherent cells could attach to the substratum. After 24 h the medium was discarded carefully by pipetting, before adding 99  $\mu$ L of fresh medium to the wells for organic extracts and 96  $\mu$ L fresh media to the wells for aqueous extracts. At the same time suspensions containing 8 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL of Molm13 cell line was added to 96-well plates. This was done in volumes of 99  $\mu$ L in wells for organic extract treatment, and 96  $\mu$ L in wells for aqueous extracts. For all the cell lines 1  $\mu$ L of the organic extracts and 4  $\mu$ L of the aqueous extracts were added respectively, to 99  $\mu$ L and 96  $\mu$ L of cell culture. DMSO was used as a solvent control in the same volumes as in the extracts. A negative control of 100  $\mu$ L cell culture was also prepared for each cell line. The spaces between the wells were then filled with sterile dH<sub>2</sub>O to avoid evaporation in the wells. There were 3 parallels for each extract treatment prepared for the NRK and PC3 cell lines and 4 parallels for the Molm13 cell line. All parallels were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 72 h.

The viability of the cells was first monitored using the WST-1 assay metabolic assay (Roche diagnostics, Catalogue number 11644807001, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. Each well containing cells and extracts was added 10  $\mu$ L of the WST-1 reagent, that was previously heated to 37°C. All plates were then placed back into the incubator for 2 h. After incubation, the plates were examined using a multiwell plate reader with an absorbance of 450 nm and a reference set to 620 nm.

After WST-1 assays were performed, the wells were added 100 µL fixator, containing 2% buffered formaldehyde (pH 7,4) added 0,01 mg/L of the DNA-specific fluorescent dye, Hoechst 33342. The plates were then left at room temperature for 1 h in the dark. Each well in the 96-well plates were then examined using a Nikon Diaphot 300 fluorescent microscope fitted with a 40x Flu-Phase contrast lens and a DS-Fi3 camera, as described by Prestegard et al (2009). The morphology and the nuclei of the cells were of special interest, were a condensed nucleus with strong fluorescence would represent an apoptotic cell. Three hundred cells from each well were counted and used to determine cell death. To calculate an apoptosis percentage in each well, the

negative control was taken into consideration. Equation 2 was used to calculate the apoptosis percentage with respect to those cells that could have died by natural causes.

$$x - \left(y\left(\frac{100 - x}{100 - y}\right)\right) \quad (2)$$

Were x being the counted number of apoptotic cells out of 100 cells and y is the counted number of apoptotic cells per 100 cells in the negative control.

# 5. Results

As described in Sample Material (section 3), the ice mass in Svarthammarhola was revealed to host Planctomycetes. Samples P1a, P1b and P7 displayed the highest abundance of Planctomycetes, while samples P3 and P6 had the lowest abundance (Figure 3.4).

Isolated strains from initial sample enrichments were subject to diphasic characterization utilizing both molecular and experimental methods. As well as being screened for bioactive molecules by treatment of cancerous cell lines with extracts from the strains.

# 5.1 Isolation of Strains

All enrichments were thoroughly examined by phase contrast light microscopy, searching for cells with Planctomycetes characteristics, like budding reproduction and rosette formation. Several potential isolates were targeted but failed to be isolated and characterized. At the end 4 different isolates were obtained from 3 different enrichment cultures inoculated with liquid from the thawed ice cores.

# 5.1.1 Enrichment Culture P2S

Strain P2S was isolated from sediments and soils from sample P2 inoculated in M30 18% SW. After 20 days of enrichment, planctomycetes-like cells were observed in enrichment culture P2S, 1:10 dilution, incubated at room temperature. In this inoculation yeast like cells were also observed. After the initial enrichment, culture was plated on M30 18% SW plates, and pale pink colonies appeared. By inspecting these colonies by phase contrast light microscopy, they seemed to contain both Planctomycetes-like cells and cells resembling eukaryotic yeast cells, as shown in Figure 5.1. The Planctomycetes-like cells showed signs of budding and rosette formation (Figure 5.1). Sequencing using Planctomycetes specific forward primer (Pla46) for the 16S rRNA gene of the colonies confirmed that it was indeed cells of planctomycetal origin. The colonies were re-streaked onto new fresh media until the colonies were pure and separated from the yeast-like cells. When the strain appeared in pure culture and no yeast-like cells were to be observed, the colour of the colonies

seemed more white and pale than previously, as well as having a creamier consistency. The strain was named after the sample origin, thus, naming it strain P2S.



**Figure 5.1:** Showing phase contrast light microscopy images of Planctomycetes-like cells, as well as eukaryotic yeast-like cells from enrichment culture P2S, plated on M30 18% SW plates. A) Arrow indicating rosette formation in Planctomycetes-like cells. B) Arrow indicating Planctomycetes-like cells expressing budding reproduction.

# 5.1.2 Enrichment Culture P6

After 23 days of enrichment planctomycetal-like cells were observed in 2 of the parallels of enrichment P6, in both parallels kept at 10°C, 1:10 dilution, and at room temperature, 1:10 dilution. There were only few cells in each parallel, but those observed showed clear signs of rosette formation and the cells displayed the characteristic Planctomycetes ovoid cell shape. Enrichments were plated onto fresh M30 18% SW plates and pinkish red colonies appeared on the plates from both parallels after 10 days. Sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene revealed that both isolates were affiliated with Planctomycetes. Colonies were re-streaked until pure strains were obtained. The strains isolated from sample P6 kept on 10°C was named P6.2. Strain P6.1, and the strain isolated from sample P6 kept on 10°C was named P6.2. Strain P6.2 formed very dense colonies appearing to resemble that of a biofilm when observed with phase contrast microscopy, whilst strain P6.1 formed smaller aggregates of cells which were not as dense as recorded for strain P6.2. On M30 18% SW plates strain P6.2 formed large rubber-like colonies with a clear red colour, that were hard to pull apart, whereas P6.1 formed smaller colonies with a pink colour.

#### 5.1.3 Enrichment Culture P1a

Planctomycetes-like cells appeared in enrichment culture P1a kept at room temperature, in the 1:100 dilution, after 173 days incubation. The enrichment was clearly dominated by cells with Planctomycetes characteristics showing clear ovoidshaped cells and signs of budding reproduction, as well as rosette formations. Enrichments were plated on fresh M30 18% SW plates and 16S rRNA gene sequencing of the colonies showed that the colonies were of planctomycetal origin. Colonies were re-streaked on fresh media until pure, and named after the sample of origin, thus strain P1a. The strain formed pale grey-white colonies with creamy consistency on plates.

# 5.1.4 Other Enrichment Cultures

Other enrichment cultures also seemed to contain cells with Planctomycetes characteristics. These include enrichment culture P3 kept at room temperature, dilutions 1:10 and 1:100, and enrichment culture P2 kept at room temperature, dilution 1:100. However, when these were plated onto fresh plates of M30 18% SW, no colonies appeared in the gelrite plates. Plating onto new fresh plates were tried repeatedly, however no colonies appeared. Therefore, no further attention was given to these enrichment cultures.

# 5.2 Cell Morphology

Both internal and external cell morphology and structure was examined for all 4 strains. Examination was done both by phase contrast light microscope and by transmission electron microscope.

# 5.2.1 Strain P1a

When in pure culture, colonies on solid media of strain P1a appeared grey-white in colour with a creamy consistency. In liquid media the strain appeared as a homogenized cell suspension, however when entering the stationary phase of culture growth, the cells tended to aggregate into flakes that appeared grey-white in colour and was suspended in the culture.

When studied under by phase contrast light microscopy cells of strain P1a appeared to group together in large cell aggregates and consortia, in rosette formations or as singular swarmer cells, as shown in Figure 5.2a. Cells of strain P1a are spherical to ovoid in shape and exhibit budding reproduction, however it is unclear whether budding happens from a reproductive pole (Figure 5.4b). The cell size ranged from 0,7 - 1,2  $\mu$ m x 0,7 - 0,9  $\mu$ m and the average size of the cells was calculated to be 1,0 x 0,8  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 5.2:** Phase contrast light microscope images of strain P1a. A) Showing cell aggregates (A) and cells arranged in rosette formation (R). bar 10  $\mu$ m. B) Showing budding cell (B), budding does not seem to happen from a reproductive pole. bar 5  $\mu$ m.

Ultrathin cross sections of the strain studied by transmission electron microscopy

showed that strain P1a had cells arranged in rosette formations (Figure 5.3a).

Furthermore, cells showed signs of budding, however, this did not seem to happen from a reproductive pole (Figure 5.3b). TEM analyses showed that budding occurred from the side of the cell, rather than from one of the poles. The daughter cell seemed to already have genetic material transferred. Strain P1a displayed large invaginations of the periplasm (Figure 5.3c), and the invagination seemed to be surrounded by a membrane. Fibrous structures were also observed in strain P1a (Figure 5.3d), as well as large crateriform structures.





**Figure 5.3:** Transmission electron micrographs of ultrathin sections of strain P1a. A) Showing cells arranged in rosette formation. bar 0,5  $\mu$ m. B) Showing budding cell with highly condensed nucleotide (N) transferred to the daughter cell, fibrous structure (arrow). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m. C) Showing cell of strain P1a with highly condensed nucleotide (N), outer membrane and invaginations of periplasm (arrow) surrounded by a membrane (arrow). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m. D) Showing cell with fibrous structures (arrows) and large crateriform structure (C). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m.

### 5.2.2 Strain P2S

On M30 18% SW plates strain P2S displayed white colonies with creamy consistency that was easy to pick from the plate and to homogenize in liquid culture. When grown in liquid media the cells appeared to be dispersed throughout the culture giving a white transparent colour to the entire culture.

When studied under phase contrast microscope strain P2S appeared as single motile swarmer cells or in rosette-like formations of no more than 3 cells (Figure 5.4 a and b). Cells were spherical and ovoid shaped and showed sign of budding from a reproductive pole (Figure 5.4c). Cells in rosette formation and occurrences of two swarmer cells seemed to be interconnected *via* tubular-looking structures (Figure 5.4 b and d). Strain P2S did not show any signs of rather large aggregations of cells, when most cells appeared as single swarmer cells and in rosette formations of 2 and 3 cells. Cells size were measured to range from 0,6 - 1,4  $\mu$ m x 0,7 - 1,6  $\mu$ m and the average size of the cells was calculated to be 1 x 1,1  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 5.4:** Showing phase contrast light microscope images of strain P2S. A) Cells appearing as swarmer cells (S), or in rosette-like formations (R) of 2 or 3 cells. bar 5  $\mu$ m. B) Showing cells as swarmer cells (S) and in rosette-like formation (R). bar 5  $\mu$ m C) Showing budding cell (B) and cells in rosette-like formation (R). bar 5  $\mu$ m. D) Showing cells interconnected by tubular-looking structure (arrow). bar 3  $\mu$ m.

Ultrathin cross sections of strain P2S revealed that the strain exhibited highly condensed nucleotides surrounded by an electron dense membrane, indicating the presence of ribosomes (Figure 5.5). The strain displayed a clearly defined outer membrane, as well as large invaginations of the periplasm that were surrounded by a membrane (Figure 5.5 a and b). Figure 5.5b shows that the strain exhibited fibrous structures along the outer membrane.



**Figure 5.5:** Transmission electron micrographs of ultrathin sections of strain P2S. A) Showing cell with highly condensed nucleotides (N) surrounded by electron dense membrane containing ribosomes, as well as a clearly defined outer membrane (OM), Large invaginations of the periplasm (arrow) surrounded by a membrane (arrow). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m. B) Showing cell with highly condensed nucleotides (N) and invaginations of the periplasm (arrow, white) surrounded by a membrane (arrow, structures along the outer membrane indicated by black arrows. bar 0,2  $\mu$ m.

# 5.2.3 Strain P6.1

On solid culture media strain P6.1 formed small pink colonies with rubber-like consistency. In liquid culture the strain formed pink aggregates of cells that either sunk to the bottom of the container or attached to the container at the surface of the liquid media.

Colonies from plates examined by phase contrast light microscopy showed that cells gathered in large aggregates as well as displaying single swarmer cells (Figure 5.6a). The cells appeared to have spherical to ovoid shapes and swarmer cells were not motile. Budding reproduction was displayed, as shown in Figure 5.6b, and it seems like the budding happens from a reproductive pole. The cell size ranged from 0,6 - 1,2  $\mu$ m x 0,7 x 1,4  $\mu$ m and the average size of the cells was calculated to be 0,9 x 1,1  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 5.6:** Phase contrast light microscope images of strain P6.1. A) Showing aggregate of cells (A) and single swarmer cells (S). bar 10  $\mu$ m. B) Showing budding reproduction (B) and from what seems to be a reproductive pole, and aggregation of cells (A). bar 10  $\mu$ m and 3  $\mu$ m for the zooming in on the budding.

TEM analyses of ultrathin sections revealed some cells were arranged in a rosette-like formations (Figure 5.7 a and c). The cells appeared to be attached to a joined holdfast structure in the centre of the rosette forming cells. Shapes varied from spherical to oval. Most of the cells also showed fibrous structures on the outside of the outer membrane (OM), as well as highly condensed nucleotides within a nucleoid. The majority of the cells displayed an area of low electron density between the OM and the cytoplasm, the periplasm. Crateriform structures was observed in many cells (Figure 5.7b) in connection to the fibrous structures. The cell displayed in Figure 5.7 b and d, shows a budding cell, were the genetic material already has been transferred from the mother cell. The budding seems to be happening from a reproductive pole and the bud appears to be ready to detach, considering the already established OM, nucleotides and cytoplasm.



**Figure 5.7:** Transmission electron micrographs of ultrathin sections of strain P6.1. A) Cells showing rosette formation (R) and holdfast structures (HF). bar 1  $\mu$ m. B) Budding cell, daughter cell showing highly condensed nucleotide (N), fibrous structures (F) and outer membrane (OM), as well as the budding itself (B). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m. C) Rosette formation of cells (R) via holdfast structures (HF). bar 0,5  $\mu$ m. D) Budding cell, crateriform structures (arrow) affiliated with fibrous structures (F), outer membrane (OM) and highly condensed nucleotides (N). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m.

# 5.2.4 Strain P6.2

Colonies on M30 18% SW plates appeared as big red rubber-like clumps on M30 18% SW plates. The colonies were hard to pick from the plates and difficult to homogenize when transferred to liquid media. When the strain was grown in liquid culture, the cells aggregated and tend to gather at the bottom of the container. It also occurred that the cells started to grow and attach to the container, along the surface of the liquid media.

Cells of strain P6.2 were spherical to ovoid shaped and expressed large cell aggregates with high cell density as well as swarmer cells in liquid culture (Figure 5.8a). Some cells were arranged in rosette-like formations of a few cells, as shown in Figure 5.8a, and some cells exhibited budding reproduction from a reproductive pole (Figure 5.8b). The cell size ranged from 0,8 - 1,4  $\mu$ m x 0,8 - 1,6  $\mu$ m and the average size of the cells was calculated to be 1,1 x 1,3  $\mu$ m.



**Figure 5.8:** Phase contrast light microscope images of strain P6.2, magnification 100x. A) showing budding reproduction (B), rosette formation (R) and cell aggregates (A). bar 10  $\mu$ m. B) Showing aggregation of cells (A), budding reproduction (B) and single swarmer cells (S). bar 5  $\mu$ m, and 2  $\mu$ m for the zooming in on the budding.

As shown in Figure 5.9 a and b, strain P6.2 had cell shapes of a spherical to ovoid nature and showed a clearly defined nucleoid with highly condensed nucleotides, surrounded by an electron dense membrane, resembling ribosomes. The cells displayed a clearly defined outer membrane (OM), with periplasm in the area of low electron density between the OM and the cytoplasm. Crateriform structures was observed in connection to fibrous structures (Figure 5.9a). Ribosomes seemed to be concentrated around the nucleoid, as well as around invaginations of the periplasm and along the cytoplasmic membrane, indicated by arrowhead in Figure 4.9b.



**Figure 5.9:** Transmission electron micrographs of ultrathin sections of strain P6.2. A) Showing cell of strain P6.2 with highly condensed nucleotides (N), crateriform structures (C) connected to fibrous structures (arrow). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m. B) Cross section of cell showing a clearly defined outer membrane (OM), fibrous structures (F) along the OM and large invaginations of the periplasm (arrow). bar 0,2  $\mu$ m.

# 5.3 Physiological Characterization

Various physiological characteristics were investigated, and growth rates were plotted to determine the most favourable conditions for growth of the three strains P6.1, P6.2 and P2S. Growth during the exponential phase was used to calculate the growth rates using the formula described by Widdel (2007). Parameters under which growth was monitored includes temperature, salinity concentrations (%NaCl w/v) and pH. Conditions for growth and growth rates were not investigated for strain P1a because this strain was obtained in pure culture at a much later stage than the other strains, and thus not enough time for describing as part of this current thesis.

# 5.3.1 Temperature Range and Optimum

Temperature experiments were performed, ranging from 5 – 40°C. Temperature range for strains P6.1 and P6.2 were shown to be from 5 to 35 °C, when cultured at 40°C both strains exhibited declining optical density (OD) (Figure 5.10). Strain P2S displayed growth at temperatures between 5 and 30 °C, including very limited growth at 35 °C ( $\mu$ /day = 0,0115). Negative growth was shown by strain P2S when cultivated at 40 °C. Optimum growth for all strains was 25 °C. All 3 strains appear as psychrotolerant due to their ability to grow at temperatures as low as 5°C.



**Figure 5.10:** Growth rates ( $\mu$ /day) displayed for strains P6.1, P6.2 and P2S when cultivated in M30 18% SW with temperatures ranging from 5 to 40 °C.

When cultivated at 5°C, all strains exhibited rather slow growth, strains P2S and P6.1 did not reach the double of initial OD before 13 and 14 days, respectively. Strain P6.2 used 29 days to double its initial OD. All strain kept a slow growth rate at this temperature before starting to enter death phase, strain P2S on day 58, while strains P6.1 and P6.2 both enter death phase on day 75. When cultivated at 10 and 15°C, strain P2S seemed to be the fastest grower, and reached the highest OD. Strain P6.2 was the slowest and reached the lowest OD of the strains. When cultivated at optimum temperature (25°C), all strains enter exponential phase after day 3. Strain P2S reached its highest cell density (OD) on day 10, before it immediately entered the death phase. Both strains P6.1 and P6.2 entered stationary phase around day 15, before OD slowly declined. At 30°C or higher P6.1 was the fastest growing strain and when cultivated at 35°C P2S barely exhibit any growth. The two other strains showed a quick burst of growth before rapidly entering the death phase. None of the strains displayed any growth when grown on 40°C. When cultivated at temperatures 30 and 35 °C strains P6.1 and P6.2 tended to grow and attach to the glass tube in the surface of the growth media. Therefore, it was necessary to vortex the tubes extra to ensure proper homogenization upon measurements.

#### 5.3.2 Salinity Range and Optimum

Strains P6.1 and P6.2 was able to grow from 0 to 0,5% NaCl (w/v). However, strain P6.1 did show weak growth at 0,5% NaCl (w/v) ( $\mu$ /day = 0,019), strain P6.2 also showed slight growth when cultivated at 1% NaCl (w/v) ( $\mu$ /day = 0,017). Growth range for strain P2S was determined to be between 0 and 3,5% NaCl (w/v), however growth at 3 and 3,5% NaCl (w/v) was limited, with growth rates of 0,023 and 0,019, respectively. Salinity growth optimum for strain P6.1 was between 0 and 0,1% NaCl (w/v), 0,1% NaCl (w/v) for strain P6.2 and 0,5% NaCl (w/v) for strain P2S (Figure 5.11).



Figure 5.11: Growth rates ( $\mu$ /day) displayed for strains P6.1, P6.2 and P2S when cultivated in M30 with salinity adjusted to range from 0 to 3,5% NaCl (w/v).

All 3 strains were able to grow when there was no NaCl available, as well as when there was NaCl added to the media. This indicates that the strains are halotolerant, where strains P6.1 and P6.2 only tolerates low NaCl concentrations (<1% NaCl w/v), and strain P2S tolerates NaCl concentrations of up to 3,5% NaCl (w/v).

### 5.3.3 pH Range and Optimum

Strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 were able to grow in pH ranging from 5 to 9 when cultured in M30 18% SW when pH was adjusted. Both strains P6.1 and P6.2 showed the highest growth rate when cultivated at pH = 7,5, whereas strain P2S displayed the highest growth rate when cultivated at pH = 8 (Figure 5.12). The pH optimum of the strains indicate that they are neutrophilic but are still able to grow in media as acidic as pH = 5.



Figure 5.12: Growth rates ( $\mu$ /day) displayed for strains P6.1, P6.2 and P2S when cultivated in M30 18% SW with pH adjusted to range from 5 to 9.

# 5.4 Physiological Attributes

The physiology of the strains was examined by utilizing different techniques. This includes analysis for carbon utilization, enzymatic repertoire and antibiotic resistance and sensitivity.

# 5.4.1 Utilization of Carbon Sources

The different strains were cultured with different carbon sources added to growth media to gain insights to which carbon sources the different strains were able to metabolize. Growth was measured as changes in optical density (OD). Initial OD for strains P1a, P6.1 and P6.2 were 0,05 and 0,06 for strain P2S. The growth experiments were carried out for 11 days.

All strains were capable of utilizing a variety of carbon sources, listed in Table 5.1. All strains exhibited good growth on N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, D-maltose, D-glucose and D-cellobiose. Strains P1a, P6.1 and P2S also showed good growth when grown on D-galactose. P1a and P2S exhibited growth when grown on D-xylose and D-mannose, as well as sucrose, L-rhamnose and D-raffinose for strain P2S. Strain P6.1 grew well on sucrose, carboxymethyl cellulose, D-xylose, D-mannitol and D-mannose, and displayed limited growth on L-sorbose and L-rhamnose. As mentioned, strain P6.2 exhibited good growth on N-acetyl-glucosamine, D-maltose, D-glucose and D-cellobiose, but did also show some growth on sucrose, D-galactose, D-mannitol and D-mannose, as well as slight growth on D-arabinose and D-xylose. Strain P1a also exhibited growth when cultured in media containing D-arabinose.

**Table 5.1:** Showing optical density (OD) for strains P1a, P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 when grown on different carbon sources. Initial OD for strains P1a, P6.1 and P6.2 was 0,05 and 0,06 for strain P2S. Measurements displayed are from day 11 after inoculation. Green indicates strong growth, yellow indicates intermediate growth, while red indicated negative growth.

Carbon sources	P1a	P2S	P6.1	P6.2
Sucrose	0,06	0,17	0,1	0,1
L-Sorbose	0,03	0,065	0,06	0,04
D-Xylose	0,18	0,21	0,08	0,06
D-Raffinose	0,03	0,11	0,03	0,03
D-Cellobiose	0,18	0,24	0,15	0,1
D-Galactose	0,21	0,21	0,12	0,08
D-Fructose	0,03	0,075	0,04	0,02
D-Mannitol	0,03	0,06	0,09	0,09
D-Arabinose	0,17	0,075	0,05	0,065
D-Mannose	0,16	0,18	0,085	0,085
Carboxymethyl cellulose	0,03	0,05	0,1	0,05
D-Glucose	0,2	0,27	0,12	0,12
Cellulose	0,025	0,065	0,04	0,04
N-acetyl-D-glucosamine	0,2	0,26	0,15	0,14
D-Maltose	0,17	0,26	0,14	0,1
Chitin	0,02	0,05	0,05	0,04
L-Rhamnose	0,06	0,23	0,06	0,045
Control	0,01	0,02	0,015	0,02

The experiment shows that the strains are capable of utilizing a variety of different carbon sources. The control which contained M30 18% SW without any carbon source, showed an OD well below the initial OD for all strains, indicating that the cells were not metabolizing any remaining carbon from previous cultivation. All strains displayed highest OD when grown on reducing sugars, or derivatives from reducing sugars. These include N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, as well as D-cellobiose for strain P6.1, and D-maltose and D-glucose for strain P2S. Strain P1a exhibited the highest OD when grown on Dgalactose, D-glucose and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine.

# 5.4.2 Enzymatic Activity

The API-ZYM test was used to reveal the enzymatic activities of the strains. API-ZYM strips where inoculated with cell suspension and scoring of the strips were done after 6 h of incubation.

The enzymatic repertoire of all strains includes esterase lipase (C8) and naphthol-AS-BI-phosphohydrolase. Strain P1a was also positive for lipase (C14), esterase (C4), valine arylamidase, cystine arylamidase and acid phosphatase (Table 5.2). Strain P2S tested positive for alkaline phosphatase, valine arylamidase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase. The enzymatic repertoire of strain P6.1 also included alkaline phosphatase, esterase (C4) and leucine arylamidase. While strain P6.2 was positive for alkaline phosphatase, esterase (C4), leucine arylamidase and valine arylamidase.

Enzyme	P1a	P2S	P6.1	P6.2
Control	+	+	+	+
Alkaline phosphatase	-	+	+	+
Esterase (C4)	+	-	+	+
Esterase Lipase (C8)	+	+	+	+
Lipase (C14)	+	-	-	-
Leucine arylamidase	-	-	+	+
Valine arylamidase	+	+	-	+
Cystine arylamidase	+	-	-	-
Trypsin	-	-	-	-
α-chymotrypsin	-	-	-	-
Acid phosphatase	+	-	-	-
Naphtol-AS-BI-phosphohydrolase	+	+	+	+
α-galactosidase	-	-	-	-
β-galactosidase	-	-	-	-
β-glucuronidase	-	-	-	-
α-glucosidase	-	+	-	-
β-glucosidase	-	-	-	-
$N$ -acetyl- $\beta$ -glucosaminidase	-	-	-	-
α-mannosidase	-	-	-	-
α-fucosidase	-	-	-	-

**Table 5.2:** Showing the enzymatic repertoire tested with API ZYM of strains P1a, P2S, P6.1 and P6.2. Green colour indicates positive result, while red indicates negative result.

#### +, positive; -, negative

The experiment showed that the strains possess different enzymes. Strain P6.1 and P6.2 had identic profiles except that strain P6.1 was negative for valine arylamidase. P2S was the only strain positive for  $\alpha$ -glucosidase, whereas strain P1a was the only one positive for lipase (C14), cystine arylamidase and acid phosphatase. Strain P1a tested positive for 7 different enzymes, whereas strain P6.1 tested positive for 5 enzymes.

Both strains P2S and P6.2's enzymatic repertoire includes 6 out of 19 different enzymes tested for in this experiment. All strains showed positive results in the positive control indicating that the experiment was successful.

# 5.4.3 Antibiotic Resistance and Sensitivity

All strains were tested for their susceptibility towards 11 different types of antibiotics. The strains were plated onto fresh media and one antimicrobial disc were placed in the middle of each plate, before being incubated at room temperature for 12 days.

All the strains exhibited resistance towards ampicillin, streptomycin, penicillin G, vancomycin and nalidixic acid, as well as showing sensitivity towards erythromycin (Table 5.3). Strains P6.1, P6.2 and P2S displayed sensitivity towards chloramphenicol, whilst strain P1a was resistant. Tetracycline seem to limit the growth of strains P6.1 and P2S, whereas the other two strains showed no signs of inhibition zone. Both strains P2S and P1a displayed an inhibition zone of 12 and 11 mm, respectively, in the presence of ofloxacin. Strain P2S was the only strain that was sensitive towards trimethoprim and kanamycin.

**Table 5.3:** Antibiotic impact on the growth of strains P1a, P2S, P6.1 and P6.2. Inhibition zone measured in mm, resistence (R). Green colour indicates resistance, while red colour indicates sensitivity.

Antibiotics	P6.1	P6.2	P2S	P1a
Ampicillin (10µg)	R	R	R	R
Chloramphenicol (10 µg)	7 mm	6 mm	18 mm	R
Kanamycin (30µg)	R	R	12 mm	R
Streptomycin (10µg)	R	R	R	R
Penicillin G (10 µg)	R	R	R	R
Trimethoprim (2,5 μg)	R	R	11 mm	R
Ofloxacin (5 µg)	R	R	12 mm	11 mm
Erythromycin (10 µg)	12 mm	10 mm	18 mm	4 mm
Vancomycin (5 µg)	R	R	R	R
Nalidixic acid (30 µg)	R	R	R	R
Tetracycline (10 µg)	6 mm	R	9 mm	R

*R, resistence; inhibition zone measured in mm.* 

Three of the strains were resistant towards more antibiotics than they are sensitive towards. Strain P2S was sensitive to 6 out of 11 antibiotics used in this experiment, therefore this strain appears to be the most sensitive strain. Strains P1a and P6.2 were only sensitive towards 2 out of 11 antibiotics, therefore they are the most resistant strains in this experiment. Both strains P6.1 and P6.2 showed the highest sensitivity towards erythromycin (10  $\mu$ g) with an inhibition zone of 12 mm and 10 mm, respectively. Strain P2S displayed highest sensitivity towards chloramphenicol (10  $\mu$ g) and erythromycin (10  $\mu$ g), with inhibition zones of 18 mm.

# 5.5 Phylogeny

Strains P2S, P6.1, P6.2 and P1a all belong to the kingdom Bacteria, phylum Planctomycetes, class Planctomycetia, order Planctomycetales, family Planctomycetacea. The assembled 16S rRNA sequences for strain P2S was 1,388 bp, for strain P6.1 was 1,392 bp, for strain P6.2 was 1,397 bp and for strain P1a was 1,393 base pairs long (Appendix III).

# 5.5.1 Alignment of the 4 Strains

Strains P6.1 and P6.2 showed a similarity of 99% in their 16S rRNA sequences. Strain P1a showed an 87% similarity towards P2S and P6.2, whilst being 88% similar to P6.1. Strain P2S show a 98% similarity to both strains P6.1 and P6.2, as shown in Table 5.4. Summarized, strains P6.1, P6.2 and P2S share similarities of 98% or higher between each other, whilst strain P1a are 88% or less similar to the other strains in the 16S rRNA gene.

Table 5.4: Showing similarities in the 16S rRNA gene between strains isolated from
Svarthammarhola Ice Cave.

	P1a	P2S	P6.1	P6.2
P1a	100%	87%	88%	87%
P2S	87%	100%	98%	98%
P6.1	88%	98%	100%	99%
P6.2	87%	98%	99%	100%

Alignment of the 4 strains' 16S rRNA gene sequences, showed that there are especially some regions where there are differences (Supplementary Figure 1). First of all, strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 display gaps during the first and last 10 bp, where strain P1a does not have any gaps. Overall, irregularities in the alignment occur at spread regions throughout the 16S rRNA. However, strain P1a show dissimilarities towards the other strains mainly in regions 340-380, 720-745 (V4), 900-945 (V5), 1330-1350 and 1370-1390 (V8).

### 5.5.2 Closest Relatives

Searches with BlastN revealed that strain P1a's closest cultured relative was the planctomycete strain 292 retrieved from Lake Fuhlensee near Kiel, Germany (Griepenburg et al., 1999) with a similarity of 92%. The most similar uncultured sequence for strain P1a with a similarity of 99% was the bacterium clone MPB2-197, originated from a freshwater lake in east Antarctica, as shown in Table 5.5.

**Table 5.5:** Relationship between the 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain P1a and its three closest uncultivated (1-3) and its three closest cultivated relatives (4-6) from the NCBI database.

Blast hit	Identity	Acc. Nr.	Reference	Habitat
1. Uncultered bacterium clone: MPB2-197	99%	<u>AB630873.1</u>	Nakai et al., 2012	Freshwater lake. Easte
			-	Antarctica.
2. Uncultured	99%	FJ543048.1	Rattray et al.,	Earthworm
Planctomycetaceae clone: B08-03C			2010	intestine.
3. Uncultured	99%	HE575398.1	Chiellini et al.,	Purification
Planctomycetales clone:			2012	plant,
ROM 42				Poggibonsi,
	<b>00</b> 0			Italy.
4. Planctomycete strain 292	92%	<u>AJ231182.1</u>	Griepenburg et	Lake
	/		al., 1999	Fuhlensee, Kiel
5. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 678	91%	<u>X81947.1</u>	Ward et al.,	Lake
			1995	Fuhlensee, Kiel
6. Bythopirellula goksoyri	90%	<u>NR_118636.1</u>	Storesund and	AMOR,
			Øvreås, 2013	Norwegian-
				Greenland Sea

Search with BlastN revealed that the closest cultured relative to strain P2S with a similarity of 91%, was strain Schlesner 302 obtained from a Fjord Schlei in the Baltic Sea (Ward et al., 1995), as shown in Table 5.6. Strain P2S showed 98% similarity to the uncultured bacterium clone R1-9 (Chen et al., 2015), as well as 98% similarity to the uncultured bacterium clones F11 and 96 (Li et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2011), both affiliated to wastewater in China (Table 5.6).
**Table 5.6:** Relationship between the 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain P2S and its three closest uncultivated (1-3) and the three closest cultivated relatives (4-6) from the NCBI database.

Blast hit	Identity	Acc. Nr.	Reference	Habitat
1. Uncultured	98%	<u>KP717533.1</u>	Chen et al.,	Yanshi WWTP,
Planctomycetacea clone: R1-			2015	China.
9				
2. Uncultured bacterium	98%	FJ230909.1	Li et al., 2011	WWTP, Hebei,
clone: F11				China.
3. Uncultured bacterium	98%	JF828764.1	Zhao et al.,	Waste water,
clone: 96			(unpublished)	China.
4. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 302	91%	<u>X81942.1</u>	Ward et al.,	Fjord Schlei,
			1995	Baltic Sea
5. Rhodopirellula sp. SM49	91%	FJ624355.1	Winkelmann	Dar Es Salaam,
			and Harder,	Tanzania
			2009	
6. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 139	90%	<u>X81945.1</u>	Ward et al.,	Kiel fjord
			1995	

The most similar uncultured sequence for strains P6.1 with a similarity of 99% was bacterium clone BJGMM-3s-145, obtained from Yellow river delta in China (Jia et al., unpublished). The strain also showed a 99% similarity to bacterium clones 101-75 and F11 (Kim and Crowley, 2007; Li et al.,2011) which originated from tar pits in California, USA, and a wastewater treatment in China (Table 5.7). Searches with BlastN in the NCBI database also revealed that the closest related cultured specimen for strain P6.1 was the Pirellula sp. Schlesner 302 strain from Fjord Schlei (Ward et al., 1995), with similarities of 92% (Table 5.7). **Table 5.7:** Relationship between the 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain P6.1 and its three closest uncultivated (1-3) and the three closest cultivated relatives (4-6) from the NCBI database.

Blast hit	Identity	Acc. Nr.	Reference	Habitat
1. Uncultured bacterium	99%	<u>JQ800921.1</u>	Jia, et al.,	Yellow river
clone: BJGMM-3s-145			(unpublished)	delta, China.
2. Uncultured bacterium	99%	EF157256.1	Kim and	Rancho La Brea
clone: 101-75			Crowley, 2007	tar pits, CA,
				USA.
3. Uncultured bacterium	99%	FJ230909.1	Li et al., 2011	WWTP, Hebei,
clone: F11				China.
4. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 302	92%	<u>X81942.1</u>	Ward et al.,	Fjord Schlei,
			1995	Baltic Sea
5. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 516	91%	<u>X81940.1</u>	Griepenburg et	Sewage sludge
			al., 1999	
6. Planctomycete strain 543	91%	AJ231173.1	Griepenburg et	Sewage sludge
			al., 1999	

Strain P6.2 showed 99% similarity towards the uncultured bacterium clones BJGMM-3s-145, 101-75 and F11 (Table 5.8). The closest related cultured specimens were Pirellula sp. Schlesner 302 and Schlesner 516, both with a 91% similarity in the 16S rRNA gene. Strain P6.2 also displayed a 90% similarity towards the Planctomycete strain 543 obtained by Griepenburg and collaborates (1999) from sewage sludge Table 5.8).

**Table 5.8:** Relationship between the 16S rRNA gene sequence of strain P6.2 and its three closest uncultivated (1-3) and the three closest cultivated relatives (4-6) from the NCBI database.

Blast hit	Identity	Acc. Nr.	Reference	Habitat
1. Uncultured bacterium	99%	JQ800921.1	Jia, et al.,	Yellow river
clone: BJGMM-3s-145			(unpublished)	delta, China.
2. Uncultured bacterium	99%	EF157256.1	Kim and	Rancho La Brea
clone: 101-75			Crowley, 2007	tar pits, CA, USA.
3. Uncultured bacterium clone: F11	99%	FJ230909.1	Li et al., 2011	WWTP, Hebei, China.
4. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 302	91%	<u>X81942.1</u>	Ward et al., 1995	Fjord Schlei, Baltic Sea
5. Pirellula sp. Schlesner 516	91%	<u>X81940.1</u>	Griepenburg et al., 1999	Sewage sludge
6. Planctomycete strain 543	90%	<u>AJ231173.1</u>	Griepenburg et al., 1999	Sewage sludge

Both strains P6.1 and P6.2 showed very similar relatives when searched in the Blast database. The only difference was the similarity towards Pirellula sp. Schlesner 302, which was 91% for strain P6.2 and 92% for strain P6.1. As well as the Planctomycete strain 543, where strain P6.1 showed 91% similarity and strain P6.2 showed 90% similarity.

#### 5.5.3 Phylogenetic Tree

A phylogenetic tree was made to analyse the phylogenetic distances between the strains and their closest related sequences, as well as to analyse their relationship to other described species of Planctomycetes.

Construction of a maximum likelihood tree (Figure 5.13) clustered strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 into a monophyletic clade, together with their closest uncultured sequences, as well as their closest related cultured sequences from Tables 5.6–5.8. The closest related described Planctomycetes species for these 3 strains were *Rhodopirellula baltica* from the Baltic Sea with a similarity of 90%, and *Rubripirellula obstinata*, originated from kelp surface with a similarity of 89%. Strain P1a formed a monophyletic clade together with its most closely related uncultured and cultured sequences (Table 5.5), including *Bythopirellula goksoyri*, isolated from AMOR in the Norwegian-Greenland Sea with a similarity of 90%. The described Planctomycetes species included in this tree was chosen to provide an overview of the Svarthammarhola strains' phylogenetic position and their relationship to different genera within the Planctomycetes division.



0.05

**Figure 5.13:** Maximum likelihood 16S rRNA gene phylogenetic tree showing the relationships between strains from Svarthammarhola (highlighted with black dots), their closest uncultured and cultured relatives, as well as selected Planctomycetes species (accession numbers shown in parenthesis). The tree was based on the Tamura-Nei model (Tamura and Nei, 1993), with discrete Gamma distribution used for model of evolutionary rate differences among sites. Numbers on the tree refer to bootstrap values, based on 100 replicates. Only values above 50% are shown. The anammox Planctomycete *Candidatus Scalindua wagneri* were used as outgroup. Bar – 0,05 substitutions per nucleotide position.

# 5.6 Summary of Traits and Comparison to R. obstinata

The Planctomycetes species *Rubripirella obstinata* was chosen for comparison of morphological and physiological traits for the 4 strains. There were other species with higher similarities in the 16S rRNA gene, however the comparison data for *R. obstinata* involved more similar experiments and comparable data. Data for comparison of *R. obstinata* was retrieved from the description performed by Bondoso and collaborates (2015).

Morphologically the Svarthammarhola strain differ from *R. obstinata* (Table 5.9). Cell size are in general smaller and vary more. The smallest cells of *R. obstinata* are 1,5 x 1,3  $\mu$ m, whereas the smallest measured cells from Svarthammarhola are cells from strains P2S and P6.1, with a size of 0,6 x 0,7  $\mu$ m. Strains from Svarthammarhola all have spherical to ovoid cells, where *R. obstinata* have pear-shaped to ovoid cells. Strains P2S, P6.1, P6.2 all have the same temperature optimum as *R. obstinata*, however growth range differs, as well as pH range.

Morphology	Strain P1a	Strain P2S	Strain P6.1	Strain P6.2	R. obstinata
Cell size (µm)	0,7-1,2 x	0,6-1,4 x 0,7 -	0,6-1,2 x 0,7-	0,8-1,4 x 0,8-	1,5-2 × 1,3-1,7
	0,7-0,9	1,6	1,4	1,6	
Cell shape	Spherical to	Spherical to	Spherical to	Spherical to	Pear shaped to
	ovoid	ovoid	ovoid	ovoid	ovoid
Cell arrangement	Aggregates,	Rosette of 2-3	Aggregates,	Aggregates,	Rosette of 2-
	rosette or	cells or single	rosette or	rosette or	10 cells
	single cells	cells	single cells	single cells	
Pigmentation	Grey-white	White	Pink	Red	Red
Salinity tolerance	NA	0-3,5% NaCL	0-0,5% NaCl	0-1% NaCl	50-125% ASW
		(w/v)	(w/v)	(w/v)	
Temperature range (°C)	NA	5-35	5-35	5-35	10-30
Temperature optimum	NA	25	25	25	25
(°C)					
pH range	NA	5-9	5-9	5-9	6,5-10
pH optimum	NA	8	7,5	7,5	7,5

**Table 5.9:** Comparison of morphological and physiological traits of strains P1a, P2S, P6.1, P6.2 and *R. obstinata*.

NA, not available.

Comparison of different carbon sources utilized are displayed in Table 5.10. The Svarthammarhola strains are capable of utilizing a broader spectrum of carbon sources than *R. obstinata*, considering the carbon sources used in this experiment.

Carbon source	Strain P1a	Strain P2S	Strain P6.1	Strain P6.2	R. obstinata	
Sucrose	W	+	+	+	-	
L-Sorbose	-	-	w	-	-	
D-Xylose	+	+	+	W	+	
D-Raffinose	-	+	-	-	-	
D-Cellobiose	+	+	+	+	-	
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+	
D-Fructose	-	w	-	-	+	
D-Mannitol	-	-	+	+	-	
D-Arabinose	+	W	-	W	-	
D-Mannose	+	+	+	+	+	
Carboxymethyl	-	-	+	-	-	
cellulose						
D-Glucose	+	+	+	+	+	
Cellulose	-	-	-	-	+	
N-acetyl-D-	+	+	+	+	+	
glucosamine						
D-Maltose	+	+	+	+	-	
Chitin	-	-	-	-	NA	
L-Rhamnose	W	+	-	-	+	

**Table 5.10:** Comparison of carbon sources utilized by strains P1a, P2S, P6.1, P6.2 and *R. obstinata*.

+, positive; -, negative; w, weak; NA, not available.

The enzymatic repertoire of *R. obstinata* does not differ much from that of the Svarthammarhola strains (Table 5.11). No enzymes are displayed by *R. obstinata* that the strains do not possess. However, it does test positive for cysteine arylamidase and acid phosphatase which only strain P1a test positive for among the Svarhammarhola strains.

Enzyme	Strain P1a	Strain P2S	Strain P6.1	Strain P6.2	R. obstinata
Alkaline	-	+	+	+	+
phosphatase					
Esterase (C4)	+	-	+	+	+
Esterase lipase	+	+	+	+	+
(C8)					
Lipase (C14)	+	-	-	-	-
Leucine	-	-	+	+	+
arylamidase					
Valine	+	+	-	+	+
arylamidase					
Cystine	+	-	-	-	+
arylamidase					
Trypsin	-	-	-	-	-
α-chymotrypsin	-	-	-	-	-
Acid phosphatase	+	-	-	-	+
Naphtol-AS-BI	+	+	+	+	-
phosphohydrolase					
α-galactosidase	+	-	-	-	-
β-galactosidase	-	-	-	-	-
β-glucuronidase	-	-	-	-	-
α-glucosidase	-	+	-	-	-
β-glucosidase	-	-	-	-	-
N-acetyl-β-	-	-	-	-	-
glucosaminidase					
α-mannosidase	-	-	-	-	-
α-fucosidase	-	-	-	-	-

**Table 5.11**: Comparison of the enzymatic repertoire of strains P1a, P2S, P6.1, P6.2 and *R. obstinate* tested with API ZYM.

+, positive; -, negative.

# 5.7 Screening for Bioactive Molecules

Strains P6.1 and P6.2 were screened for bioactive molecules. At the time when the screening was performed, strain P2S was not obtained in pure culture, and strain P1a was not yet discovered. The screening was done as part of a collaborative project between the University of Bergen, and the University of Porto. The aim of the Project was to screen different strains of Planctomycetes from different habitats for bioactive molecules. Extracts from the different strains were obtained, and these were used to treat the different cancerous cell lines. The cell lines used was the human AML cell line (Molm13) and human prostatic cancer cell line (PC3), as well as the normal rat kidney epithelial cell line (NRK) as a control. All the different cell lines were analysed for metabolic activity using the WST-1 assay, which measures enzymatic conversion of tetrazolium salt into coloured metabolites. However, Planctomycetes, including strains P6.1 and P6.2, possess pigmentation that interferes with the WST-1 colorimetric assay, therefore results from this assay was not applicable. Consequently, only cytotoxicity was assessed by studying the nuclear morphology of the treated cell lines. The results from the project now being in the process of being published. The manuscript is available in Appendix IV (Calisto et al., 2018).

# 5.6.1 Determination of Induced Apoptosis

Apoptotic cells appeared under the fluorescence microscope as condensed nucleuses exhibiting strong fluorescence when stained with DNA-specific dye Hoechst 33342 (Figure 5.14b). Healthy and viable cells appeared as whole cells without fluorescent dye staining their nuclei (Figure 5.14a). The cytotoxic potential of the extracts was divided into categories, including high – H (>70% cell death), intermediate – I (40-70% cell death), low – L (10-40% cell death) or no (<10% cell death). The different cell lines were screened under the microscope for apoptotic nuclei and the percentage of apoptotic cells were calculated using Equation 2.



**Figure 5.14:** Comparison of healthy viable and apoptotic Molm13 cells. A) Showing control Molm-13 cells treated with only DMSO and no planctomycetal extracts. Providing an indication of how healthy and viable cells appeared under fluorescent microscope. B) Showing Molm13 cells treated with aqueous extracts from strain P6.1, incubated for 72 h. Arrows indicating apoptotic cells by distinctive staining of condensed nucleuses.

# 5.6.2 Cytotoxic Assays

Both the aqueous and organic extracts from strain P6.1 showed intermediate activity towards Molm13 cells, with 64 and 56% cell death, respectively (Figure 5.15). These extracts also showed no cytotoxicity towards the PC3 and NRK cell line, except for the aqueous extract on PC3 cells, which displayed 12,66% apoptotic cells, hence, low cytotoxicity. Strain P6.2 showed intermediate cytotoxicity towards Molm13 in the aqueous extracts, and low toxicity in the organic extracts. There was no cytotoxicity shown against PC3 cells in either of the extracts and low toxicity was displayed in NRK cells for both extracts.

It was shown that strain P6.1 displayed a higher cytotoxicity than strain P6.2 in both extracts. Both strains show higher toxicity in their aqueous extracts towards Molm13 cells than in the organic extracts. None of the strains showed higher than low cytotoxicity towards any of the adherent cell lines, where strain P6.1 showed low toxicity towards PC3 cells in the aqueous extracts, and strain P6.2 showed low cytotoxicity towards NRK cells in both aqueous and organic extracts. Both strains display intermediate cytotoxicity towards Molm13 cells.



**Figure 5.15:** Showing calculated induced apoptosis (%) after 72h treatment on 3 different cell lines with both aqueous and organic extracts from strains P6.1 and P6.2. Values represented are calculated based on the results from 3 parallels on the PC3 and NRK cell lines and 4 parallels on the Molm13 cell line.

The screening of these strains' extracts was performed as part of a collaborative project, involving several other strains than strain P6.1 and P6.2. The ability to induce apoptosis in Molm13, PC3 and NRK cell lines for all involved strains are represented in Appendix IV (Calisto et al., 2018). When the effect of extracts from strains P6.1 and P6.2 are compared to the rest of the strains' extracts, it is clear that they are not the most potent producers of bioactive molecules. However, extracts from strains P6.1 and P6.2 still induce higher percentage of apoptosis towards Molm13 cells than most of the extracts from other strains. Only a few of the strains involved in the experiment exhibited higher than low toxicity towards the PC3 cell line. The same is applicable for the strains' toxicity towards the NRK cell line.

# 6. Discussion

Planctomycetes have previously been reported in caves and frozen environments (Pašić et al., 2009; Borsodi et al., 2012; De Mandal et al., 2014; Rysgaard and Glud, 2004; Zeng et al., 2013; Boetius et al., 2015; Tebo et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2016). However, these were solely on molecular experiments, and not dedicated Planctomycetes studies. Planctomycetes have also never been isolated in axenic cultures from either ice or cave ecosystems.

In the descriptive microbial community analysis (Figure 3.4), it was shown that Planctomycetes were present in the ice mass of Svarthammarhola ice cave. Though varying abundances from 2,1 - 13% were shown to be present. The dominant group in all samples were the Planctomycetacia, but also Phycisphaera were documented.

In this study 11 thawed ice samples from Svarthammarhola ice cave was used as inoculum for enrichment cultures using a modified version of M30 media spanning the entire chrono sequence of the ice mass. The M30 media has previously shown to be successful in the isolation of Planctomycetes (Schlesner, 1994). The enrichments were followed closely by microscopy and 4 novel strains were obtained in pure cultures. Further, these 4 strains were subject to diphasic characterization using both molecular and conventional cultivational based techniques. Two of the strains were further used in a screening assay for bioactive molecules, together with several different Planctomycetes strains from various habitats.

## 6.1 Isolation

Four novel Planctomycetes strains were isolated from the initial enrichment cultures. The strains were isolated from enrichment cultures containing sample material from samples P1a and P6, as well as soil and organic matter from sample P2, sample P2S. Considering the abundances of Planctomycetes in the different samples (Figure 5.2), it is not surprising that we find Planctomycetes strains in samples P1a and P2S, given their relative abundances of 10,5 and 5,3%, respectively (Figure 3.4). However, in sample P6 one of the lowest abundances of Planctomycetes was recorded. Only about 2,1% of the reads were Planctomycetes. Therefore, it was unexpected that 2 of 4 strains originated from this sample. Cells with Planctomycetes-like characteristics was also observed in enrichment culture P3, where the abundance of Planctomycetes was found to be 2,1% (Figure 3.4). However, no axenic Planctomycetes culture was obtained from this enrichment culture, as no further growth was detected when the cells were transferred to fresh media.

Initially strain P2S seemed to be growing together with yeast like-cells (Figure 5.1), and in some cases the Planctomycetes cells seemed to be attached to the eukaryotic cell, almost feeding off them. However, after repeated streaking onto fresh solid media strain P2S was obtained in axenic culture.

Cells of strain P1a was not discovered in the initial enrichment culture before 173 days after the initial inoculation. When the strain first was observed, the culture was very dense and dominated by Planctomycetes cells. It was still hard to obtain them in axenic culture, as they did not respond well when supplemented with fresh media. Several different variations of M30 was tried including, M30 18% SW without ampicillin and M30 with no aged seawater added. Finally, the strain appeared in colonies on M30 18% SW gelrite plates and were further streaked onto fresh media until obtained in axenic culture.

# 6.2 Morphology

All strains displayed different internal and external morphological structure. When cultured in liquid media strain P1a appeared to be evenly suspended in the media, but in later growth stages formed small flake-like aggregates of cells that appeared grey-white in colour. In contrast strain P2S was suspended in the liquid media throughout incubation and gave the culture a transparent white colour. Strains P6.1 and P6.2 formed pink and red aggregates that gathered at the bottom of the tubes, as well as growing attached to the tubes near the surface of the liquid media. None of the other strains displayed any growth attached to the tubes when cultured in liquid media.

When grown on solid media, strain P1a formed grey-white colonies with creamy consistency. This was also true for strain P2S, except that the colour of the colonies was white. Strain P6.1 formed small pink colonies that were easy to detach from the solid media. In contrast strain P6.2, formed big red colonies that were hard to detach from the solid media, as well as hard to homogenize when transferred to liquid media.

#### 6.2.1 Strain P1a

When studied by phase contrast light microscopy, strain P1a had cells that appeared to be spherical to ovoid in shape. Strain P1a formed mainly large aggregates of cells, but swarmer cells were also observed, as well as occurrences of rosette formation and budding reproduction (Figure 5.2). Indications of budding reproduction not happening from a reproductive pole were raised during phase contrast light microscopy (Figure 5.2b). This was again observed during transmission electron microscope analysis of the strain (Figure 5.3b). This is not the first time non-polar budding reproduction has been reported in Planctomycetes (Christian Jogler, personal communication, May 10, 2017). Furthermore, TEM analyses revealed that strain P1a had highly condensed nucleotides, as well as crateriform and fibrous structures along the outer membrane (Figure 5.3d). The cytosol of the strain was situated close in proximity to the outer membrane with very thin layer of periplasm (Figure 5.3b, c and d), in contrast to what displayed by strains P6.1 and P6.2. Strain P1a exhibited large invaginations of the periplasm surrounded by a membrane (Figure 5.3c). The invagination appears as a compartmentalized structure, however because of the way the cross sections are cut,

it is more likely to be an invagination of the periplasm like described by Boedeker and collaborates (2017).

# 6.2.2 Strain P2S

Strains P2S appeared as single motile swarmer cells or in rosette formations of no more than 2-3 cells (Figure 5.4). Cells that were arranged in rosette formations seemed to be interconnected *via* tubular-like structure (Figure 5.4), possibly non-prosthecate stalks used as holdfast structures, as described by Fuerst (1995). The motile swarmer cells moved with "wriggling" motions, indicating the presence of flagella, however no such structures were observed when studied under the transmission electron microscope. The fact that strain P2S appear as single cells or in rosette formations of no more than 3 cells, as well as being motile, might explain how the strain remains suspended in liquid culture and not as aggregates as the other strains. TEM analyses of strain P2S revealed highly condensed nucleotides, surrounded by electron dense material, indicating the presence of ribosomes (Figure 5.5). The strain also displayed the same invaginations of the periplasm as strain P1a, also with a clearly defined membrane surrounding the invagination. Furthermore, strain P2S exhibited an outer membrane situated very close to the cytosol, in the same way as strain P1a.

#### 6.2.3 Strain P6.1

When observed by phase contrast light microscopy strain P6.1 showed clear signs of rosette formation and budding reproduction (Figure 5.6). The strain also exhibited motile swarmer cells, possibly daughter cells, and that the mother cells stay attached and arranged in rosette formations, as described by Fuerst (1995). The budding shown by the strain seemed to happen from a reproductive pole (Figure 5.6b). Furthermore, TEM analyses of the strain revealed that cells arranged in rosette formations were held together by holdfast structures (Figure 5.7 a and c). Budding reproduction was displayed during TEM analyses (Figure 5.7 b and d), showing budding during the later stages due to the already transferred genetic material (Lee et al., 2009). The strain also displayed highly condensed nucleotides, as well as well-defined fibrous structures. The fibrous structures (Figure 5.7d), this match what proposed by Boedeker and

collaborates (2017). Strain P6.1 displayed a large space between the outer membrane and the cytosol, the periplasm, which differs to what found in strains P1a and P2S.

# 6.2.4 Strain P6.2

Strain P6.2 displayed large, rubber-like colonies on solid media that were hard to detach. When studied under phase contrast light microscope strain P6.2 exhibit large cell aggregates, were the cells are arranged very dense (5.8). The large aggregates and the dense cell arrangement could possibly explain why colonies were hard to detach from solid media and to homogenize in liquid culture. Furthermore, phase contrast light microscopy revealed that strain P6.2 form rosette formation of several cells, as well as budding reproduction (Figure 5.8b). Swarmer cells were also observed, however, they did not appear to be motile. Transmission electron microscopy analyses revealed that strain P6.2 had highly condensed nucleotides as well as crateriform and fibrous structures (Figure 5.9). The strain also displayed large invaginations of the periplasm (Figure 5.9b), however, where strains P1a and P2S had a clearly defined membrane surrounding the invaginations, strain P6.2 have electron dense material, resembling ribosomes, surrounding its invaginations. As for strain P6.1, strain P6.2 also have a clearly defined space between the outer membrane and the cytosol. As shown by Boedeker and collaborates (2017), this area resembles the periplasm, and it appears to be larger in strains P6.1 and P6.2, than in strains P1a and P2S.

#### 6.3 Physiological Characterization

Temperature optimum and range were determined for strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2. Strain P1a was not included, because it was obtained in axenic culture at a later stage of this study. Temperature optimum for all strains were determined to be 25°C (Figure 5.10), similar to the closely related *R. obstinata* (Bondoso et al., 2015). The strains were able to grow in temperatures ranging from 5-35°C, however, strain P2S exhibited very limited growth at 35°C. The temperature range of the strains indicate that they are phychrotolerant (Morita, 1975). The strains were able to grow at temperatures both lower and higher than *R. obstinata*. Growth at low temperatures have previously been reported in several Planctomycetes including; *R. baltica* (5-30°C) (Bondoso et al., 2015), *T. sphagniphila* (6-30°C) (Kulichevskaya et al., 2012B), and *S. acidiphila* (4-33°C)

(Kulichevskaya et al., 2008). Growth at higher temperatures have also been recorded previously in Planctomycetes, ranging as high as 55°C (Giovannoni et al., 1987).

The salinity optimum of strains was determined to be 0,1% (NaCl w/v) for P6.1, between 0 and 0,1 (NaCl w/v) for P6.2, and 0,5% (NaCl w/v) for strain P2S (Figure 5.11). Strains P6.1 and P6.2 displayed a salinity growth range between 0 and 0,5% (NaCl w/v), while strain P2S were able to grow in salinity concentrations ranging from 0 to 3,5% (NaCl w/v), indicating that the three strains are halotolerant (Ollivier et al., 1994). Halotolerance in terrestrial Planctomycetes has previously been recorded including; *S. paludicola* and *S.* singulisphaera (0-0,5% NaCl w/v) (Kulichevskaya et al., 2007, 2008), *Z. Formosa* (0-0,6 NaCl w/v) (Kulichevskaya et al., 2007, 2008), *Z. Formosa* (0-0,6 NaCl w/v) (Kulichevskaya et al., 2012A). Planctomycetes with high salinity tolerance have also been recorded in *R. brasiliensis* isolated from salt pit water, able to grow in salinity concentrations of 10% NaCl (w/v) (Schlesner, 1989). The Svarthammarhola strains' tolerance towards NaCl could be caused by the use of aged seawater in the enrichment media, however it is also possible that salts were present in the cave and ice mass, especially in the soil and organic matter where strain P2S originated from.

The pH optimum for growth of strain P6.1 and P6.2 was determined to be at 7,5, while strain P2S exhibited the strongest growth when cultivated in media with pH adjusted to 8 (Figure 5.12). All strains were able to grow on all the different pH values growth were tested, hence a growth range of pH ranging from 5 to 9. The optimum and growth range of the strains indicate that they all are neutrophilic (Tortora et al., 2015). Considering the pH of the initial ice samples (Table 3.1), the pH optimum of strains P6.1 and P6.2 deviate from the pH of the initial sample. The pH of the initial sample was 6,57, however the strains might have adapted considering the pH of the enrichment media. The pH of sample P2 was 8,18, and the pH optimum for strain P2S (pH = 8) does not deviate much from this, however strain P2S was isolated from soils and organic matter in sample P2, where pH was not measured. Broad pH growth range have previously been recorded in Planctomycetes, the closely related *R. baltica* has been shown able to grow in media with pH ranging from 5,5 to 10,5.

# 6.4 Physiological Attributes

#### 6.4.1 Utilization of Carbon sources

It was shown that the Svarthammarhola strains were able to utilize a variety of carbon sources. The substrates that seemed to provide the strongest growth for the strains was D-cellobiose, D-glucose, N-acetyl-D-glucosamine and D-maltose, as well as Dgalactose for strain P1a (Table 5.1). These are all sugars based on or derived from glucose. D-Cellobiose and D- maltose are both disaccharides consisting of two glucose molecules, whereas N-acetyl-D-glucosamine is a derivative of glucose. The assimilation of these carbons has frequently been reported in Planctomycetes, including; Rhodopirellula *baltica* (Schlesner et al., 2004), *Telmatocola sphagniphila* (Kulichevskaya et al., 2012B), *Roseimaritima ulvae* and *Rubripirellula* obstinata (Bondoso et al., 2015), as well as in *Fuerstia marisgermanicae* (Kohn et al., 2016). In 2015 Bondoso and collaborates (2015) showed that *R. ulvae* was able to assimilate 15 out of the 17 carbon sources tested in this experiment. However, utilization of some of these substrates was determined by using the GN2 Microplates (Biolog, USA), which is not optimized for environmental bacteria.

The Svarthammarhola strains were also shown to assimilate sucrose, D-galactose and D-mannose (Table 5.1). Strain P2S were also able to grow on xylose derived from wood, raffinose a trisaccharide and rhamnose, a deoxy sugar, indicating the ability to assimilate complex sugars. Planctomycetes have previously been proposed to be able to assimilate complex carbon sources (Lage and Bondoso, 2012). Strains P6.1 and P6.2 also displayed growth when grown on the sugar alcohol D-mannitol which is produced by several organisms, including plants (Song and Vieille, 2009). D-Mannitol is also an isomer to sorbose, which all the strains exhibited limited growth when cultured in (Table 5.1).

#### 6.4.2 Enzymatic Activity

By using the API ZYM test strips, it was shown that the Svarthammarhola strains possessed different enzymatic activities. However, two enzymes were shown to be present in all strains, these include, Esterase lipase (C8) and Naphthol-AS-BIphosphohydrolase (Table 5.2). Otherwise alkaline phosphatase was found in all strains except P1a. Which is an enzyme common in both eukaryotes and prokaryotes and

provides a source of inorganic phosphate when the environment does not provide one (Sharma et al., 2014). Also, esterase (C4) and valine arylamidase are found in 3 of the strains (Table 4.2). Lipase (C14) was only reported in strain P1a, lipase hydrolyses lipids for nutritional purposes and are essential for intracellular processes like transport and processing of lipids (Svendsen, 2000). Strain P1a was also the only strain that were positive for acid phosphatase, which frees attached phosphoryl groups from other substances. Acid phosphatase has a low pH optimum and are used by soil microorganisms to access organically bound phosphate (Bull et al., 2002). Strains P1a's negative results for alkaline phosphatase and positive result for acid phosphatase might indicate that the strain obtains vital phosphate only from organic sources.

All strains except P2S tested negative for  $\alpha$ -glucosidase (Table 5.2), which is an enzyme that breaks down starch and disaccharides into glucose (Chiba, 1997). Considering that all strains exhibited good growth when grown in media containing disaccharides (sucrose, cellobiose and maltose) this seem a bit strange. At the same time there are other enzymes that can be used to in the hydrolysis of disaccharides like maltase and sucrase. None of the strains were positive for  $\alpha$ -mannosidase, which cleaves the  $\alpha$ form of mannose (Li, 1966), although all strains displayed growth when cultured in media containing mannose.

When compared to other Planctomycetes, the Svarthammarhola strains, seems to have a more limited enzymatic repertoire. Strain P1a had the broadest enzymatic repertoire and tested positive for 7 enzymes. *Fuerstia marisgermanicae* were positive for 11 enzymes from the API ZYM test (Kohn et al., 2016), *R. obstinata* for 7 enzymes (Bondoso et al., 2015), and *R. baltica* were positive for 13 enzymes (Schlesner et al., 2004).

# 6.4.3 Antibiotic Resistance and Sensitivity

By cultivating the Svarthammarhola strains on M30 18% SW plates with antimicrobial susceptibility disks (Oxoid), the resistance and sensitivity of the Svarthammarhola strains were displayed. Strains P1a, P6.1 and P6.2 were shown to be resistant towards 9, 8 and 9, respectively, out of the 11 antibiotics used in this experiment (Table 5.3). Strain P2S was resistant towards 5 of the antibiotics. This indicates that the strains from Svarthammarhola are Planctomycetes with resistance towards a broad spectrum

of antibiotics. Planctomycetes have previously shown to be good representatives for broad-spectrum antibiotic-resistant organisms as they are naturally resistant to some antibiotic families (Cayrou et al., 2010).

Planctomycetes has been found to be resistant towards β-lactam antibiotics (Cayrou et al., 2010), the same was true for the Svarthammarhola strains, as all of them displayed resistance towards ampicillin and penicillin G (Table 5.3). All strains were sensitive towards erythromycin which binds to the 50S unit of the bacterial rRNA and inhibits protein synthesis, as well as structural and functional processes (Trevor et al., 2015A). Furthermore, all strains except strain P1a showed sensitivity towards chloramphenicol, which is a bacteriostatic and inhibits protein synthesis by binding to the 23S and 50S rRNA, preventing peptide bond formation (Schifano et al., 2013). In 2010, Cayrou and collaborates reported that most Planctomycetes were resistant to chloramphenicol, this contradicts what found in the Svarthammarhola strains. Strains P6.1 and P6.2 were the only strains sensitive to tetracycline, which binds to the 30S rRNA and prevents the introduction of new amino acids to peptide chains, hence, inhibiting protein synthesis (Connell et al., 2003). All strains were also resistant towards streptomycin, a protein inhibitor that binds to the 16S and 30S rRNA subunit (Sharma et al., 2007), nalidixic acid, a bacteriostatic inhibiting growth by acidification or inhibition of DNA gyrase (Trevor et al., 2015B), and vancomycin, which inhibits cell wall synthesis in Gram-positive bacteria (Trevor et al., 2015C).

In this study it has been shown that the strains isolated from Svarthammarhola represents antibiotic resistance of a broad spectrum. Especially strains P1a and P6.2 are of interest, considering that they showed resistance towards 9 out of 11 antibiotics used in this study.

#### 6.5 Phylogeny

The 16S rRNA gene was sequenced for all 4 strains by using the Planctomycetes specific forward primer Pla46f (Neef et al., 1998) and the general prokaryotic reverse primer H1552r (Pantos et al., 2003). This proved successful as almost entire 16S rRNA genes was obtained for all strains. Differences in the 16S rRNA gene between the strains was displayed, as well as differences towards their closest relatives.

As shown in Table 5.4, strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 displayed 98 and 99% similarity towards one another. Despite their genetic similarities, the 3 strains showed morphological and physiological differences. The closest cultured relative of the three strains was strain Schlesner 302 (Ward et al., 1995), with similarities of 92 and 91% (Tables 5.6-8), and the strains' closest described species were *R. baltica* and *R. lusitana* (Schlesner et al., 2004; Bondoso et al., 2014), with similarities of 90%. Strain P1a showed similarities towards strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 of 87, 88 and 87%, respectively (Table 5.4). The closest cultured relative of the strain was Planctomycete strain 292 (Griepenburg et al., 1999), and the closest described species were *B. goksoyri* (Storesund and Øvreås, 2013), with a similarity of 90% (Table 5.5). Considering the proposed taxonomic boundaries for genus of cultured bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences being 94,5% (Yarza et al., 2014), strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 represent one novel genus, while strain P1a represent another novel genus.

In Figure 5.13, the maximum likelihood 16S rRNA gene phylogenetic tree shows strains P2S, P6.1 and P6.2 forming a monophyletic group together with their closest uncultured relatives, branching away from strain Schlesner 302, with a bootstrap value of 100%. Furthermore, strain P1a forms a monophyletic group together with its closest uncultured relatives, branching away from its closest cultured relatives, including *B. goksoyri*. The bootstrap value of the branch was 100%.

There are always biases included in datasets based solely on one gene. The phylogenetic tree reflects the evolution of the 16S rRNA genes but not necessary the true phylogeny of the organisms from which the genes are obtained. However, the 16S rRNA gene is considered a very slow evolving gene and is conserved across the domains (Rosello-Mora and Amann, 2001).

# 6.6 Screening for Bioactive Molecules

In this study, the ability of strains P6.1 and P6.2 to induce intermediate apoptosis in the cancerous cell line Molm13 was demonstrated (Figure 5.15). The two strains also showed low to no toxicity towards the human prostatic cancer cell line PC3 and the normal healthy rat kidney cell line NRK. The screening of bioactive molecules for these two strains were part of a project including extracts from several Planctomycetes strains (Appendix IV). When compared to the other Planctomycetes in this project, the extracts from strains P6.1 and P6.2 showed a higher toxicity towards Molm13 cells than most of the other strains' extracts. However, there were also strains that displayed higher cytotoxicity than strains P6.1 and P6.2.

Knowledge regarding bioactive substances in Planctomycetes is very limited. However, recently Planctomycetes have been recognized as important producers of bioactive compounds by *in silico* genome mining, as well as molecular screenings. In these studies, the presence of genes associated with different pathways for production of several bioactive molecules, like the antitumor compound epothilone (Donadio et al., 2007; Graça et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014; Graça et al., 2016; Ivanova et al., 2017; Vollmers et al., 2017). Therefore, it is very promising that strains P6.1 and P6.2, as well as several of the strains included in Appendix IV, showed significant cytotoxic activity towards the Molm13 cells.

The cytotoxicity the extracts from strains P6.1 and P6.2 showed against Molm13 cells (Figure 5.15) is especially interesting and can provide indication of how the strains interact in the microbial ecosystem of the ice mass in Svarthammarhola ice cave. Considering that the strains were rather slow growing, the ability to produce bioactive compounds that is cytotoxic to other cells may provide an advantage for the strains in their natural habitat. In that way they might be able to compete with other faster growing heterotrophic bacteria for resources and habitat.

# 6. Conclusion

In this study it has been shown that Planctomycetes are present in the ice mass of Svarthammarhola ice cave. Four novel Planctomycetes strains were obtained from the ice and their characteristics and phylogenetic relationship propose that Planctomycetes are indigenous in the cave microbiome. Whether the strains were active in the ice mass is hard to say, but they are definitely alive and conserved. By screening two of the strains' extracts for bioactive molecules it has been shown that they produce secondary metabolites displaying cytotoxicity. These metabolites can possibly be used actively by the strains to defend their habitats and resources towards other faster growing heterotrophic bacteria. As these compounds can be used for medical purposes, this study shows the importance of targeting extreme and remote habitats, like ice caves, as a source for novel bacteria with potential of biotechnological applications. It is important to keep studying such environments, as knowledge regarding the ecology, metabolism and function of inhabiting organisms can lead to discoveries of great societal value.

# 7. Suggestions for Future Work

In future studies of the Svarthammarhola strains, their genomes should be further investigated. A complete genome sequencing of the strains would provide insights to their metabolic features as well as their functionality. Furthermore, physiological characterization regarding growth conditions was not provided for strain P1a. This should be further tested in order to provide a more thorough characterization. It would also be interesting to cultivate the strains at temperatures lower than 5°C, and even lower than 0°C, to see if the strains can grow in conditions similar to that in frozen ice. The strains should also be examined by scanning electron microscopy, to further investigate on the presence of flagella, as well as gaining further insights to the budding reproduction process. Strain P1a displayed indications of budding occurring from the side of the cell, this needs to be further investigated. It would also be interesting to elucidate on the strains resistance and sensitivity towards antibiotics, by conducting the same experiments using other antibiotics.

Further studies should also target the bioactive compounds found in the Svarthammarhola strains. In that way, gaining insights to which molecules are causing the cytotoxicity displayed towards cancerous cell lines used in this study.

# Supplementary Figures

	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	50
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2	CGCACACCOCCERA COCCCERA OCOCCCCCA OCRAOCOCCCCA	GGC AC AGC A A OGC AC AGC A A OGC AC AGC A A OGC AC AGC A A			GGLCLGGLA GCACOGOCA GCACOGOCA GCACOGOCA			AA ACCCA AA ACCCA AA ACCCA AA ACCCA AA ACCCA	
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2	AA OCTOTCATICO AATOGTOTCATICO AATOGTOTCATICO AATOGTOTCATICO AATOGTOTCATICO	120 CCCC AGC ADC CCCC AGC ACC CCCC AGC ACC CCCC AGC ACC					170 CCAAQCCAA CCAAQCCAAC CCAAQCCAAC CCAAQCCAAC	LDO CATGOOTAOC CATGOOTAOC CATGOOTAOC	190 OCOTOTOACAC OCOTOTOACAC OCOTOTOACACAC
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2		220 ACTO ACACAC ACTO ACACAC ACTO ACACAC ACTO ACACAC ACTO ACACAC							
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2				340 0 A GOC A 2 0 A AGOC A A 0 A AGOC A A 0 A AGOC A A 0 A AGOC A A					390 CAGCAAG <mark>E</mark> ACG CAGCAAGCACG CAGCAAGCACG CAGCAAGCACG
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2	410 Алоттестреслосл Алоттестреслосл Алоттестреслосл Алоттестреслосл		430 ACCAACCO ACCAACCO ACCAACCO ACCAACCO	440 CCCAACOTTA CCCAACOTTA CCCAACOTTA CCAAACOTTA					450 OFALOTCAGO ACAGOTCAGO ACAGOTCAGO
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2			530		550 CAQOCACA CAQOCACA CAQOCACA CAQOCACA	SEO ACAGORIAGO ACAGORICAGO ACAGORICAGO ACAGORICAGO			
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2					KEO ACOCTCAGCA ACOCTCAGCA ACOCTCAGCA ACOCTCAGCA				490 Accccoc Ad Accccoc Ad Accccoc Ad Accccoc Ad
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2				740 CALADOTTC CACALCO CACALCO CACALCO		740 CCAAAGTGT CCAAAGTGT CCAAAGTGT	770 AAGTOCTCCO AAGTOCTCCO AAGTOCTCCO		750 ATOGTCOCAAG ATOGTCOCAAG ATOGTCOCAAG ATOGTCOCAAG
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2	ето халастская слат аластская слат аластская слат аластская слат		830 ACACAAGCO ACACAAGCO ACACAAGCO ACACAAGCO	E40 DO CONCATO DO CONCATO DO CONCATO DO CONCATO			070 ССААСААСС ССААСААСС ССААСААСС ССААСААСС		
P1a P25 P6.1 P6.2			530 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	940 DOAACOTOCA AACTTOCA AACTTOCA AACTTOCA		SCO ATGO CTOTO ATGO CTOTO ATGO CTOTO ATGO CTOTO	570 dickered dickered dickered dickered dickered	SSO CTCCTCACA CTCCTCACA CTCCTCACA CTCCTCACA	
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2							1070 GOTOTARAC GOTOTARAC GOTOTARAC GOTOTARAC		1050 DOGCATCACO DOGCATCACO GOGCATCACO GOGCATCACO
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2	1110 GTCCTCATGGCCTTT GTCCTCATGGCCTTT GTCCTCATGGCCTTT	1120 ATCACTIGGG ATCACTAGGG ATCACTAGGG ATCACTAGGG	1130 TGCACACG TGCACACG TGCACACG TGCACACG	1140 CCTACAATGO CCTACAATGO CCTACAATGO CCTACAATGO	1150 GGCTACAAA GGCATACAAA GGCATACAAA GGCATACAAA	1160 GGCAAGCAA GGCAAGCAAA GGCAAGCAAA GGCAAGCAA		1180 CAGCAAA GCAGCAAAC GCAGCAAAC GCAGCAAAC	1190 CCAAAAAGTGT CCAAAAAGTGT CCAAAAAGTGT CCAAAAAGTGT
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2	1210 CAGTTCGCATTGCAG CAGTTCGCATTGCAG CAGTTCGCATTGCAG CAGTTCGCATTGCAG	1220 GOTGCAACTO GOTGCAACTO GOTGCAACTO GOTGCAACTO	1230 COTGCATCA COTGCATCA COTGCATCA COTGCATCA COTGCATCA	1240 AGOTGCAATC AGTTGCAATC AGTTGCAATC	1250 GCTAGTAATO GCTAGTAATO GCTAGTAATO GCTAGTAATO		1270 ATACCCCCGT ATACCCCCGT ATACCCCCGT ATACCCCCGCGT	1280 CAATGTGTTT CAATGTGTTT CAATGTGTTT CAATGTGTTT	1290 CTCAGCCTTGT CTCAGCCTTGT CTCAGCCTTGT CTCAGCCTTGT
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2	1310 ACCOCCCOTCAAGCO ACCOCCCOTCAAGCO ACCOCCCOTCAAGCO ACCOCCCOTCAAGCO	1320 ACCAAACTCO ACCAAACTCO ACCAAACTCO ACCAAACTCO		1340 AAGCCCCCGT AAGTCGCTAA AAGTCGCTAA AAGTCGCTAA	1350 GCTAACCCGC GCTAACTCGC GCTAACTCGC GCTAACTCGT	1360 AAGGCA-GCA AACACAGGCA AAG CAGGCA AAG CAGGCA	1370 GCCGTCTAGA GGCGCCCAAG GGCGCCCAAG GGCGCCCAAG	1380 СТСААСТССО СТСААСТССА СТСААСТССА СТСААСТССА	1390 TCATTGGCACT CAATTGGCACT CAATTGGCACT
P1a P2S P6.1 P6.2	CG CGTAACAA CGTAACAAG								

**Supplementary Figure 1.1:** Alignment of 16S rRNA gene of strains P1a, P2S, P6.1 and P6.2. Alignment was performed in the BioEdit software (Hall, 1999; Hall 2007) using ClustalW.

# References

Adams, H.E., Crump, B.C., Kling, G.W., 2014. Metacommunity dynamics of bacteria in an arctic lake: the impact of species sorting and mass effects on bacterial production and biogeography. Front. Microbiol. 5, pp. 1-10.

Alanis, A. J., 2005. Resistance to antibiotics: are we in the post-antibiotic era?. Arch. Med. Res. 36:6, pp. 697-705.

Andersson, D. I., 2003. Persistence of antibiotic resistant bacteria. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 6:5, pp. 452-456.

Anesio, A.M., Laybourn-Parry, J., 2012. Glaciers and ice sheets as a biome. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 27, pp. 219-225.

Antranikian, G., Breves, R., Janßen, F., Qoura, F. M., 2004. Pullulanases from psychrophilic organisms. Patent Application WO2006032477A1, DE102004046116A1.

Awazu, N., Shodai, T., Takakura, H., Kitagawa, M., Mukai, H., Kato, I., 2011. Microorganismderived psychrophilic endonuclease. Granted Patent US8034597B2.

Baastad, L., 2006. Ventilasjonseffekter og Mikroklima i Svarthammarhola ved Fauske (Ventilation Effects and Microclimate in Svarthammarhola at Fauske) (M. Sc. Thesis). University of Bergen.

Barroca, M., Santos, G., Gerday, C., Collins, T., 2017. Biotechnological Aspects of Cold-Active enzymes. In: Margesin, R. (Ed.) Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology, 2nd Edition. Springer Nature, Switzerland, pp. 461-475.

Barton, H. A., 2006. Introduction to cave microbiology: A review for the non-specialist. J. Cave Karst Stud. 68, pp. 43-54.

Barton, H. A., Northup, D. E., 2007. Geomicrobiology of caves: Past, current and future perspectives. J cave Karst Stud, 69, pp. 163-178.

Barton, H. A., 2015. Starving artists: bacterial oligotrophic heterotrophy in caves. In: Engel, A. S. (Ed.), Microbial Life of Cave Systems, Walter de Gruyter, Germany (2015), pp. 79-95.

Bengtsson, M. M., Øvreås, L., 2010. Planctomycetes dominate biofilms on surfaces of the kelp *Laminaria hyperborean*. BMC Microbiology. 10:261.

Boedeker, C., Schüler, M., Reintjes, G., Jeske, O., van Teeseling, M. C. F., Jogler, M., Rast, P., Borchert, D., Devos, D. P., Kucklick, M., Schaffer, M., Kolter, R., van Niftrik, L., Engelmann, S., Amann, R., Rohde, M., Engelhard, H., Jogler, C., 2017. Determining the bacterial cell biology of Planctomycetes. Nat. Commun. 8, doi:10.1038/ncomms14853

Boetius, A., Anesio, A. M., Deming, J. W., Mikucki, J. A., Rapp, J. Z., 2015. Microbial ecology of the cryosphere: sea ice and glacial habitats. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 13, pp. 677-690.

Bondoso, J., Albuquerque, L., Nobre, M. F., Lobo-da-Cunha, A., da Costa, M. S., Lage, O. M., 2015. *Roseimaritima ulvae* gen. nov., sp. nov., and *Rubripirellula obstinata* gen. nov., sp. nov., tow novel planctomycetes isolated from the epiphytic community of macroalgae. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 38:1, pp. 8-15.

Borchert, E., Jackson, S. A., O'Gara, F., Dobson, A. D. W., 2017. Psychrophiles as a Source of Novel Antimicrobials. In: Margesin, R. (Ed.) Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Springer Nature, Switzerland, pp. 527-540

Borsodi, A. K., Knáb, M., Krett, G., Makk, J., Márialigeti, K., Eröss, A., Mádl-Szönyi, J., 2012. Biofilm Bacterial Communities Inhabiting the Cave Walls of the Buda Thermal Karst System, Hungary. J. Geomicrob. J. 29:7, pp. 611-627.

Boston, P. J., Spilde, M. N., Northup, D. E., Melim, L. A., Soroka, D. S., Kleina, L. G., Lavoie, K. H., Hose, L. D., Mallory, L. M., Dahm, C. N., Crossey, L. J., Schelble, R. T., 2001. Cave Biosignature Suites: Microbes, Minerals, and Mars. Astrobiology. 1:1, pp. 25-55.

Bredholt, H., Fjærvik, E., Johnsen, G., Zotchev, S. B., 2008. Actinomycetes from Sediments in the Trondheim Fjord, Norway: Diversity and Biological Activity. Marine Drugs. 6:1, pp. 12-24.

Brigmon, R. L., Martin, H. W., Morris, T. L., Bitton, G., Zam, S. G., 1994. Biogeochemical ecology of Thiothrix spp. In underwater limestone caves. Geomicrobiol J, 12, pp. 141-159.

Brochier, C., Philippe, H., 2002. Phylogeny: A non-hyperthermophilic ancestor for Bacteria. Nature. 417, p. 244.

Bull, H., Murray, P. G., Thomas, D., Fraser, A. M., Nelson, P. N., 2002. Acid phosphatases. Mol. Pathol. 55:2.

Burke, C., Steinberg, P., Rusch, D., Kjelleberg, S., Thomas, T., 2011. Bacterial community assembly based on functional genes rather than species. PNAS. 108:34, pp. 14288-14293.

Casanueva, A., Tuffin, M., Cary, C., Cowan, D. A., 2010. Molecular adaptations to psychrophily: the impact of 'omics technologies. Trends. Microbiol. 18, pp. 374-381.

Caumartin, V., 1963. Review of the microbiology of underground environments. Nat Speleol Soc Bull, 25, pp. 1-14.

Caumartin, V., 1968. La corrosion microbienne dans un reseau karstique. Proceedings of the 4th Internation Congress of Speleology in Yugoslavia, 1965. Ljubljana: Federation Yougoslave de Speleologie, pp. 31-38.

Cayrou, C., Raoult, D., Drancourt, M., Broad-spectrum antibiotic resistance of Planctomycetes organisms determined by Etest. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 65:10, pp. 2119-2122.

Celik, A., Yetis, G., 2012. An unusually cold active nitroreductase for prodrug activations. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 20:11, pp. 3540-3550.

Cheeptham, N., 2013. Advances and challenges in studying cave microbial diversity. In: Cheeptham, N. (Ed.), Caves Microbiome: A novel Resource for Drug Discovery, Springer Briefs in Microbiology (2013), pp. 1-34.

Chen, Q., Ni, J., Ma, T., Liu, T., Zheng, M., 2015. Bioaugmentation treatment of municipal wastewater with heterotrophic-aerobic nitrogen removal bacteria in a pilot-scale SBR. Bioresour. Technol. 183, pp. 25-32.

Chiba, S., 1997. Molecular Mechanism in alpha-Glucosidase and Glucoamylase. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry. 61:8, pp. 1233-1239.

Chiellini, C., Iannelli, R., Modeo, L., Bianchi, V., Petroni, G., 2012. Biofouling of reverse osmosis membranes used in river water purification for drinking purposes: analysis of microbial populations. 28:9, pp. 969-984.

Cohen-Bazire G., Sistrom, W. R., Stanier, Y., 1957. Kinetic studies of pigment synthesis by nonsulfur purple bacteria. J Cell and Comp Physiol. 49, pp. 25–68.

Connell, S. R., Tracz, D. M., Nierhaus, K. H., Taylor, D. E., 2003. Ribosomal protection proteins and their mechanism of tetracycline resistance. Antimicrob. Agents. Chemother. 47:12, pp. 3675-3681.

Cowan, D. A., 2009. Cryptic microbial communities in Antarctic deserts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 106, pp. 19749-19750.

Culver, D. C., Pipan, T., 2009. The Biology of Caves and Other Subterranean Habitats. Oxford University Press.

D'Amico, S., Collins, T., Marx, J. C., Feller, G., Gerday, C., 2006. Psychrophilic microorganisms: challenges for life. EMBO reports. 7:4, pp. 385-389.

D'Costa, V. M., King, C. R., Kalan, L., Morar, M., Sung, W. W. L., Schwarz, C., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Calmels, F., Debruyne, R., Golding, G. B., Poinar, H. N., Wright, G. D., 2011. Antibiotic resistance is ancient. Nature. 477, pp. 457-461.

De Maayer, P., Anderson, D., Cary, C., Cowan, D. A., 2014. Some like it cold: understanding the survival strategies of psychrophiles. EMBO reports. E201338170, pp. 508-517.

De Mandal, S., Chatterjee, R., Kumar, N. S., 2012. Dominant bacterial phyla in caves and their predicted functional roles in C and N cycle. BMC Microbiol. 17:90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-017-1002-x</u>

Dedysh, S. N., Kulichevskaya, I. S., 2013. Acidophilic planctomycetes: expanding the horizons of new planctomycete diversity. In: Fuerst, J. A. (Ed.) Planctomycetes: Cell Structure, Origins and Biology. Humana Press, New York, pp. 141-164.

Deming, J.W., 2002. Psychrophiles and Polar regions. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 5, pp. 301-309. Devos, D. P., 2014. Re-interpretation of the evidence for the PVC cell plan supports a Gramnegative origin. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek. 105, pp. 271-274.

Devos, D. P., Reynaud, E. G., 2010. Evolution. Intermediate steps. Science. 330:6008, pp. 1187-1188.

Dieser, M., Nocker, A., Priscu, J.C., Foreman, C.M., 2010. Viable microbes in ice: application of molecular assays to McMurdo Dry Valley lake ice communities. Antarctic Science, 22, pp. 470-476.

Donadio, S., Monciardini, P., Sosio, M., 2007. Polyketide synthases and nonribosomal peptide synthetases: the emerging view from bacterial genomics. Nat. Prod. Rep. 24, pp. 1073-1109.

Dudich, E., 1932. Biologie der aggteleker tropfstainhohle «Baradla» in ungaarn. Speläol Mon (Vienna), 13, p. 246.

Elshahed, M. S., Youssef, N. H., Luo, Q., Najar, F. Z., Roe, B. A., Sisk, T. M., Bühring, S. I., Hinrichs, K. U., Krumholz, L. R., 2007. Phylogenetic and metabolic diversity of Planctomycetes from anaerobic, sulphide- and sulfur-rich Zodletone Spring, Oklahoma. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73:15, pp. 4707-4716.

Engel, A, S., 2015. Bringing Microbes into Focus for Speleology: An Introduction. In: Engel, A. S. (Ed.) Microbial Life of Cave Systems. Walter de Gruyter, Germany, pp. 1-14.

Ezhov, Y. A., 1990. Snow caves. Problems of geometeorology and accumulation of winter cold, pp. 35-37. Sverdlovsk (in Russian).

Faria, M., Bordin, N., Kizina, J., Harder, J., Devos, D., Lage, O. M., 2017. *Planctomycetes* attached to algal surfaces: Insight into their genomes. Genomics. Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2017.10.007</u>

Faust, B., 1949. The formation of saltpeter in caves. Nat Speleol Soc Bull, 25, pp. 17-23.

Felip, M., Sattler, B., Psenner, R., Catalan, J., 1995. Highly-active microbial communities in the ice and snow cover of high-mountain lakes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61, pp. 2394-2401.

Feller, G., Gerday, C., 2003. Psychrophilic enzymes: hot topics in cold adaptations. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 1:3, pp. 200-208.

Feller, G., 2013. Psychrophilic Enzymes: From Folding to Function and Biotechnology. Scientifica. 2013, pp. 1-28.

Ford, D. C., Williams, P. W., 1989. Karst Geomorphology and Hydrology. Unwin Hyman, London 601 p.

Ford, D. C., Williams, P., 2007. Karst Hydrology and Geomorphology: Wiley.

Fornbacke, M., Clarsund, M., 2013. Cold-adapted proteases as an emerging class of therapeutics. Infect. Dis. Ther. 2:1, pp. 15-26.

Forterre, P., Gribeldo, S., 2010. Bacteria with a eukaryotic touch: A glimpse of ancient evolution?. PNAS. 107:29, pp. 12739-12740.

Franzmann, P. D., Skerman, V. B., 1984. Gemmata obscuriglobus, a new genus and species of the budding bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 50, pp. 261-268.

Fuerst, J. A., Sambhi, S. K., Paynter, J. L., Hawkins, J. A., Atherton, J. G., 1991. Isolation of a bacterium resembling *Pirellula* species from primary tissue culture if the giant tiger prawn (*Penaeus monodon*). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57, pp. 3127-3134.

Fuerst, J. A., 1995. The planctomycetes: emerging models for microbial ecology, evolution and cell biology. Microbiology. 141, pp. 1493-1506.

Fuerst, J. A., Gwilliam, H. G., Lindsay, M., Lichanska, A., Belcher, C., Vickers, J. E., Hugenholtz, P., 1997. Isolation and molecular identification of planctomycete bacteria from postlarvae of the giant tiger prawn Penaeus monodon. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63:1, pp. 254-262.

Fuerst, J. A., Sagulenko, E., 2011. Beyond the bacterium: planctomycetes challenge our concepts of microbial structure and function. Nat. Rev. 9, pp. 403-413.

Fuerst, J. A., 2017. Chapter 1 – Planctomycetes – New Models for Microbial Cells and Activities. In: Kurtböke, I. (Eds.) Microbial Resources: From Functional Existence in Nature to Applications. Elsevier, pp. 1-27.

Fukanaga, Y., Kurahashi, M., Sakiyama, Y., Ohuchi, M., Yokota, A., Harayama, S., 2009.Phycisphaera mikurensis gen. nov., sp. Nov., isolated from a marine alga, and proposal of Phycisphaeraceae fam. Nov., Phycisphaerales ord. nov. and Phycisphaerae classis nov. in the phylum Planctomycetes. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 55:4, pp. 267-275.

Ghosh, S, Kuisiene, N., Cheeptham, N., 2017. The cave microbiome as a source for drug discovery: Reality or pipe dream?. Biochemical Pharmacology vol. 134, pp. 18-34.

Gimesi, N., 1924. Hydrobiologiai Tanulmanyok (Hydrobiologische Studien). I: Planctomyces bekefii Gim. nov. gen. et sp. [in Hungarian, with German translation]. Budapest: Kiadja a Magyar Ciszterci Rend.

Giovannoni, S. J., Schabtach, E., Castenholtz, R. W., 1987. *Isosphaera pallida*, gen. nov., sp. nov., a gliding, budding eubacterium from hot springs. Arch. Microbiol. 147, pp. 276-284. Glöckner, F. O., Kube, M., Bauer, M., Teeling, H., Lombardot, T., Ludwig, W., Gade, D., Beck, A., Borzym, K., Heitmann, K., Rabus, R., Schlesner, H., Amann, R., Reinhardt, R., 2003. Complete genome sequence of the marine planctomycete *Pirellula* sp. strain 1. PNAS. 100:14, pp. 8298-8303.

Graça, A. P., Bondoso, J., Gaspar, H., Xavier, J. R., Monteiro, M. C., de la Cruz, M., Oves-Costales, D., Vicente, F., Lage, O. M., 2013. Antimicrobial Activity of Heterotrophic Bacterial Communities from the Marine Sponge Erylus discophorus (Astrophorida Geodiidae). PLOS ONE. 8: e78992.

Graça, A. P., Calisto, R., Lage, O. M., 2016. Planctomycetes as Novel Source of Bioactive Molecules. Front. Microbiol. 7, p. 1241.

Griepenburg, U., Ward-Rainey, N., Mohamed, S., Schlesner, H., Marxsen, H., Rainey, F. A., Stackebrandt, E., Auling, G., 1999. Phylogenetic diversity, polyamine pattern and DNA base composition of members of the order Planctomycetales. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 49:2, pp. 689-696.

Gunde-Cimerman, N., Wagner, D., Häggblom, M., 2012. Polar and alpine microbiology. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 82, pp. 215-216.

Hall, T. A., 1999. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucl. Acids. Symp. Ser. 41, pp. 95-98.

Hall, T. A., 2007. BioEdit: Ibis Biosciences, Carlsbad (Accessible at: http://www.mbio.ncse.edu/BioEdit/BioEdit.html).

Hall B. G, Acar H, Nandipati A, Barlow M (2014) Growth Rated Made Easy. Molecular Biology and Evolution. 31:1, pp. 232-238.

Heap, D., 1970. Report of the Speleological Expedition to Arctic Norway 1970. William Hulme's Grammar School, Manchester. p. 21.

Heron, M., Anderson, R. N., 2016. Changes in the Leading Cause of Death: Recent Patterns in Heart Disease and Cancer Mortality. NCHS Data Brief No. 254.

Hess, W. H., 1900. The origin of nitrates in cavern earths. J Geol, 8, pp. 129-134.

Hillebrand-Voiculescu, A., Rusu, A., Itcus, C., Perşoiu, A., Brad, T., Pascu, D., Ardelean, I., Onac, B.P., Purcarea, C., 2013. Bacterial 16S rRNA gene clone library from recent ice stalagmites of Scărișoara cave. Romanian Journal of Biochemistry. 50, pp. 109-118.

Hillebrand-Voiculescu, A., Itcus, C., Ardelean, I., Pascu, M.D., Perşoiu, A., Rusu, A., Brad T., Popa, E., Onac, B.P., Purcarea C., 2014. Searching for cold-adapted microorganisms in the underground glacier of Scărișoara ice cave, Romania. Acta Carsological. 43, pp. 319-329.

Hirsch, P., 1972. Two Identical Genera of Budding and Stalked Bacteria: Planctomyces Gimesi 1924 and Blastocaulis Henrici and Johnson 1935. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 22, pp. 107-111.

Høeg, O. A., 1946. Cyanophyceae and bacteria in calcareous sediments in the interior of limestone caves in Nord-Rana, Norway. Nytt Magazin for Naturvidenskapene, 85, pp. 99-104.

Hubbard, D. A., Herman, J. S., Bell, P. E., 1986. The role of sulphide oxidation in the genesis of Cesspool Cave, Virginia, USA. In: 9th International Congress of Speleology, Barcelona, Spain, 1986.

Huston, A. L., 2008. Biotechnological aspects of cold-adapted enzymes. In: Margesin, R., Schinner, F., Marx, J. C., Gerday, C., (Eds.) Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology. Springer, Berlin, pp 347–364.

Imhoff, J. F., Labes, A., Wiese, J., 2011. Bio-mining the microbial treasures of the ocean: New natural products. Biotechnology Advance. Elsevier, vol. 29:5, pp. 468-482.

Iţcuş, C., Pascu, M.-D., Brad, T., Perşoiu, A., Purcarea C., 2016. Diversity of cultured bacteria from the perennial ice block of Scărişoara Ice Cave, Romania. International Journal of Speleology. 45:1, pp. 89-100.

Ivanova, A. A., Naumoff, D. G., Miroshnikov, K. K., Liesack, W., Dedysh, S. N., 2017. Comparative Genomics of Four Isosphaeraceae Planctomycetes: A Common Pool of Plasmids and Glycoside Hydrolase Genes Shared by Paulidisphaera borealis PX4(T), Isosphaera pallida IS1B(T), Singulisphaera acidiphila DSM 18658(T), and Strain SH-PL62. Front. Microbiol. 8, p. 412.

Jermy, A., 2010. Evolution: bacterial endocytosis uncovered. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8, p. 534.

Jeske, O., Jogler, M., Petersen, J., Sikorski, J., Jogler, C., 2013. From genome mining to phenotypic microarrays: Planctomycetes as source for novel bioactive molecules. Antonie Van Leewuenhoek. 104:4, pp. 551-567.

Jeske, O., Schüler, M., Schumann, P., Schneider, A., Boedeker, C., Jogler, M., Bollschweiler, D., Rohde, M., Mayer, C., Engelhardt, H., Spring, S., Jogler, C., 2015. Planctomycetes do possess a peptidoglycan cell wall. Nat. Com. 6, doi:10.1038/ncomms8116

Jeske, O., Surup, F., Ketteniss, M., Rast, P., Förster, B., Jogler, M., Wink, J., Jogler, C., 2016. Developing Techniques for the Utilization of Planctomycetes As Producers of Bioactive Molecules. Front. Microbiol. 7,1242.

Jia, F., Wan, Y., Jin, W., (Unpublished). Bacterial diversity of soil samples from the Yellow River Delta. Biotechnology Research Institute, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences.

Jogler, C., 2014. The bacterial 'mitochondrium'. Mol. Microbiol. 94:4, pp. 751-755.

Jogler, C., Waldman, J., Huang, X., Jogler, M., Glöckner, F. O., Mascher, T., Kolter, R., 2012. Identification of Proteins Likely To Be Involved in Morphogenesis, Division, and Signal Transduction in *Planctomycetes* by Comparative Genomics. J. Bacteriol. 194:23, pp. 6419-6430.

Jun, S. R., Sims, G. E., Wu, G. A., Kim, S. H., 2010. Whole-proteome phylogeny of prokaryotes by feature frequency profiles: an alignment-free method with optimal feature resolution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 107, pp. 133-138.

Kamneva, O. K., Liberles, D. A., Ward, N. L., 2010. Genome-wide influence of indel Substitutions on evolution of bacteria of the PVC superphylum, revealed using a novel computational method. Genome Biol. Evol. 2, pp. 870-886. Karan, R., Capes, M. D., Dassarma, S., 2012. Function and biotechnology of extremophilic enzymes in low water activity. Aquat Biol 8:1. doi:10.1186/2046-9063-8-4.

Kartal, B., de Almeida, N. M., Maalcke, W. J., Op den Camp, H. J. M., Jetten, M. S. M., Keltjens, J. T., 2013. How to make a living from anaerobic ammonium oxidation. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, vol. 37:3, pp. 428-461.

Kartal, B., van Niftrik, L., Keltjens, J. T., Op den Camp, H. J., Jetten, M. S., 2012. Anammoxgrowth physiology, cell biology, and metabolism. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 60, pp. 211-262.

Kern, Z., Persoiu, A., 2013. Cave ice – the imminent loss of untapped mid-latitude cryospheric palaeoenvironmental archives. Quaternary Science Reviews, Elsevier. 67, pp. 1-7.

Kim, J. S., Crowley, D. E., 2007. Microbial Diversity in Natural Asphalts of the Rancho La Brea Tar Pits. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73:14, pp. 4579-4591.

Kim, J. W., Brawley, S. H., Prochnik, S., Chovatia, M., Grimwood, J., Jenkins, J., LaButti, K., Mavromatis, K., Nolan, M., Zane, M., Schmutz, J., Stiller, J. W., Grossman, A. R., 2016. Genome Analysis of Planctomycetes Inhabiting Blades of Red Alga *Porphyra umbilicalis*. PLoS One. 11:3, e0151883.

Kohn, T., Heuer, A., Jogler, M., Vollmers, J., Boedeker, C., Bunk, B., Rast, P., Borchert, D., Glöckner, I., Freese, H. M., Klenk, H. P., Overmann, J., Kaster, A. K., Rohde, M., Wiegand, S., Jogler, C., 2016. *Fuerstia marisgermanicae* gen. nov., sp. Nov., an Unusual Member of the Phylum Planctomycetes from the German Wadden Sea. Front. Microbiol. 7:2079.

König, H., Schlesner, H., Hirsch, P., 1984. Cell wall studies on budding bacteria of the *Planctomyces/Pasteuria* group and on a *Prosthecomicrobium* sp. Arch. Microbio. 138, pp. 200-205.

Kotlyakov, V. M., 1984. Glaciological Glossary. GIMZ, Leningrad. p. 528. (in Russian).

Kruber, A. A., 1915. Karst area of Mountain Crimea, Moscow. p. 319 (in Russian).

Kulichevskaya, I. S., Ivanova, A. O., Belova, S. E., Baulina, O. I., Bodelier, P. L. E., Rijpstra, W. I. C., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., Zavarzin, G. A., Dedysh, S. N., 2007. *Schlesneria paludicola* gen. nov., sp. nov., the first acidophilic member of the order Planctomycetales, from Sphagnum-dominated boreal wetlands. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 57 (Pt. 11), pp. 2680-2687.

Kulichevskaya, I. S., Ivanova, A. O., Baulina, O. I., Bodelier, P. L. E., Sinnighe Damsté, J. S., Dedysh, S. N., 2008. *Singulisphaera acidiphila* gen. nov., sp. Nov., a non-filamentous, *Isosphaera*-like planctomycete from acidic northern wetlands. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 58, pp. 1186-1193.

Kulichevskaya, I. S., Baulina, O. L., Bodelier, P. L. E., Rijpstra, W. I. C., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., Dedysh, S. N., 2009. *Zavarzinella Formosa* gen. nov., sp. Nov., a novel stalked, *Gemmata*-like planctomycete from a Siberian peat bog. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 59, pp. 357-364.

Kulichevskaya, I. S., Detkova, E. N., Bodelier, P. L. E., Rijpstra, W. I. C., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., Dedysh, S. N., 2012A. *Singulisphaera rosea* sp. nov., a planctomycete from acidic *Sphagnum* peat, and emended description of the genus *Singulisphaera*. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 62, pp. 118-123.

Kulichevskaya, I. S., Serkebaeva, Y. M., Kim, Y., Rijpstra, W. I., Sinninghe Damsté, J., Liesack, W., Dedysh, S. N., 2012B. Telmatocola sphagniphila gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel dendriform

planctomycete from northern wetlands. Front. Microbiol. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00146</u>

Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Tamura, K., 2015. MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 7.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution (Submitted).

Lage, O. M., Bondoso, J., 2011. *Planctomycetes* diversity associated with macroalgae. FEMS Microbiology Ecology. 78:2, pp. 366-375.

Lage, O. M., Bondoso, J., 2012. Bringing *Planctomycetes* into pure culture. Front. Microbiol. 3, p. 405.

Lage, O. M., Bondoso, J., 2014. Planctomycetes and macroalgae, a striking association. Front. Microbiol. 5, p. 267.

Lanoil, B., Skidmore, M., Priscu, J.C., Han, S., Foo, W., Vogel, S.W., Tulaczyk, S., Engelhardt, H., 2009. Bacteria beneath the West Antarctic ice sheet. Environ. Microbiol. 11, pp. 609-615.

Lapanje, A., Wimmersberger, C., Furrer, G., Brunner, I., Frey, B., 2012. Pattern of elemental release during the granite dissolution can be changed by aerobic heterotrophic bacterial strains isolated from Damma Glacier (central Alps) deglaciated granite sand. Microb. Ecol. 63, pp. 865-882.

Lauritzen, S. E., Baastad, L., Engelien, J., (2018) Ice Caves, Chap. 23 Norway Fennoscandia and the arctic. In: Persoiu, A., Lauritzen, S. E. (Eds.) Ice Caves. Elsiever, pp. 479-472.

Lavoie, K. H., 2015. "A Grand, Gloomy, and Peculiar Place" microbiology at the Mammoth Cave region. In: Engel, A. S. (Ed.), Microbial Life of Cave Systems, Walter de Gruyter, Germany, pp. 47-78.

Leaver, M., Dominguez-Cuevas, P., Coxhead, J. M., Daniel, R. A., Errington, J., 2009. Life without a wall or division machine in *Bacillus subtilis*. Nature. 457, pp. 849-853.

Lee N. M., Meisinger D. B., Aubrecht R, et al. (2012). Caves and Karst Environments. In: Bell E. M. (Ed.) Life at Extremes; Environments, Organisms and Strategies for Survival, Oxfordshire, UK, CAB Internation, pp. 320-344.

Lee, K. C., Webb, R. I. Fuerst, J. A., 2009. The cell cycle of the planctomycetes *Gemmata obscuriglobus* with respect to cell compartmentalization. BMC Cell Biol. 10:4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-10-4

Li, D., Qi, R., Yang, M., Zhang, Y., Yu, T., 2011. Bacterial community characteristics under long-term antibiotic selection pressures. Water Res. 45:18, pp. 6063-6073.

Li, Y. T., 1966. Presence of  $\alpha$ -D-Mannosidic Linkage in Glycoproteins. Liberation of D-mannose from various glycoproteins by  $\alpha$ -mannosidase isolated from jack bean meal. J. Biol. Chem. 241:4, pp. 1010-1012.

Liesack, W., König, H., Schlesner, H., Hirsch, P., 1986. Chemical composition of the peptidoglycan-free cell envelopes of budding bacteria of the *Pirella/Planctomyces* group. Arch. Microbiol. 145, pp. 361-365.

Lindsay, M. R., Webb, R. I., Fuerst, J. A., 1997. Pirellulosomes: a new type of membranebounded cell compartment in planctomycete bacteria of the genus *Pirellula*. Microbiology. 143, pp. 739-748. Lonhienne, T. G., Sagulenko, E., Webb, R. I., Lee, K. C., Franke, J., Devos, D. P., Nouwens, A., Carroll, B. J., Fuerst, J. A., 2010. Endocytosis-like protein uptake in the bacterium Gemmata obscuriglobus. Proc. Nat. Sci. USA. 107:27, pp. 12883-12888.

Luetscher, M., Jeannin, P. Y., 2004. A process-based classification of alpine ice caves. Theor. Appl. Karstol. 17, pp. 5-10.

Mahat, R., Seebart, C., Basile, F., Ward, N. L., 2015. Global and targeted lipid analysis of *Gemmata obscuriglobus* reveals the presence of lipopolysaccharide, a signature of the classical Gram-negative outer membrane. J. Bacteriol. 198, pp. 221-236.

Man, B., Wang, H., Xiang, X., Wang, R., Yun, Y., Gong, L., 2015. Phylogenetic diversity of culturable fungi in the Heshang Cave, central China. Front. Microbiol. 6, p. 1158.

Margesin, R., Gander, S., Zacke, G., Gounot, A. M., Schinner, F., 2003. Hydrocarbon degradation and enzyme activities of cold-adapted bacteria and yeasts. Extremophiles. 7, pp. 451-458.

Margesin, R., Schumann, P., Sproer, C., Gounot, A. M., 2004. Arthrobacter psychrophenolicus sp. Nov., isolated from an Alpine ice cave. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54, pp. 2067-2072.

Margesin, R., Miteva, V., 2011. Diversity and ecology of psychrophilic microorganisms. Res. Microbiol. 162:3, pp. 346-361.

Margolin, W., 2000. Themes and variations in prokaryotic cell division. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 24:4, pp. 531-548.

Matsuo, Y., MacLeod, R. A., Uphoff, C. C., Drexler, H. G., Nishizaki, C., Katayama, Y., Kimura, G., Fujii, N., Omoto, E., Harada, M., Orita, K., 1997. Two acute monocytic leukemia (AML-M5a) cell lines (MOLM-13 and MOLM-14) with interclonal phenotypic heterogeneity showing MLL-AF9 fusion resulting from an occult chromosome insertion, ins (11;9) (q23;p22p23). Leukemia. 11:9, pp. 1469-1477.

Mavlyudov, B. R., 1989. Cave glaciation. In: International Congress if Speleology, 13-20 August 1989. Proceedings, vol. 1, pp. 298-300.

Mavlyudov, B. R., 1992. Cavities in natural ice. Problems of Pceudokarst (Abstracts). pp. 56-58. Perm (in Russian).

Mavlyudov, B. R., 1994. Caves climatic systems. In: Questions of Physical Speleology. MPTI, Moscow, pp. 6-24 (in Russian).

Mavlyudov, B. R., 2006. Internal Drainage Systems of Glaciers. Institute of Geography RAS, Moscow. p. 396. (in Russian).

Mavlyudov, B. R., 2008. Cave Glaciation. Institute of Geography RAS, Moscow. p. 290. (in Russian).

Mavlyudov, B. R., 2018. Ice Genesis and Types of Ice Caves. In: Persoiu, A., Lauritzen, S. E. (Eds.) Ice Caves. Elsiever, pp. 34-68.

McFarland, J., 1907. The nephelometer:An instrument for estimating the number of bacteria in suspensions used for calculating the opsonic index and for vaccines. J. Am. Med. Assoc. XLIX, pp. 1176–1178.

Mikell, A. T., Smith, C. L., Richardson, J. C., 1996. Evaluation of media and techniques to enumerate heterotrophic microbes from kart and sand aquifer springs. Microbiol. Ecol. 31, pp 115-124.

Miteva, V.I., Sheridan P.P., Brenchley, J.E., 2004. Phylogenetic and Physiological Diversity of Microorganisms Isolated from a Deep Greenland Glacier Ice Core. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, pp. 202-213.

Morita, R. Y., 1975. Psychrophilic bacteria. Bacteriol. Rev. 39, pp. 144-167.

Müller, R., Wink, J., 2014. Future potential for anti-infectives from bacteria – how to exploit biodiversity and genomic potential. Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 304:1, pp. 3-13.

Muller-Greven, J. C., Post, M. A., Kubu, C. J., 2012. Recombinant Colwellia psychrerythraea alkaline phosphatase and uses thereof. Granted Patents US8486665B2, US8129168B2.

Murray, A. E., Kenig, F., Fritsen, C. H., Mckay, C. P., Cawleyd, K. M., Edwards, R., Kuhn, E., McKnight, D. M., Ostrom, N. E., Peng, V., Poncea, A., Priscu, J. C., Samarkin, V., Townsend, A. T., Wagh, P., Young, S. A., Yung, P. T., Doran, P. T., 2012. Microbial Life at –13°C in the brine of an ice-sealed Antarctic lake. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA. 109, pp. 20626-20631.

Nakai, R., Abe, T., Baba, T., Imura, S., Kagoshima, H., Kanda, H., Kohara, Y., Koi, A., Niki, H., Yanagihara, K., Naganuma, T., 2012. Eukaryotic phylotypes in aquatic moss pillars inhabiting a freshwater lake in East Antarctica, based on 18S rRNA gene analysis. Polar Biology. 35:10, pp. 1495-1504.

Neef, A., Amann, R., Schlesner, H., Schleifer, K. H., 1998. Monitoring a widespread bacterial group: *in situ* detection of planctomycetes with 16S rRNA-targeted probes. Microbiology. 144, pp. 3257-3266.

Neumann, S., Wessels, H. J., Riipstra, W. I., Sinnighe Damsté, J. S., Kartal, B., Jetten, M. S., van Niftrik, L., 2014. Isolation and characterization of a prokaryotic cell organelle from the anammox bacterium Kuenenia stuttgartiensis. Mol. Microbiol. 94:4, pp. 794-802.

Northup, D. E., Lavoie, K. H., 2001. Geomicrobiology of Caves: A Review. Geomicrobiol. J. 18, pp. 199-222.

Ogórek, R., Kozak, B., Višňovská, Z., Tančinová D., 2017. Phenotypic and genotypic diversity of airborne fungal spores in Demänovská Ice Cave (Low Tatras, Slovakia). Aerobiologia, 34:1, pp. 13-28.

Ollivier, B., Caumette, P., Garcia, J. L., Mah, R. A., 1994, Anaerobic Bacteria from Hypersaline Environments. Microbiol. Rev. 58:1, pp. 27-38.

Onac, B. P., Forti, P., 2011. Minerogenetic mechanisms occuring in the cave environment: An overview. Int. J. Speleol., 40, pp. 79-98.

Palmer, A. N., 1991. Origin and morphology of limestone caves. Geological Society of America Bulletin. 103, pp. 1-21.

Palmer, A. M., 2007. Cave Geology. Dayton, Ohio, Cave Books.

Pan, H. Q., Zhang, S. Y., Wang, N., Li, Z. L., Hua, H. M., Hu, J. C., Wand, S. J., 2013. New spirotetronate antibiotics, lobophorins H and I, from South China Sea-derived Streptomyces sp. 12A35. Mar Drugs 11:10, pp. 3891-3901.

Pantos, O., Cooney, R. P., Le Tissier, M. D. A., Barer, M. R., O'Donnell, A. G., Bythell, J. C., 2003. The bacterial ecology of a plague-like disease affecting the Caribbean coral *Montastrea annularis*. Environ. Microbiol. 5, pp. 370-382.

Pašić, L., Kovče, B., Sket, B., Herzog-Velikonja, B., 2009. Diversity of microbial communities colonizing walls of a Karstic cave in Slovenia. FEMS Microbio. Ecol. 71:1, pp. 50-60.

Pawlowski, A., Wang, W., Koteva, K., Barton, H. A., McArthur, A. G., Wright. G. D., 2016. A diverse intrinsic antibiotic resistome from a cave bacterium. Nat. Com. 7.

Perfumo, A., Banat, I. M., Marchant, R., 2018. Going Green and Cold: Biosurfactants from Low-Temperature Environments to Biotechnology Applications. Trends in Biotechnology. 36:3, pp. 277-289.

Persoiu, A., Onac, B. P., 2012. Ice in Caves. In: Culver, D. C., White, W. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Caves. Elsevier Science Publishing Co Inc, United States, pp. 399-404.

Persoiu, A., 2018. Ice Caves Climate. In: Persoiu, A., Lauritzen, S. E. (Eds.), Ice Caves. Elsevier, pp. 21-32.

Persoiu, A., Lauritzen, S. E., 2018. Introduction. In: Persoiu, A., Lauritzen, S. E. (Eds.), Ice Caves. Elsevier, pp. 3-4.

Phelan, R. W., Barret, M., Cotter, P. D., O'Connor, P. M., Chen, R., Morrisey, J. P., Dobson, A. D., O'Gara, F., Borbosa, T. M., 2013. Subtilomycin: a new lantibiotic from Bacillus subtilis strain MMA7 isolated from the marine sponge Haliclona simulans. Mar Drugs 11:6, pp. 1878-1898.

Piette, A., D'Amico, S., Mazzucchelli, G., Danchin, A., Leprince, P., Feller, G., 2011. Life in the cold: a proteomic study of cold-repressed proteins in the Antarctic bacterium *Pseudoalteromonas haloplanktis* TAC125. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, pp. 3881-3883.

Pilhofer, M., Rappl, K., Eckl, C., Bauer, A. P., Ludwig, W., Schleifer, K. H., Petroni, G., 2008. Characterization and evolution of cell division and cell wall synthesis genes in the bacterial phyla Verrucomicrobia, Lentisphaerae, Chlamydiae, and Planctomycetes and phylogenetic comparison with rRNA genes. J. Bacteriol. 190:9, pp. 3192-3202.

Pilhofer, M., Aistleitner, K., Biboy, J., Gray, J., Kuru, E., Hall, E., Brun, Y. V., VanNieuwenhze, M. S., Vollmer, W., Horn, M., Jensen, G. J., 2013. Discovery of chlamydial peptidoglycan reveals bacteria with murein sacculi but without FtsZ. Nat. Commun. 4, doi:10.1038/ncomms3856

Pimentel-Elardo, S., Wehrl, M., Friedrich, A. B., Jensen, P. R., Hentschel, U., Isolation of planctomycetes from *Aplysina* sponges. Aquatic Microbial Ecology. 33:3, pp. 239-245.

Pop, E., 1949. Bacterii nitrificante in pestera de la Scarisoara. Bul. Stiint. 1, 901-907. Poulson, T. L., Lavoie, K. H., 2000. The trophic basis of subsurface ecosystems. In: Wilkens, H., Culver, D. C., Humphreys, W. F., (Eds.) Subterranean Ecosystems of the World 30. Amsterdam, Elsevier Academic Press, 2000, pp. 231-250.

Prestegard, S. K., Oftedal, L., Coyne, R. T., Nygaard, G., Skjærven, K. H., Knutsen, G., Døskeland, S. O., Herfindal, L., 2009. Marine Benthic Diatoms Contain Compounds Able to Induce Leukemia Cell Death and Modulate Blood Platelet Activity. Mar. Drugs. 7, pp. 605-623

Price, P.B., 2007. Microbial life in glacial ice and implications for a cold origin of life. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59, pp. 217-231.

Priscu, J. C., Fritsen, C. H., Adams, E. E., Giovannoni, S. J., Paerl, H. W., McKay, C. P., Doran, P. T., Gordon, D. A., Lanoil, B. D., Pinckney, J. L., 1998. Perennial Antarctic Lake Ice: An Oasis for Life in a Polar Desert. Science. 280:5372, pp. 2095-2098.

Priscu, J.C., Christner, B.C., Foreman, C.M., Royston-Bishop, G., 2007. Biological material in ice cores. Elias SA (Ed.) Encyclopedia of Quaternary science, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 1156-1167.

Purcarea, C., 2018. Microbial Life in Ice Caves. In: Persoiu, A., Lauritzen, S. E. (Eds.), Ice Caves. Elsevier, pp. 173-187.

Quentmeier, J., Reinhardt, M., Zaborski, P., Drexlet, H. G., 2003. FLT3 mutations in acute myeloid leukemia cell lines. Leukemia. 17, pp. 120-124

Rattray, R. M., Perumbakkam, S., Smith, F., Craig, A. M., 2010. Microbiomic Comparison of the Intestine of the Earthworm *Eisenia fetida* Fed Ergovaline. Curr. Microbiol. 60:3, pp. 229-235.

Rehakova, K., Stibal, M., Sabacka, M., Rehak, J., 2010. Survival and colonisation potential of photoautotrophic microorganisms within a glacierized catchment on Svalbard, High Arctic. Polar Biology, 33, pp. 737-745.

Rivkina, E., Laurinavichius, K., McGrath, J., Tiedje, J., Shcherbakova, V., Gilichinsky, D., 2004. Microbial life in permafrost. Advances in Space Research, 33, pp. 1215-1221.

Rodrigues, D. F., Tiedje, J. M., 2008. Coping with our cold planet. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74, pp. 1677-1686.

Roselló-Mora, R., Amann, R., 2001. The species concept for prokaryotes. FEMS Microbio. Rev. 1, pp. 39-67.

Rusterholtz, K., Mallory, L. M., 1994. Density, activity and diversity of bacteria indigenous to a karstic aquifer. Microbiol. Ecol. 28, pp. 79-99.

Rysgaard, S., Glud, R. N., 2004. Anaerobic N<sub>2</sub> production in Arctic sea ice. Limnology and Oceanography. <u>https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2004.49.1.0086</u>

Sagulenko, E., Nouwens, A., Webb, R. I., Green, K., Yee, B., Morgan, G., Leis, A., Butler, M. K., Chia, N., Pham, U. T., Lindgreen, S., Catchpole, R., Poole, A. M., Fuerst, J. A., 2017. Nuclear Pore-Like Structures in a Compartmentalized Bacterium. PLoS One. 12:2, e0169432.

Sánchez, L. A., Hedström, M., Delgado, M. A., Delgado, O. D., 2010. Production, purification and characterization of serraticin A, a novel cold-active antimicrobial produced by Serratia proteamaculans 136. J Appl Microbiol 106:3, pp. 936-945.

Santarella-Mellwig, R., Franke, J., Jaedicke, A., Gorjanacz, M., Bauer, U., Budd, A., Mattaj, I. W., Devos, D. P., 2010. The compartmentalized bacteria of the planctomycetes-verrucomicrobiachlamydiae superphylum have membrane coat-like proteins. PLoS Biol. 8:1.

Santarella-Mellwig, R., Pruggnaller, S., Roos, N., Mattaj, I. W., Devos, D. P., 2013. Threedimensional reconstruction of bacteria with a complex endomembrane system. PLoS Biol. 11, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001565

Schifano, J. M., Edifor, R., Sharp, J. D., Ouyang, M., Konkimalla, A., Husson, R. N., Woychik, N. A., 2013. Mycobacterial toxin MazF-mt6 inhibits translation through cleavage of 23S rRNA at the ribosomal A site. PNAS. 110:21, pp. 8501-8506.

Schlesner, H., 1989. *Planctomycetes brasiliensis* sp. nov., a Halotolerant Bacterium from a Salt Pit. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 12:2, pp. 159-161.
Schlesner, H., 1994. The development of Media Suitable for Microorganisms Morphologically Resembling Planctomycetes spp., Pirellula spp., and other Planctomycetales from Various Aquatic Habitats Using Dilute Media. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 17, pp. 135-145.

Schlesner, H., Rensmann, C., Tindall, B. J., Gade, D., Rabus, R., Pfeiffer, S., Hirsch, P., 2004. Taxonomic heterogeneity within the Planctomycetales as derived by DNA-DNA hybridization, description of Rhodopirellula baltica gen. nov., sp. nov., transfer of Pirellula marina to the genus Blastopirellula gen. nov. as Blastopirellula marina comb. nov. and emended description of the genus Pirellula. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54:5, pp. 1567-1580.

Schwechheimer, C., Kuehn, M. J., 2015. Outer-membrane vesicles from Gram-negative bacteria: biogenesis and functions. Nat. Rev. 13, pp. 605-619. Sharma, U., Pal, D., Prasad, R., 2014. Alkaline Phosphatase: An Overview. Indian J. Clin. Biochem. 29:3, pp. 269-278.

Slobodkina, G. B., Panteleeva, A. N., Beskorovaynaya, D. A., Bonch-Osmolovskaya, E. A., Slobodkin, A. I., 2016. Thermostilla marina gen. nov., sp. nov., a thermophilic, facultative anaerobic planctomycete isolated from a shallow submarine hydrothermal vent. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 66:2, pp. 633-638.

Smyk, B., Drzal, M., 1964. Research on the influence of microorganisms on the development of karst phenomena. Geogr Polonica, 2, pp. 57-60.

Sokolov, D. S., 1962. Main conditions of Karst development. Gosgeoltekhizdat, Moscow. P. 322. (in Russian).

Song, S. H., Vieille, C., 2009. Recent advances in the biological production of mannitol. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 1, pp. 55-62.

Speth, D. R., van Teeseling, M. C., Jetten, M. S., 2012. Genomic analysis indicates the presence of an asymmetric bilayer outer membrane in Planctomycetes and Verrucomicrobia. Front. Microbiol. 3, p. 304.

Stackebrandt, E., Ludwig, W., Schubert, W., Klink, F., Schlesner, H., Roggentin, T., Hirsch, P., 1984. Molecular genetic evidence for early evolutionary origin of budding peptidoglycan-less eubacteria. Nature. 307, pp. 735-737.

Staley, J. T., 1968. Prosthecomicrobium and Ancalomicrobium: new prosthecate freshwater bacteria. J Bacteriol. 95, pp. 1921–1942.

Staley, J. T., 1973. Budding bacteria of the Pasteuria-Blastobacter group. Can. J. Microbiol. 19, pp. 609-614.

Storesund, J. E., Øvreås, L., 2013. Diversity of *Planctomycetes* in iron-hydroxide deposits from the Arctic Mid Ocean Ridge (AMOR) and description of *Bythopirellula goksoyri* gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel Planctomycete from deep sea iron-hydroxide deposits. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek. 104:4, pp. 569-584.

Svendsen, A., 2000. Lipase protein engineering. Biochim. Biophys. Act. 1543, pp. 223-238.

Tadesse, M., Strøm, M. B., Svenson, J., Jaspars, M., Milne, B. F., Tørfoss, V., Andersen, J. H., Hansen, E., Stensvåg, K., Haug, T., 2010. Synoxazolodinones A and B: novel bioactive alkaloids from the ascidian Synoicum pulmonaria. Org. Lett. 12:21, pp. 4752-4755. Tamura, K., Nei, M., (1993). Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 10, pp. 512-526.

Tebo, B. M., Davis, R. E., Anitori, R. P., Conell L. B., Schiffman, P., Staudigel, H., 2015. Microbial communities in dark oligotrophic volcanic ice cave ecosystems of Mt. Erebus, Antarctica. Front. Microbiol. 6, pp. 179.

Tekniepe, B. L., Schmidt, J. M., Starr, P., 1981. Life cycle of a budding and appendaged bacterium belonging to morphotype IV of the Blastocaulis-Planctomycetes group. Current Microbiology. 5, pp. 1-6.

Thompson, J. D., Higgins, D. G., Gibson, T. J. (1994). CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22:22, pp. 4673-4680.

Thornbury, W. D., 1954. Principles of Geomorphology. Soil Science. 78:2, p. 157.

Thrailkill, J. V., 1964. Origin of cave popcorn [abs]. Nat Speleol Soc Bull, 27, 59.

Tortora, G. J., Funke, B. R., Case, C. L., 2015. Microbiology: An introduction. Benjamin-Cummings Publishing Company, Subs of Addison Wesley Longman, Inc. p. 152.

Trevor, A. J., Katzung, B. G., Kruidering-Hall, M., 2015A. Katzung & Trevor's Pharmacology Examination and Board Review, 11<sup>th</sup> Edition. McGraw Hill Higher Education. Chapter 44, pp. 369-376.

Trevor, A. J., Katzung, B. G., Kruidering-Hall, M., 2015B. Katzung & Trevor's Pharmacology Examination and Board Review, 11<sup>th</sup> Edition. McGraw Hill Higher Education. Chapter 50, pp. 414-420.

Trevor, A. J., Katzung, B. G., Kruidering-Hall, M., 2015C. Katzung & Trevor's Pharmacology Examination and Board Review, 11<sup>th</sup> Edition. McGraw Hill Higher Education. Chapter 43, pp. 360-369.

van Niftrik, L., Jetten, M. S. M., 2012. Anaerobic Ammonium-Oxidation Bacteria: Unique Microorganisms with Exceptional Properties. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 76, pp. 585-596.

van Teeseling, M. C., Mesman, R. J., Kuru, E., Espaillat, A., Cavam F., Brun, Y. V., VanNieuwenhze, M. S., Kartal, B., van Niftrik, L., 2015. Anammox Planctomycetes have a peptidoglycan cell wall. Nat. Com. 6, doi:10.1038/ncomms7878

Varin, T., Lovejoy, C., Jungblut, A.D., Vincent, W.F., Jcorbeiladin, J., 2010. Metagenomic profiling of Arctic microbial mat communities as nutrient scavenging and recycling systems. Limnology and Oceanography. 55, pp. 1901-1911.

Vollmers, J., Frentrup, M., Rast, P., Jogler, C., Kaster, A. K., 2017. Atlas of nonribosomal peptide and polyketide biosynthetic pathways reveals common occurrence of nonmodular enzymes. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA. 111, pp. 9259-9264.

Wagner, M., Horn, M., 2006. The Planctomycetes, Verrucomicrobia, Chlamydia and sister phyla comprise a super phylum with biotechnological and medical relevance. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 17:3, pp. 241-249.

Wallner, S. R., Bauer, M., Würdemann, C., Wecker, P., Glöckner, F. O., Faber, K., 2005. Highly Enantioselective sec-Alkyl Sulfatase Activity of the Marine Planctomycete *Rhodopirellula* 

*baltica* Shows Retention of Configuration. Angewandte Chemie: international edition. 44:39, pp. 6381-6384.

Wang, H., Fewer, D. P., Holm, L., Rouhiainen, L., Sivonen, K., 2014 Atlas of nonribosomal peptide and polyketide biosynthetic pathways reveals common occurrence of nonmodular enzymes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 111, pp. 9259-9264.

Ward, N., Rainey, F. A., Stackebrandt, E., Schlesner, H., 1995. Unraveling the extent of diversity within the order Planctomycetales. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61:6, pp. 2270-2275. Went, D. W., 1969. Fungi associated with stalactite growth. Science, 166, pp. 385-386

Ward, N. L., 2010. Phylum XXV. Planctomycetes Garrity and Holt 2001, 137 emend. Ward (this volume). In: Krieg, N. R., Staley, J. T., Brown, D. R., Hedlund, B. P., Paster, B. J., Ward, N. L., Ludwig, W., Whitman, W. B. (Eds) Bergey's Manual R of Systematic Bacteriology: Volume Four, The Bacteroidetes, Spirochaetes, Tenericutes (Mollicutes), Acidobacteria, Fibrobacteres, Fusobacteria, Dictyoglomi, Gemmatimonadetes, Lentisphaerae, Verrucomicrobia, Chlamydiae, and Planctomycetes. Springer, New York, pp. 879-925.

White, W., 1988. Geomorphology and Hydrology of Karst Terrains. New York, Oxford University Press.

White, W. B., Culver, D. C., 2000. Cave definition of. In: Culver D. C., White W. B. (Eds.) Encyclopedia of Caves. Burlington, MA, Elsevier Academic Oress, 2000, pp. 81-85.

Widdel, F., 2007. Theory and Measurement of Bacterial Growth 11. Grundpraktikum Mikrobiologie, 4. Sem. (B.Sc.). Universität Bremen.

Winkelmann, N., Jaekel, U., Meyer, C., Serrano, W., Rachel, R., Roselló-Mora, E., Harder, J., 2009. Determination of the Diversity of *Rhodopirellula* Isolates from European Seas by Multilocus Sequence Analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76:3, pp. 776-785.

Wright, G. D., 2016. Antibiotic Adjuvants: Rescuing Antibiotics from Resistance. Trends in Microbiology. 24:11, pp. 862-871.

Yang, G. L., Hou, S. G., Baoge, R. L., Li, Z. G., Xu, H., Liu, Y. P., Du, W. T., Liu, Y. Q., 2016 Differences in Bacterial Diversity and Communities Between Glacial Snow and Glacial Soil on the Chongce Ice Cap, West Kunlun Mountains. Sci. Rep. 6. doi:10.1038/srep36548. Yarza, P., Yilmaz, P., Pruesse, E., Glöckner, F. O., Ludwig, W., Schleifer, K. H., Whitman, W. B., Euzéby, J., Amann, R., Roselló-Móra, R., 2014. Uniting the classification of cultured and uncultured bacteria and archaea using 16S rRNA gene sequences. Nat. Rev. 12, pp. 635-645.

Yilmaz, P., Yarza, P., Rapp, J., Glöckner, F. O., 2015. Expanding the World of Marine Bacterial and Archaeal Clades. Front. Microbiol. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01524</u>

Zeng, Y. X., Yan, M., Yu, Y., Li, H. R., He, J. F., Sun, K., Zhang, F., 2013. Diversity of bacteria in surface ice of Austre Lovénbreen glacier, Svalbard. Archives of Microbiology. vol. 195:5, pp. 313-322.

Zhang, T., Barry, R. G., Knowles, K., Ling, F., Armstrong, R. L., 2003. Distribution of seasonally and perennially frozen ground in the Northern Hemisphere. In: Phillips, M., Springman, S. M., Arenson, L. L. (Eds.), Permafrost: Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Permafrost, Zurich, Switzerland, vol. 1.

Zhao, Z., Li, B., Ma, B., (Unpublished). Research Center for Eco-Environmental Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences.

Zumsteg, A., Luster, J., Göransson, H., Smittenberg, R.H., Brunner, I., Bernasconi, S.M., Zeyer, J., Frey, B., 2012. Bacterial, archaeal and fungal succession in the forefield of a receding glacier. Microb. Ecol. 63, pp. 552-564.

Component	Amount
Nitrilotriacetic acid	5 g
MgSO <sub>4</sub> x 7H <sub>2</sub> O	13,85 g
CaCl x 2H <sub>2</sub> O	1,67 g
NaMoO <sub>4</sub> x 2H <sub>2</sub> O	6,3 mg
FeSO <sub>4</sub> x 7H <sub>2</sub> O	49,5 mg
Metal salts solution «44»	50 ml
Double distilled water	450 ml

# Appendix I: Hutner's Basal Salts

Metal salts solution "44"

Component	Amount
Ethylene diamino tetra acetate (EDTA)	25 mg
ZnSO <sub>4</sub> x 7H <sub>2</sub> O	109,5 mg
FeSO <sub>4</sub> x 7H <sub>2</sub> O	50 mg
MnSO <sub>4</sub> x H <sub>2</sub> O	15,4 mg
CuSO <sub>4</sub> x 5H <sub>2</sub> O	3,9 mg
CoCl <sub>2</sub> x 6H <sub>2</sub> O	2,0 mg
Na <sub>2</sub> B <sub>4</sub> O <sub>7</sub> x 10H <sub>2</sub> O	1,8 mg
Double distilled water	100 ml

Component	Amount
Biotin	4 mg
Pyridoxine hydrochloride	20 mg
Thiamine hydrochloride	10 mg
Ca pantothenate	10 mg
p-Aminobenzoic acid	10 mg
Folic acid	4 mg
Riboflavin	10 mg
Nicotinic acid	10 mg
Vitamin B12	0,2 mg
Double distilled water	100 ml

# Appendix II: Vitamin Solution No. 6 – 10x Solution

# Appendix III: 16S rRNA Gene Sequences

## >P1a 16S rRNA Gene Sequence

CGGACAGCGGCGAAAGGGAGAGTAACGCGTAGTTATGTACCCTAGGGTCCGGAATAGCCA CGGGAAACTGTGGGTAATGCCGGATAACATCCCCGGATCAAAGGTGTGATTCCGCCCTAG GAGCAGACTGCGCCCTACTAGCTTGTTGGTGGGGTAATGGCCCACCAAGGCAATGATGGG TAGCGGGTGTGAGAGCATGACCCGTCTCACTGGGACTGAGACACTGCCCAGACACCTACG GGTGGCTGCAGTCGAGAATCTTCGGCAATGGGCGAAAGCCTGACCGAGCGATGCCGCGTG CGGGATGAAGGCCCTCGGGTTGTAAACCGCTGTCGTAGGGGAGGAAGGTTCCGTGAAGAG CGGAATTTGACCTATCCTAGGAGGAAGTACGGGCTAAGTTCGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAA CACGAACCGTACGAACGTTATTCGGAATTACTGGGCTTAAAGGGTTTGTAGGCGGCCTTG TAAGTCAGGTGTGAAAGCCCTCGGCTCAACCGAGGAACAGCGCTTGATACTGCAAGGCTT GAGGGAGACAGAGGTAAGCGGAACTGATGGTGGAGCGGTGAAATGCGTTGATATCATCAG GAACACCGGTGGCGAAAGCGGCTTACTGGGTCTCTTCTGACGCTGAGGAACGAAAGCTAG GGTAGCGAACGGGATTAGATACCCCGGTAGTCCTAGCTGTAAACGATGAGCACTTATCTG GGGATCCTCCCATAGGTTCCCGGATGTAGCGAAAGTGTTAAGTGCTCCGCCTGGGGAGTA TGGTCGCAAGGCTGAAACTCAAAGAAATTGACGGGGGCTCACACAAGCGGTGGAGGATGT GGCTTAATTCGAGGCTACGCGAAGAACCTTATCCAGGTCTTGACATGTACGGATTAACCC GGGTGAAAGCCCGGGCCACAGCTTCGGCTGGAACGTGCACAGGTGCTGCATGGCTGTCGT CAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTCGGGTTAAGTCCCTTAACGAGCGAAACCCTTGTCTCTAGT TGCCAGCGAGTAATGTCGGGGACTCTAGAGAGACTGCCGGTGTTAAACCGGAGGAAGGCG GGGATGACGTCAAGTCCTCATGGCCTTTATGACCTGGGCTGCACACGTCCTACAATGGCG TCTACAAAGGGAAGCAAGCTCGCGAGAGTAAGCAAATCCCAAAAAGGGCGCCTCAGTTCG GATTGCAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGCTGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGGTCAGCAT ACCGCGGTGAATGTGTTCCTGAGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGTCAAGCCACGAAAATGGGG GGGGCTTAAAGCCGCCGTGCCAACCCGCAAGGGAAGCAGGCGTCTAGAGTCAACTCCGTG ATTGGGACTAAGT

#### >P2S 16S rRNA Gene Sequence

CGGCGAAGGGAGAGGAATAAGTAGAAATCTGCCCTCGGGACGGGGATAGCGGTGGGAAAC TGCCAGTAATACCCGATAACATCTAAGGATCAAATGGTGTGATTCCGCCTGAGGATGAGT CTACTTCCTATTAGCTTGTTGGTGTGGTAATGGCTCACCAAGGCAACGATGGGTAGCGGG TGTGAGAGCACGATCCGCCTCACTGGGACTGAGACACTGCCCAGACACCTACGGGTGGCT GCAGTCGAGAATCTTCGGCAATGGGGGAAACCCTGACCGAGCGACGCCGCGTGCGGGATG AAGGCCTTCGGGTTGTAAACCGCTGTCGTAAGGGAACAAATCCACTGGGGTACTCCCCTT TGGTTGAGTGATCTTAGGAGGAAGGACGGGCTAAGTTCGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAAGAC GAACCGTCCGAACGTTATTCGGTATTACTGGGCTTAAAGAGTTCGTAGGCGGCCCAGACA GGTCAGATGTGAAATCCCTCGGCTCAACCGAGGAATTGCGTTTGAAACCGTCAGGCTTGA GGGAGATAGAGGTGAGCGGAACAGATGGTGGAGCGGTGAAATGCGTTGATATCATCTGGA ACACCGGTGGCGAAAGCGGCTCACTGGATCTTTTCTGACGCTGAGGAACGAAAGCTAGGG TAGCGAACGGGATTAGATACCCCGGTAGTCCTAGCCGTAAACGATGAGCACTAGTCTGTG GGGACCCTCACATCCTCTCGGACGTAGCGAAAGTATTAAGTGCTCCGCCTGGGGAGTATG GTCGCAAGGCTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGGCTCACACAAGCGGTGGAGGATGTGG CTTAATTCGAGGCTACGCGAAGAACCTTATCCTAGTCTTGACATGCTTAAGAATCTCTCT GAAAGGAGAGAGTGCCTTCGGGAACTTTTGCACAGGTGCTGCATGGCTGTCGTCAGCTCG TGTCGTGAGATGTCGGGTTAAGTCCCTTAACGAGCGAAACCCTTATCTTTAGTTGCCAGC GAGTAATGTCGGGGACTCTAGAGAGACTGCCGGTGTTAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGA CGTCAAGTCCTCATGGCCTTTATGACTAGGGCTGCACACGTCCTACAATGCGGCATACAA AGGGAAGCAAACCCGCGAGGGGGGGGGAGCAAACCCCACAAAGTGTCGCTCAGTTCGGATTGCA GGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGTTGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGGTCAGCATACCGCGG GAAGTCGCTAAGCTAACTCGCAAGAGAGAGGCAGGCCGCAAGGTCAACTCGACAATTGGGA CTAAGTCG

109

#### >P6.1 16S rRNA Gene Sequence

GCGGCGGAGGGAGAGGAATAAGTAGAAATCTGCCCTCGGGACGGGGATAGCGGCGGGAAA CTGCCGGTAATACCCGATAACATCTTTGGATCAAATGGTGTGATTCCGCCTGAGGATGAG TCTACTTCCTATTAGCTTGTTGGCGGGGGTAATGGCCCACCAAGGCAACGATGGGTAGCGG GTGTGAGAGCACGATCCGCCTCACTGGGACTGAGACACTGCCCAGACACCTACGGGTGGC TGCAGTCGAGAATCTTCGGCAATGGGGGGAAACCCTGACCGAGCGACGCCGCGTGCGGGAT GAAGGCCCTCGGGTTGTAAACCGCTGTCGTAAGGGAACAAATCCATAGGGGTACTCCTCT ATGGTTGAGTGATCTTAGGAGGAGGAGGGCGGGCTAAGTTCGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAAGA CGAACCGTCCAAACGTTATTCGGTATCACTGGGCTTAAAGAGTTCGTAGGCGGCCCGACA GGTGAGGTGTGAAATCCCTCGGCTCAACCGAGGAATTGCGCTTCAAACCGTCAGGCTTGA GGGAGATAGAGGTGAGCGGAACAGATGGTGGAGCGGTGAAATGCGTTGATATCATCTGGA ACACCGGTGGCGAAAGCGGCTCACTGGATCTTTTCTGACGCTGAGGAACGAAAGCTAGGG TAGCGAACGGGATTAGATACCCCGGTAGTCCTAGCCGTAAACGATGAGCACTAGTCTGTG GGGACCCTCACATCCTCTCGGACGTAGCGAAAGTGTTAAGTGCTCCGCCTGGGGAGTATG GTCGCAAGGCTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGGCTCACACAAGCGGTGGAGGATGTGG CTTAATTCGAGGCTACGCGAAGAACCTTATCCTAGTCTTGACATGCTTAAGAACCTCTCT GAAAGGAGAGGGTGCCTTCGGGAACTTTTGCACAGGTGCTGCATGGCTGTCGTCAGCTCG TGTCGTGAGATGTCGGGTTAAGTCCCTTAACGAGCGAAACCCTTGTCTCTAGTTGCCAGC GAGTAAAGTCGGGGACTCTAGAGAGACTGCCGGTGTTAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGATGA CGTCAAGTCCTCATGGCCTTTATGACTAGGGCTGCACACGTCCTACAATGCGGCATACAA AGGGAAGCAAACCCGCGAGGGGGGGGGGAGCAAACCCCCAAAAAGTGTCGCTCAGTTCGGATTGCA GGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGTTGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGGTCAGCATACCGCGG GAAGTCGCTAAGCTAACCGTAAGGAGGCAGGCGCCGAAGGTCAACTCGACAATTGGGACT AAGTCGTAACAA

110

>P6.2 16S rRNA Gene Sequence

GGAAGCGGCGGAGGGAGGAGGAATAAGTAGAAATCTGCCCTCGGGACGGGGATAGCGGCGG GAAACTGCCGGTAATACCCGATAACATCTTTGGATCAAATGGTGTGATTCCGCCTGAGGA TGAGTCTACTTCCTATTAGCTTGTTGGCGGGGTAATGGCCCACCAAGGCAACGATGGGTA GCGGGTGTGAGAGCACGATCCGCCTCACTGGGACTGAGACACTGCCCAGACACCTACGGG TGGCTGCAGTCGAGAATCTTCGGCAATGGGGGAAACCCTGACCGAGCGACGCCGCGTGCG GGATGAAGGCCCTCGGGTTGTAAACCGCTGTCGTAAGGGAACAAATCCATAGGGGTACTC CTCTATGGTTGAGTGATCTTAGGAGGAAGGACGGGCTAAGTTCGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGT AAGACGAACCGTCCAAACGTTATTCGGTATCACTGGGCTTAAAGAGTTCGTAGGCGGCCC GACAGGTGAGGTGTGAAATCCCTCGGCTCAACCGAGGAATTGCGCTTCAAACCGTCAGGC TTGAGGGAGATAGAGGTGAGCGGAACAGATGGTGGAGCGGTGAAATGCGTTGATATCATC TGGAACACCGGTGGCGAAAGCGGCTCACTGGATCTTTTCTGACGCTGAGGAACGAAAGCT AGGGTAGCGAACGGGATTAGATACCCCGGTAGTCCTAGCCGTAAACGATGAGCACTAGTC TGTGGGGACCCTCACATCCTCCGGACGTAGCGAAAGTGTTAAGTGCTCCGCCTGGGGAG TATGGTCGCAAGGCTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGCTCACAAAGCGGTGGAGGAT GTGGCTTAATTCGAGGCTACGCGAAGAACCTTATCCTAGTCTTGACATGCTTAAGAACCT CTCTGAAAGGAGAGGGTGCCTTCGGGAACTTTTGCACAGGTGCTGCATGGGCTGTCGTCA GCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTCGGGTTAAGTCCCTTAACGAGCGAAACCCTTGTCTCTAGTTG CCAGCGAGTAAAGTCGGGGACTCTAGAGAGACTGCCGGTGTTAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGG GATGACGTCAAGTCCTCATGGCCTTTATGACTAGGGCTGCACACGTCCTACAATGCGGCA TACAAAGGGAAGCAAACCCGCGAGGGGGGGGGGAGCAAACCCCAAAAAGTGTCGCTCAGTTCGGA TTGCAGGCTGCAACTCGCCTGCATGAAGTTGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGGTCAGCATAC CGCGGTGAATGTGTTCCTGAGCCTTGTACACACCGCCCGTCAAGCCACGAAAGTTGGGGG GGCCCGAAGTCGCTAAGCTAACCGTAAGGAGGCAGGCCGCCGAAGGTCAACTCGACAATTG GACTAAGTCGTAACAAG

111

# Appendix VII: Anticancer Activity in Planctomycetes

#### Anticancer activity in Planctomycetes

Rita Calisto<sup>1,2</sup>, Eirik Færøy Sæbø<sup>3</sup>, Julia E. Storesund<sup>3</sup>, Lise Øvreås<sup>3,4</sup>, Lars Herfindal<sup>5</sup> and Olga M. Lage<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal <sup>2</sup>Interdisciplinary Centre of Marine and Environmental Research, University of Porto, Portugal <sup>3</sup>Department of Biology, University of Bergen, Norway <sup>4</sup>University Center at Svalbard, UNIS, Longyearbyen, Norway <sup>5</sup>Centre for Pharmacy, Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Norway

### Abstract

There is a strong need to develop new drugs against many severe diseases. Therapy resistance is a major problem in for instance infectious diseases and cancer. Drug discovery has again turned to nature to search for molecules that can become drug leads. Although many bacterial phyla are extensively studied, some, like the *Planctomycetes*, remain largely unexplored as potential sources of new leads. Planctomycetes form a diverse group of bacteria with peculiar characteristics such as division by polar budding and absence of the FtsZ gene. Furthermore, they exhibit large genomes up to 12.5 Mb, and possess a high number of secondary metabolites as assessed by in silico genomic analysis. These characteristics have also revealed the presence of potential anticancer activity. Based on these promising characteristics, we wanted to investigate planctomycetes as a source for natural products with anticancer properties. Organic and aqueous extracts were obtained from cultivated planctomycetes strains originated from a variety of habitats such as marine systems (free living or attached to marine algae), deep marine iron hydroxide deposits, brackish water and glacier ice system. The extracts were screened for ability to inhibit cell growth, or induce cell death on two cancer cell lines, the human prostatic cancer cell line PC3, and human acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) cell line MOLM-13, as well as normal rat kidney epithelial cell line (NRK). Out of 39 strains, five exhibited cytotoxicity towards NRK cells, whereas 32 of the strains were toxic to the AML cell line, and four were toxic to the PC3 cell line. Four strains showed high toxicity and selectivity towards either one, or both of the cancer cell line

over the NRK-cells, and are potential producers of anti-cancer compounds. We found no correlation between bioactivity and strains habitat and geographic location but regarding phylogeny some *Rhodopirellula* spp. showed higher toxicity toward MOLM-13 cells. These results from the first anticancer screening with planctomycetes showed that these peculiar microorganisms should be further explored for anti-cancer compounds and that more effort must be put in providing culture collections for drug development purposes.

## Introduction

Biotechnological search for new natural products is of utmost importance for the wellbeing and sustainability of humanity in the fight against many deadly diseases such as cancer and bacterial infections due to resistant strains (O'Neill, 2016). In Europe, cancer represents the second most important cause of death and morbidity with more than 3.7 million new cases and 1.9 million deaths each year (WHO, 2012). In the USA, values of 1 688 780 new cancer cases diagnosed and 600 920 cancer deaths were estimated for 2017 (Siegel Rebecca *et al.*, 2017). As the prophylactic treatment to prevent cardiovascular diseases improves, it is expected that cancer will become the leading cause of death within few years (Heron, 2016). This increase in cancer incidents represents new challenges. As the population ages, there will be a need for novel therapeutics with less harmful side-effects like cardiac failure or bone marrow depletion, often associated with therapy-induced mortality in elderly patients.

In the development of new therapeutics, the majority of drug candidates are natural derived compounds (Imhoff *et al.*, 2011). Some phyla of bacteria, *Actinobacteria*, *Myxobacteria* and *Cyanobacteria*, are well known producers of secondary metabolites (Jeske *et al.*, 2016) and have been extensively studied for bioactive compounds. Traditionally, terrestrial organisms have been targeted for the search of novel antibacterial compounds and secondary metabolites. Therefore, special attention is directed towards marine biological sources (Joseph & Sujatha, 2010) and less explored bacterial phyla. The marine environment is a huge ecosystem still highly underexplored. It thus represents a vast source for novel bioactive molecules that can fulfil the ever-increasing need for new therapeutics to meet the increasing demand of pharmaceuticals. The oceans are inhabited by an immense diversity of microorganisms that only recently started to be unveiled. Estimations foresee numbers exceeding  $10^{29}$  bacterial cells in the open ocean, with an average cell concentration of  $10^6$  per millilitre of seawater (Whitman *et al.*, 1998,

Amaral-Zettler *et al.*, 2010). It has become notorious that the study of novel bacterial phyla could lead to new bioactive molecules (Bredholt *et al.*, 2008). One of these phylogenetic groups are the *Planctomycetes*, bacteria that have an intricate, still not fully understood, cell biology with complex life cycles and large genomes. Recently, Planctomycetes have proven the capacity to produce antibiotics and antifungal molecules and also genome mining has demonstrated their promising biotechnological potential (Donadio *et al.*, 2007, Jeske *et al.*, 2013, Graça *et al.*, 2016, Jeske *et al.*, 2016, Boedeker *et al.*, 2017). This is due to the presence of secondary metabolite genes or clusters related to various pathways for the production of several bioactive molecules, including some antitumor compounds like epothilone (Graça *et al.*, 2016).

Besides the *in silico* study of its potential, no study has hitherto addressed the anticancer proprieties of planctomycetes. In fact, the study presented here is the first anticancer screening performed with planctomycetes assessing the induction of apoptosis and the decrease of growth in cancer cell lines. Acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) cell lines were chosen because AML is one of the most aggressive forms of leukaemia and is associated with high rate of chemo resistant relapse, and dose-limiting side-effects. Moreover, therapies developed towards leukaemia have high translational value to other cancers. We also tested for activity towards a solid tumour derived cell line, using prostate cancer (PC) cell lines since PC is one of the most common cancer types and with high mortality rates, especially in western countries. Prostate cancer is the leading cause of death from cancer in USA (Siegel Rebecca *et al.*, 2017) and the third most common cause of death in Europe (Bray & Kiemeney, 2017). The results obtained with both cancer cell lines (AML and PC) were compared with the ability to induce cell death in a normal epithelial cell line. Our results show that planctomycetes represent a promising source for novel molecules that can become anticancer drug leads.

## **Material and Methods**

### **Bacterial collections**

The planctomycetes strains used in this study were obtained from several different habitats (Table 1), namely marine iron hydroxide deposits (13 strains), marine water column (1 strain), macroalgal surface (18 strains), a meromictic lake (5 strains) and a

glacier ice inside a cave (2 strains). The strains affiliate to diverse phylogenetic clusters within the *Planctomycetes* phylum (Supplementary Fig. 1).

## **Cultivation of planctomycetes**

Pure cultures of planctomycetes were cultivated in 250 mL M13 or M30 media with 70 – 90 % seawater with the exception of the ice derived isolates that were cultivated in M30 with 18 % seawater (Table 1) at 25  $^{0}$ C, and 120 r.p.m. After 7 days incubation, the cultures were centrifuged for 15 min at 10 000 x g., and the supernatant discarded. The cell pellets were washed twice with sterile water and freeze-died for approximately 18 h (with temperature below - 40  $^{0}$ C and about 4 × 10  $^{-2}$  atm pressure). The final biomass was weighted and kept at -20  $^{0}$ C until further processing.

## Preparation of planctomycetes extracts for cell lines experiments:

Six mL of methanol: MilliQ water: chloroform (1:1:1) were added to each freeze-dried pellet. Six mL of the mixture without cells were used as an extraction control. The samples were homogenized (Tempest Virtishear I.Q. from Virtis, Gardiner NY fitted with 10 mm rotor), at 20000 r.p.m., for two periods of 30 s, with cooling on ice for 10 s between the cycles. The samples were allowed to extract for 1 h at 4°C, with agitation after 30 min, and then centrifuged at 450 x g for 30 min at 4°C, to separate the aqueous and organic phases. For each sample: (i) the organic phase (bottom phase) was carefully transferred to a separate tube and evaporated to dryness in a vacuumed centrifuge (Eppendorf concentrator plus, Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). The dried extract was dissolved in DMSO in a ratio of 10 mg of initial freeze-dried biomass of the bacterial culture to 25  $\mu$ L of DMSO. (ii) the aqueous phase (top phase) was treated in a similar way as the organic extract with the exception of the final step. The aqueous extracts were added 75  $\mu$ L of MilliQ water, in addition to 25  $\mu$ L DMSO for each 10 mg initial freeze-dried biomass.

#### Cancer cell lines and cytotoxicity assays:

Planctomycetes extracts were tested for their capacity to induce apoptosis in the normal epithelial rat kidney cell line NRK (ATCC no: CRL-6509), the human AML cell line MOLM-13 (Matsuo *et al.*, Quentmeier *et al.*, 2003) and in the human prostate cancer cell line PC3 (ATCC no.: CRL-1435).

MOLM-13 cells were cultured in RPMI medium (Sigma R5886), supplemented with 10% (v/v) foetal calf serum (Sigma F7524), 0.2 mM L-glutamine and added 50 IU/mL penicillin and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin. The cells were cultured to a density between 8 - 80 x  $10^4$  cells/mL, and diluted by adding fresh medium with supplements. NRK and PC3 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM - Sigma D-6429), with the same supplements as for MOLM-13 cells. The PC3 and NRK cells are adherent, and at 90% confluence, the cells were detached by mild trypsin treatment (0.30 mg/mL trypsin for 5 min at 37 °C) and reseeded in fresh medium with supplements at 40-50% confluence. Cells were incubated at 37 °C, in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. All media, serum and supplements, and reagents were from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA.

The cytotoxicity experiments were performed in 96-well plates. One hundred µL containing 6000 cells of NRK or PC3 cell lines were placed in each well 24 h before the addition of the extracts to allow cells attachment to the substratum. After 24 h the medium was replaced by fresh medium and the extracts were added. MOLM-13 cell suspensions (20 000 cells/well in 100  $\mu$ L) were added to the plates at the same time as the extracts. For all cell lines, one  $\mu$ L of the organic extracts or 4  $\mu$ L of the aqueous extracts were added, respectively, to 99  $\mu$ L or 96  $\mu$ L of cell culture. The same volume of DMSO was used as solvent control and a negative control of 100 µL cell culture was also made. Cells were incubated with the extracts for 72h. The viability of the cells was first monitored using the WST-1 assay metabolic assay (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) following the manufacturers instruction. Thereafter, the cells were fixed with 2% buffered formaldehyde (pH 7.4) containing 0.01 mg/mL of the DNA-specific fluorescent dye, Hoechst 33342 and morphology of the nuclei was visualised by fluorescence microscopy (Nikon Diaphot 300 fitted with a 40× Flu-Phase contrast lens and a DS-Fi3 camera) as described by Prestegard et al (2009). A minimum of hundred cells from each cell line were used to determine cell death microscopically. All extracts were tested for cytotoxic activity 3-5 times for each concentration.

## Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses and visualization was done in R (R Core Team 2017) using the vegan (Oksanen *et al.*, 2015), ggplot2 (Wickham, 2009) and pheatmap packages (Kolde, 2015). To see if the toxic effect of Planctomycetes on the different cancer cell lines was related to strain phylogeny (*Blastopirellula, Gimesia, Mariniblastus, Rhodopirellula sp.*,

*Rhodopirellula lusitana, Roseimaritima, Rubinisphaera* or Pir 4) or original habitat (ice, iron hydroxides, meromictic lake, macroalgal surface or seawater) we used analysis of similarities (ANOSIM, vegan). The response variable was a dissimilarity matrix of individual strain effects (aqueous and organic, n=6) on the three cancer cell lines, and the predictors were strain phylogenetic affiliation and original habitat. A PCA analysis (999 perm) was used to further examine correlations between strain toxicity and the different cell lines.

#### RESULTS

A total of 39 planctomycetes were screened for cytotoxic bioactivity towards human AML cell line (MOLM-13) and human prostatic cancer cell line (PC3). The normal rat kidney epithelial cell line (NRK) was used as control. All cells were analysed for metabolic activity using the WST-1 assay which measures enzymatic conversion of a tetrazolium salt into a coloured metabolite. However, as several of the planctomycetes possess coloration that interferes with the WST-1 colorimetric assay, cytotoxicity was therefore only assessed through the nuclear morphology (see Supplementary Figure 2) All the planctomycetes were cultivated for 7 days except strain L2, which was also grown for 15 days to assess a longer stationary phase on the potential production of bioactive molecules.

The extracts were tested at 1% for the organic extracts and 4% for the aqueous extracts, both corresponding to extracts from 0.4 mg freeze-dried material per 0.1 mL cell culture medium. First, it was tested whether the extracts exhibited cytotoxicity during 24-hours incubation. However, we noticed only modest cytotoxicity for all extracts after this incubation time. Since many cytostatics, like metabolic inhibitors, have a protracted cytotoxic effect, we decide to incubate the cells with the planctomycetes extracts for 72 hours before assessing for cell death. We divided the cytotoxic potential of the extracts into high - H (> 70 % cell death), intermediate - I (40-70% cell death), low - L (10-40 % cell death) or no (<10 % cell death) (Supplementary Table 1). In total, 40 aqueous and 40 organic extracts were analysed. The different cell lines were screened under the microscope for apoptotic nuclei and their percentage calculated (Supplementary Fig 2). Based on these values, a heat-map of the cytotoxic effects was constructed (Fig. 1). The organic extracts showed higher cytotoxic capacity than the aqueous extracts both in number (55% of the organic and 35% of the aqueous) and intensity (mean and median

cell death was, respectively, 26.4% and 12.10% for the organic and 13.6% and 6.0% for the aqueous extracts) (Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 1).

Only five extracts showed intermediate or high activity towards NRK cells; the aqueous extract from strain Plm2, and the organic extracts from strains 7mR, SH1, UC49.1 and Sm4. High or intermediate activity towards PC3 prostate cancer cells was detected only in the organic extracts from strains CcC6, L1, SH1, Sm4, UC16, and UC49.1. Of these, strains SH1, Sm4 and UC49.1 were also cytotoxic towards NRK cells, but strains CcC6 and L1 appeared selective towards PC3 cells over NRK cells.

In general the MOLM-13 cells were much more sensitive towards the planctomycetal extracts than the other two cell lines. When counting strains causing high and intermediate cytotoxicity, 17.5% of the strains were H, and 42.5 % I in the organic extracts, and 12.5% were H, and 25 % I in the aqueous extracts. Only strains P6.1, VLbF2, 1mW and VLsL2h produced cytotoxic activity in both extracts, the remaining strains had cytotoxicity in only one of the extracts.

From strain L2, extracts were obtained after 7 and 15 days of cultivation. After 7 days the organic extract was bioactive against MOLM-13 with low cytotoxicity (24 %) but after the 15 days a 3-fold increase in cytotoxicity (70 %) was seen (Fig. 1, Supplementary Table 1).

Some strains stood out as particularly promising regarding anticancer activity. The organic extracts from the *Rhodopirellula lusitana* strains CcC6 (H - 82.7% PC3 and I - 59% MOLM-13) and UF6 (L – 26% PC3 and H – 97% MOLM-13) and *Rhodopirellula* sp. L1 (H – 87% PC3 and I – 59% MOLM-13) induced cell death in the cancer cell lines selectively, i.e. strong activity towards both cancer cell lines, but not NRK-cells (Figure 1 and Supplementary Table 1). Another striking feature was that several planctomycetes were selective towards MOLM-13 cells only, such as *Rhodopirellula lusitana* strain CcC8 (I – 67%), UC13 (H – 91%), L2 (H – 70%) and *Planctomyces maris* VlrD4 (I – 44%) only in the organic phase. Furthermore, *Rhodopirellula* sp. FF4 (L (aq) – 26% and I (org) – 65%), *Rubinisphaera* sp. 1MW (H (aq) – 78% and I (org) – 46%), *Planctomyces maris* VLbF2 (H (aq) – 76% and I (org) – 64%) and *Blastopirellula marina* (H (aq) – 73% and L (org) –33%) showed activity both in aqueous and organic phases. *R. lusitana* seems to be highly bioactive in the organic extracts but not in the aqueous extracts (Fig. 2). The most cytotoxic strains belong to *Rhodopirellula* spp. (Fig. 2)

In this study, a broad range of phylogenetic different planctomycetes was selected covering diverse habitats and geographical origins (Table 1, Supplementary Fig. 1).

Effects of individual strains on cancer cell lines differed between different phylogenetic groups (ANOSIM, p < 0.005), with *Rhodopirellula* sp. and *R. lusitana*, in particular, showing higher toxicity toward MOLM-13 cells. However, no distinct patterns regarding habitat or geographical location (data not shown) were identified. In line with the ANOSIM analysis, PCA analysis also showed that the organic extracts from *Rhodopirellula* sp. and *R. lusitana* as well as *Rubrinisphaera* strains had stronger effects on MOLM-13 cells than aqueous extracts (Fig. 3). However, the opposite was the case for the extracts from *Blastopirellula*, *Gimesia*, *Pir 4* and *Rubinisphaera* strains (Fig. 3).

### Discussion

In this study, we have demonstrated the capacity of planctomycetes to induce apoptosis and decrease cell growth of two cancer cell lines; the acute myeloid leukaemia MOLM-13 and the human prostatic PC3. A considerable high number of planctomycetes were able to affect the MOLM-13 cells (32 strains) whereas a lower number affected PC3 cells (six strains).

Little is known about bioactive substances in planctomycetes, as compared to other microorganisms such as actinobacteria and, in particular, streptomycetes, myxobacteria, and cyanobacteria. However, planctomycetes have recently been recognized as important producers of bioactive compounds by both *in silico* genome mining analyses and molecular screenings. These analyses revealed the presence of genes related to various pathways for the production of several bioactive molecules, including some antitumor compounds like epothilone (Donadio *et al.*, 2007, Graça *et al.*, 2013, Wang *et al.*, 2014, Graça *et al.*, 2016, Ivanova *et al.*, 2017, Vollmers *et al.*, 2017). It is therefore very promising that several of our planctomycetes strains isolated from various ecosystems showed significant cytotoxic activity towards the MOLM-13 cells and the human prostatic PC3 cells.

The cultivation of planctomycetes is challenging as they are slow growing bacteria and therefore production of intermediate and high scale of biomass is not always straightforward. In this study we were able to establish growth conditions that allowed considerable biomass production. For strain L2 a prolonged growth period (15 days instead of 7 days) was included and results from this experiment seemed to favour the formation of bioactive molecules (Fig. 1). It should be emphasized that in both situations the cultures were in the same stationary growth phase. The only differences are the duration for the production of bioactive molecules or an increased stress by the aging of

the culture. Planctomycetal growth time is therefore an important parameter to be considered in future work.

Four strains induced high toxicity (> 70%) against NRK control cells. Interestingly, strain UC49 was highly toxic towards all cell lines in the organic extract, but produced no toxic substances in the aqueous extracts towards any of the cell lines. This demonstrates that the two obtained extracts, aqueous and organic, were different regarding the composition on planctomycetes metabolites, similar to what has been demonstrated for cyanobacteria (Liu *et al.*, 2014, Humisto *et al.*, 2015). Still seven strains showed activity in both extracts (>40%), which is likely to be caused by compounds with intermediate hydrophobicity present in both extracts.

The MOLM-13 cells were in general more sensitive towards the extracts compared to the prostate cancer cells (Fig. 1). We have previously observed that the activity towards the MOLM-13 cells in the aqueous extracts can be due to high levels of adenosine (Prestegard *et al.*, 2009, Liu *et al.*, 2014). Adenosine has been shown to induce apoptosis in MOLM-13 cells (Tanaka et al., 1994). However, in our study, we used non-heat inactivated foetal bovine serum, where adenosine deaminase is intact, and able to convert adenosine into the inactive metabolite inosine. Thus, the anti-AML activity seen in the aqueous extracts in our experimental assays could not be due to adenosine. The selectivity towards AML compared to NRK or PC3 could be due to the more rapid proliferation rate of MOLM-13 cells, and could point towards a mode of action related to DNA replication or the mitotic machinery.

The most promising results regarding the anticancer activity were obtained with the organic extracts from the *R. lusitana* strains (CcC6, L1 and UF6, Fig. 1). They showed activities towards both MOLM-13 cells and PC3 cells, but not towards the NRK cells. Interestingly the phylogenetic related *R. baltica* also produced extracts showing high toxicity towards the cancer cell lines but also against the NRK cells. This demonstrates the importance of a broad culture collection for bioprospecting purposes, since even highly related strains can give very different bioactivities.

Planctomycetes attached to algal surfaces seemed to be most active towards the cell lines tested as they produced the most potent anti-cancer compounds in this study. This could be explained by the high level of competition in macroalgal biofilms against eukaryotic cells such as microalgae, which trigger Planctomycetes production of secondary metabolites. These metabolites could selectively target cell signalling component

exclusively found in eukaryotes. If these targets are evolutionary conserved, they might even be present in mammalian cancer cells.

We did not find a strong correlation between biogeography and habitat of the most promising candidates, as L1 was isolated from a kelp surface from Kongsfjorden in the Arctic (Svalbard, Norway), whereas the CcC6 was isolated from the surface of *Chondrus crispus* of the Coast of Portugal. The cytotoxicity-producing planctomycetes were ubiquitously distributed and adapted to tolerate fluctuations in salinity, temperatures, light and nutrient regimes.

This work further confirms the potential of Planctomycetes as producers of important bioactivities by extending them to the production of anti-cancer compounds. Living in complex biodiverse environments, Planctomycetes are obliged to fight for their niche against many eukaryotic cells. To overcome their slow growth rate, they produce chemicals towards their competitors. This can explain why the Planctomycetes produce substantial bioactive substances that also might be targeting important processes in eukaryotic cells. As these molecules can be used for medical purposes, this study enlightens the importance of exploring molecules produced by planctomycetes for drug development. In the light of the evolutionary history, large genome size and diverse metabolic pathways, we foresee that several unique and important compounds may appear in these enigmatic bacteria.

#### Acknowledgment

This research was partially supported by the Strategic Funding UID/Multi/04423/2013 through national funds provided by FCT – Foundation for Science and Technology and European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), in the framework of the programme PT2020, the Structured Program of R&D&I INNOVMAR—Innovation and Sustainability in the Management and Exploitation of Marine Resources (reference NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000035, Research Line NOVELMAR), funded by the Northern Regional Operational Program (NORTE2020) through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), the ERA-netLAC project "Cave ice microbiom: metabolic diversity and activity in response to climate dynamics and anthropogenic pollution CAVICE (DCC-0178)" funded by the Norwegian Research Council (project number 256162) and the EU H2020-TWINN-2015, BLUEandGREN - Boosting scientific

excellence and innovation capacity in biorefineries based on marine resources (project number 692419).

# References

Amaral-Zettler L, Artigas Luis F, Baross J, *et al.* (2010) A Global Census of Marine Microbes. In: Alasdair D. McIntyre, editor. Life in the World's Oceans, Wiley. p. 221–245.

Boedeker C, Schüler M, Reintjes G, *et al.* (2017) Determining the bacterial cell biology of Planctomycetes. *Nature Communications* **8**: 14853.

Bray F & Kiemeney LA (2017) Epidemiology of Prostate Cancer in Europe: Patterns, Trends and Determinants. *Management of Prostate Cancer: A Multidisciplinary Approach*,(Bolla M & van Poppel H, eds.), p. 1-27. Springer International Publishing, Cham.

Bredholt H, Fjærvik E, Johnsen G & Zotchev SB (2008) Actinomycetes from Sediments in the Trondheim Fjord, Norway: Diversity and Biological Activity. *Marine Drugs* **6**: 12-24.

Donadio S, Monciardini P & Sosio M (2007) Polyketide synthases and nonribosomal peptide synthetases: the emerging view from bacterial genomics. *Natural Product Reports* **24**: 1073-1109.

Graça AP, Calisto R & Lage OM (2016) Planctomycetes as Novel Source of Bioactive Molecules. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **7**: 1241.

Graça AP, Bondoso J, Gaspar H, Xavier JR, Monteiro MC, de la Cruz M, Oves-Costales D, Vicente F & Lage OM (2013) Antimicrobial Activity of Heterotrophic Bacterial Communities from the Marine Sponge Erylus discophorus (Astrophorida, Geodiidae). *PLOS ONE* **8**: e78992.

Heron MaA, Robert N. (2016) Changes in the Leading Cause of Death: Recent Patterns in Heard disease and Cancer Mortality. *NCHS Data Breif* **254**: 1-8.

Humisto A, Herfindal L, Jokela J, Karkman A, Bjørnstad R, Roy Choudhury R & Sivonen K (2015) *Cyanobacteria as a Source for Novel Anti-Leukemic Compounds*.

Imhoff JF, Labes A & Wiese J (2011) Bio-mining the microbial treasures of the ocean: New natural products. *Biotechnology Advances* **29**: 468-482.

Ivanova AA, Naumoff DG, Miroshnikov KK, Liesack W & Dedysh SN (2017) Comparative Genomics of Four Isosphaeraceae Planctomycetes: A Common Pool of Plasmids and Glycoside Hydrolase Genes Shared by Paludisphaera borealis PX4(T), Isosphaera pallida IS1B(T), Singulisphaera acidiphila DSM 18658(T), and Strain SH-PL62. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **8**: 412.

Jeske O, Jogler M, Petersen J, Sikorski J & Jogler C (2013) From genome mining to phenotypic microarrays: Planctomycetes as source for novel bioactive molecules. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **104**: 551-567.

Jeske O, Surup F, Ketteniß M, Rast P, Förster B, Jogler M, Wink J & Jogler C (2016) Developing Techniques for the Utilization of Planctomycetes As Producers of Bioactive Molecules. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **7**: 1242.

Joseph B & Sujatha S (2010) Pharmacologically Important Natural products from Marine Sponges. *Journal of Natural Products*, **4**: 05-12

Kolde R (2015) Pretty Heatmaps.

Liu L, Herfindal L, Jokela J, Shishido TK, Wahlsten M, Døskeland SO & Sivonen K (2014) Cyanobacteria from Terrestrial and Marine Sources Contain Apoptogens Able to

Overcome Chemoresistance in Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells. *Marine Drugs* **12**: 2036-2053.

Matsuo Y, MacLeod Ra Fau - Uphoff CC, Uphoff Cc Fau - Drexler HG, *et al.* Two acute monocytic leukemia (AML-M5a) cell lines (MOLM-13 and MOLM-14) with interclonal phenotypic heterogeneity showing MLL-AF9 fusion resulting from an occult chromosome insertion, *Leukemia.* **11**: 1469-77.

O'Neill J (2016) Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: Final Report and Recommendations. The review on antimicrobial resistance. p. 1-84.

Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin P, O'Hara RB, Simpson G, Solymos P, Stevens MHH & Wagner H (2015) *vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.2-1* 

Prestegard SK, Oftedal L, Coyne RT, Nygaard G, Skjærven KH, Knutsen G, Døskeland SO & Herfindal L (2009) Marine Benthic Diatoms Contain Compounds Able to Induce Leukemia Cell Death and Modulate Blood Platelet Activity. *Marine Drugs* **7**: 605-623.

Quentmeier H, Reinhardt J, Zaborski M & Drexler HG (2003) FLT3 mutations in acute myeloid leukemia cell lines. *Leukemia* **17**: 120.

Siegel Rebecca L, Miller Kimberly D & Jemal A (2017) Cancer statistics, 2017. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* **67**: 7-30.

Vollmers J, Frentrup M, Rast P, Jogler C & Kaster A-K (2017) Untangling Genomes of Novel Planctomycetal and Verrucomicrobial Species from Monterey Bay Kelp Forest Metagenomes by Refined Binning. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **8**: 472. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00472

Wang H, Fewer DP, Holm L, Rouhiainen L & Sivonen K (2014) Atlas of nonribosomal peptide and polyketide biosynthetic pathways reveals common occurrence of nonmodular enzymes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **111**: 9259-9264.

Whitman WB, Coleman DC & Wiebe WJ (1998) Prokaryotes: The unseen majority. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **95**: 6578-6583.

WHO (2012) Non Communicable Diseases - Cancer - Data and Statistics. Vol. 2018 <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicable-diseases/cancer/data-and-</u>statistics.

Wickham H (2009) ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York.

# **Captions:**

Figure 1 - Heat-map showing the different degrees of toxicity that organic and aqueous extracts of planctomycetes induced in NRK, MOLM-13 and PC3 cell lines. Heat-map scale: 0-20% -no toxicity; 20-40% - low toxicity; 40-70% - intermediate toxicity; 70-100% high toxicity. White boxes – Not evaluated. Graph was created in R studio programme, using pheatmap package. Cluster analysis was based on Eucledian Distance

Figure 2 - Boxplots indicate the effects in % cell death on cancer cell lines (PC3 and MOLM-13) and controls (NRK) in aqueous (A) and organic phase (O) of strains affiliating with different subgroups of planctomyctetes. The band inside each box represents the median and the black points indicate values for individual strains.

Figure 3 - Principal Component Analyses (PCA) constructed from a distance matrix based on the effect of the individual strains on the different cell lines. The figures

illustrate the relationship between strains, their phylogenetic affiliation, their original environment and activity against the different cell lines in aqueous and organic phases. Axis 1 and 2 explains 50 % and 23 % respectively of the observed variance. Arrows indicates the correlation between strains and activity against cell lines.

Table 1 – Phylogeny, habitat and location of planctomycetes strains used in this study.

Supplementary Figure 1 - Phylogenetic 16S rRNA gene tree generated by maximumlikelihood analysis based in General Time Reversible model and Gamma distributed with Invariant sites (G+I) indicating the relationship of the planctomycetes strains tested in this work. Bar – 0.05 substitutions per 100 nucleotides. The planctomycete *Candidatus* Scalinda brodae was used as outgroup.

Supplementary Figure 2 - Examples of MOLM-13 cells stained with the DNA binding specific Hoechst dye. A - control cells and B – cells exposed to organic extracts of strain UC49.1. The apoptotic nuclei are bright, condensed or fragmented.

Supplementary Table 1 - Data based on the different degrees of toxicity used for the construction of the heat-map.

Strain	Phylogeny	Habitat	Location	Country	
MgM4h	Blastopirellula cremea	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga	
TBK2h	Blastopirellula marina	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga	
VLsL2h	Blastopirellula sp.	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga	
Vloj2h	Blastopirellula sp.	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga	
VLoJ4h	Blastopirellula sp.	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga	
FC18	Mariniblastus fucicola	Fucus spiralis	Carreço	Portugal	
K2D	Pir 4 group	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga	
P6.1	Pir 4 (Ice cluster)	Cave Ice	Svarthamarhola	Norway	
P6.2	Pir 4 (Ice cluster)	Cave Ice	Svarthamarhola	Norway	

Table 1 – Phylogeny, habitat and location of planctomycetes strains used in this study.

VlrD4	Planctomyces maris	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga
VL6F2	Planctomyces maris	Iron hydroxide deposits South Pacific		Fidji/Tonga
Plm2	Planctomyces maris	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga
9mWe	Planctomyces sp.	Meromictic lake	Aeromictic lake Fana	
UC49.1	Rhodopirellula baltica	Ulva sp.	Carreço	Portugal
SH1	Rhodopirellula baltica	Water column	Baltic Sea	Germany
UC21	Rhodopirellula baltica	Ulva sp.	Carreço	Portugal
L1	Rhodopirellula islandica	Saccharina nigripes	Kongsfjorden	Norway
СсСб	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Chondrus crispus	Carreço	Portugal
CcC8	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Chondrus crispus	Carreço	Portugal
Sm4	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Sargassum moticum	Porto	Portugal
UC13	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Ulva sp.	Carreço	Portugal
UC16	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Ulva sp.	Carreço	Portugal
UF6	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Ulva sp. Porto		Portugal
L2	Rhodopirellula lusitana	Saccharina nigripes	Kongsfjorden	Norway
UC9	Rhodopirellula rubra	Ulva sp.	Carreço	Portugal
7mR	Rhodopirellula sp.	Meromictic lake	Fana	Norway
FC9.2	Rhodopirellula sp.	Fucus spiralis	Carreço	Portugal
FF4	Rhodopirellula sp.	Fucus spiralis	Porto	Portugal
TBK1	<i>Rhodopirellula</i> sp.	Iron hydroxide South Pacific deposits		Norway
VLsL4lr	<i>Rhodopirellula</i> sp.	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fiji/Tonga
VLsK4lR	<i>Rhodopirellula</i> sp.	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga
VLpG4r	<i>Rhodopirellula</i> sp.	Iron hydroxide deposits	South Pacific	Fidji/Tonga
UC8	Roseimaritima ulvae	Ulva sp.	Carreço	Portugal

UF3	Roseimaritima ulvae	Ulva sp.	Porto	Portugal
UF4.1	Roseimaritima ulvae	Ulva sp.	Porto	Portugal
Gr7	Rubinisphaera brasiliensis	Gracilaria bursa- pastoris	Aveiro	Portugal
1mW	Rubinisphaera sp.	Meromictic lake	Fana	Norway
8mW	Rubinisphaera sp.	Meromictic lake	Fana	Norway
15mW	Rubinisphaera sp.	Meromictic lake	Fana	Norway

Supplementary Table 1 – Data based on the different degrees of toxicity used for the construction of the heat-map.

Phylogeny	Strain	NRK	PC3	MOLM-	NRK	PC3	MOLM-
		Organic	Organic	13	Aqueous	Aqueous	13
				Organic			Aqueous
Blastopirellula	MgM4h	9.15	5.66	39.76	0.00	4.71	0.00
cremea							
Blastopirellula	TBK2h	14.69	7.49	33.33	16.35	6.80	73.15
marina							
Blastopirellula	VLsL2h	2.52	11.11	53.46	37.61	8.01	69.12
sp.							
Blastopirellula	VLoj2h	3.34	7.23	40.93	6.51	11.88	44.07
sp.							
Blastopirellula	VLoj4h	5.98	9.21	38.70	3.22	5.08	54.63
sp.							
Mariniblastus	FC18	4.51	15.90	17.18	9.87	5.98	73.25
fucicola							
Pir 4	K2D	0.00	14.96	7.02	7.19	0.00	53.36
Pir 4	P6.1	3.70	7.32	56.15	10.02	12.66	64.21
Pir 4	P6.2	10.02	4.39	19.01	10.72	8.87	43.62
Planctomyces	VLrD4	7.37	0.00	43.52	5.65	4.21	3.87
maris							
Planctomyces	Plm2	7.03	2.06	2.01	44.11	5.25	78.97
maris							
Planctomyces	VLbF2	6.68	5.94	64.20	18.98	8.95	75.83
maris							
Planctomyces	9mWe	9.32	8.01	32.88	14.06	15.59	66.89
sp.							
Rhodopirellula	SH1	79.36	42.35	53.91	5.22	14.10	8.44
baltica							
Rhodopirellula	UC49.1	75.63	78.09	80.20	0.38	0.31	10.93
baltica							
Rhodopirellula	UC21	19.66	6.60	28.60	3.79	2.17	4.19
baltica							
Rhodopirellula	L1	4.56	87.03	59.18	13.84	2.95	1.06
islandica							
Rhodopirellula	CcC6	15.50	82.70	71.77	9.67	7.53	2.83
lusitana							
Rhodopirellula	CcC8	18.15	ND	66.86	0.84	9.71	1.02
lusitana							
Rhodopirellula	L2	ND	9.49	23.67	2.68	0.00	0.00
lusitana							
Rhodopirellula	L2(2)	15.32	16.06	70.44	5.02	ND	2.50
lusitana							
Rhodopirellula	Sm4	88.09	47.31	71.19	17.35	6.09	0.83
lusitana		45.01		01.07			0.00
Rhodopirellula	UC13	15.21	1.99	91.22	1.11	0.94	3.80
lusitana							

Rhodopirellula lusitana	UC16	35.07	60.78	96.52	1.92	0.03	0.02
Rhodopirellula lusitana	UF6	5.46	26.02	96.91	7.73	9.63	10.69
Rhodopirellula rubra	UC9	7.97	0.84	24.13	1.43	4.83	3.80
Rhodopirellula sp.	7mR	79.36	21.50	66.11	0.00	2.99	13.51
Rhodopirellula sp.	FC 9.2	1.53	3.68	8.74	1.98	0.00	3.55
Rhodopirellula sp.	FF4	9.60	9.08	65.05	11.31	2.71	26.06
Rhodopirellula sp.	TBK1	13.09	0.94	64.32	5.42	4.57	0.00
Rhodopirellula sp.	VLsL4lr	2.46	3.10	64.65	0.82	3.96	21.92
Rhodopirellula	VLsK4IR	5.45	3.53	48.09	0.00	5.25	12.75
Rhodopirellula	VLpG4r	7.38	4.39	43.17	14.06	6.28	50.33
Roseimaritima ulvae	UC8	8.45	13.48	58.76	0.00	ND	0.00
Roseimaritima ulvae	UF3	9.49	0.16	55.49	0.78	5.95	0.00
Roseimaritima ulvae	UF4.1	5.09	0.00	22.12	0.00	20.52	0.89
Rubinisphaera brasiliensis	Gr7	6.48	4.08	19.77	26.69	2.01	53.00
Rubinisphaera sp.	8mW	11.12	8.55	5.29	0.00	8.66	7.16
Rubinisphaera sp.	15mW	7.85	0.00	1.88	12.76	8.20	17.32
Rubinisphaera sp.	1mW	3.52	2.32	45.86	14.41	22.48	78.08



Figure 1 - Heat-map showing the different degrees of toxicity that organic and aqueous extracts of planctomycetes induced in NRK, MOLM-13 and PC3 cell lines. Heat-map scale: 0-20% -no toxicity; 20-40%- low toxicity; 40-70% - intermediate toxicity; 70-100% high toxicity. White boxes – Not evaluated. Graph was created in R studio programme, using pheatmap package. Cluster analysis was based on Eucledian Distance



Figure 2 - Boxplots indicate the effects in % cell death on cancer cell lines (PC3 and MOLM-13) and controls (NRK) in aqueous (A) and organic phase (O) of strains affiliating with different subgroups of planctomyctetes. The band inside each box represents the median and the black points indicate values for individual strains.



Figure 3 - Principal Component Analyses (PCA) constructed from a distance matrix based on the effect of the individual strains on the different cell lines. The figures illustrate the relationship between strains, their phylogenetic affiliation, their original environment and activity against the different cell lines in aqueous and organic phases. Axis 1 and 2 explains 50 % and 23 % respectively of the observed variance. Arrows indicates the correlation between strains and activity against cell lines.